STUDIES ON BIOCHEMICAL GENETICS OF THE GREY MULLET Mugil cephalus LINNAEUS

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN MARINE SCIENCE OF THE COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COCHIN - 682 022

> BY S. VIJAYAKUMAR





POST GRADUATE EDUCATION AND RESEARCH PROGRAMME IN MARICULTURE CENTRAL MARINE FISHERIES RESEARCH INSTITUTE POST BOX No. 2704, COCHIN - 682 031, INDIA

MAY 1992

DEDICATED TO MY PARENTS

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis entitled "STUDIES " ON BIOCHEMICAL GENETICS OF THE GREY MULLET Mugil cephalus LINNAEUS" has not previously formed the basis for the award of any degree, diploma, associateship, fellowship or other similar titles or recognition.

Cochin-682 031, May, 1992.

VIJAYAKUMAR S.

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "STUDIES ON BIOCHEMICAL GENETICS OF THE GREY MULLET <u>Mugil</u> <u>cephalus</u> LINNAEUS" is the bonafide record of the work caried out by Mr. S. VIJAYAKUMAR under my guidance and supervision and that no part thereof has been presented for the award of any other Degree.

Jed

Dr. M.K. George, M.Sc., Ph.D. SCIENTIST - SG CENTRAL MARINE FISHERIES RESEARCH INSTITUTE COCHIN - 31.

Cochin-682 031, May, 1992.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with great pleasure, I record my deep sense of gratitude to Dr. M.K. George, M.Sc., Ph.D.(UK), Scientist SG, Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute, Cochin-31 for suggesting the research problem, providing able guidance, constant help, continuous encouragement and constructive criticism throughout the investigation. I am very much indebted to Dr.P.S.B.R. James, Director, CMFRI, Cochin for providing me all facilities for the study.

It is my privilege and pleasure to express my immense thanks to Mr. C.T. Sukumaran, I.A.S., Chairman, Dr.M. Sakthivel, Director, Dr.G.Santhanakrishnan, Joint Director, Dr. P.U. Verghese, Secretary, The Marine Products Export Development Authority, Cochin-16 and Mr. R. Ganapathy, Residential Director, MPEDA, New York for their kind consideration in granting me leave to complete my research work. I am greatful to the members of my Admission and Assessment Committees Dr. A.G. Ponnaiah, Scientist, National Bureau of Fish Genetic Resources, Allahabad and Dr. Jose Stephan, Scientist, Central Institute of Fisheries Technology, Cochin-3, for their timely advice and constructive suggestions.

I express my profound thanks to Dr. M.M. Thomas, Principal Scientist, KVK, Narakkal, Cochin-505, Mr. S. Muthuswamy, Dr. K. Rengarajan, Mr.D.B.S. Sehara, Mr. M. Ayyappan Pillai and Mr. V. Mohan, CMFRI, Cochin-31 for their valuable help during my studies period. I am much indebted to Dr. F.M. Utter, Geneticist, Northwest and Alaska Fisheries Center, NMFR, Seattle, Washington, Dr. A.P. Kamalakara Rao, Principal, Pachaiyappa's College, Madras-30 and Dr.C.P. Rengaswamy, Scientist, Central Institute of Brackishwater Aquaculture, Madras for providing the literatures. My sincere thanks are due to CMFRI Library staff members for helping with the library facilities throughout my studies.

I greatfully acknowledge the permission from Dr.D.M. Thamby, Dean In-Charge, College of Fisheries, Panangad, Cochin-506, Mr. K.S. Purushan, Associate Professor, Dr. M.M. Jose, Associate Professor, KAU, Fisheries Station,

Puduveyppu, Cochin - 508, for collecting specimens from University ponds. I am also thankful to Mr. V.K. Sasi, Puduveyppu, Mr. Govindan, Vypin, Mr. Ponnachan, Kumbalangi and Mr. Ravi, Quilon for assisting in collecting from the Cochin region. I am very much greatful the specimens to Dr. P. Nammalwar, Scientist, CMFRI Mandapam Camp, Mr. G. Mohanraj, Scientist, CMFRI, Madras, Mr. Mani, Ennore, Mr. B. Pragasam, Tamil Nadu State Fisheries, Pulicat, Mr. Karuna, Pulicat who helped me in the collection of the specimens from Madras region. I sincerely thank Dr.L. Krishnan, Officer In-Charge and Mr. Udayanth Jally, Technical Assistant, CIBA, Puri for their help in collecting the specimens from Chilka Lake, Orissa.

I extend my sincere thanks to Dr. J. Arunakaran, Post Graduate Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Madras, Taramani, Madras-113, Mr. G. Annamalai, Andhra Bank, Madras and Mr. D. Prakash, State Trading Corporation, Madras who helped me in different ways during the specimens collection from Madras and Orissa regions.

I owe my sincere thanks to Dr.A. Noble, PGPM In-Charge for his encouragement during my studies. I would like to express my sincere thanks to all staff members of PGPM, especially, Mr. M.J. John, Mr.A. Nandakumar and A. Alagarswamy for extending their help to me in all the possible ways.

My special thanks are towards Mr. Padmanabhan, Retired Chief Naval Photographer and Mr. P. Raghavan, Photographer, CMFRI for taking excellant Photographs and prints. My sincere and special thanks are due to Mr.K.L.K. Kesavan, Senior Artist, CMFRI for helping me in preparing all the figures presented in the thesis.

I wish to acknowledge with thanks the assistance rendered from my seniors Dr. P. Philip Samuel, Dr. R. Deevapriyan, Dr. K. Palaniswamy and Dr. A. Gopalakrishnan during my research period. I express my sincere thanks to my colleagues Dr. Kuldeep Kumar Lal, Mr. Gulshad Mohammed and Dr. P. Laxmilatha for their keen interest and fruitful co-operation and completing this task. I express my strong feeling of gratitude to Dr. Paramanda Das, Mr. P. Venkitakrishnan, Mr. N.N. Mohandas, Mr. K. Diwakar, Miss. B. Shanth Begam, and Mr. K. Madu for their continuous help in my studies. I am very much thankful to Mr. V. Baskaran, Scientist, Central Food Technology Research Institute, Mysore, Mr. S. Kandan, Miss. S. Shanthi Thirumani and Mr. C.P.Balasubramanian for rendering their timely help.

I am very much greatful to Mrs. Mary Joseph, Mrs. Philomina Joseph, Mrs. Mary Augustine from Jain Enterprises and Mrs. Aisha Suresh, Mr.M.K.Sasi, Miss. V.B. Visalam and Mrs. Bhargavy Suresh, Coastal Impex for typing and xeroxing the manuscripts of the thesis.

Finally, I am much indebted to Indian Council of Agricultural Research for awarding me a Senior Research Fellowship, during the tenure of which I was able to complete the doctoral programme successfully.

CONTENTS

			Page
	PREFACE		i
	LIST OF FIGURES		ii
	LIST OF PHOTOGRAPHS		ix
	LIST OF TABLES		xiv
	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED		xvi
1	INTRODUCTION		1
2	REVIEW OF LITERATURE		5
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	4 4 	11
3.1	Materials		11
3.1.1	Population Samples		11
3.1.2	Sample Transportation		11
3.2	Methods		12
3.2.1	Sample Extraction		12
3.2.2	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)		12
3.2.3	Reagents for Disc Gel Electrophoresis		12
3.2.4	Procedure for General Protein Electrophoresis		14
3.2.5	Procedure for Enzyme Electrophoresis		15
3.2.6	Standardization of Experimental conditions		22
3.2.7	List of Enzymes/General Proteins Tested		22
3.2.8	Procedures for Analysis of Data		23
4	RESULTS		27
4.1	Standardization of Experiments		27

4.2	Species Specific Protein Patterns	28
4.3	Ontogenetic Variation	29
4.4	General Proteins	30
4.4.1	Eye lens Protein (PRO (E))	30
4.4.2	Muscle Protein (PRO (M))	33
4.5	Enzyme Systems	35
4.5.1	Acid Phosphatase (ACP)	35
4.5.2	Aldehyde Oxidase (ADO)	36
4.5.3	Aldolase (ALD)	37
4.5.4	Esterase (EST)	37
4.5.5	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPD)	38
4.5.6	Octanol Dehydrogenase (ODH)	39
4.5.7	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase (PDH)	39
4.5.8	Tetrazolium Oxidase (TZO)	40
4.5.9	Eye lens lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH(E))	40
4.5.10	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH(M))	40
4.6	Proteins/Enzymes Tested only from Cochin	41
4.7	Analysis of Data	41
4.7.1	Average Polymorphism	41
4.7.2	Average Number of Alleles	41
4.7.3	Heterozygosity	42
4.7.4	Genetic Identity (I) and Distance (D)	42
5	DISCUSSION	43
5.1	Species Specific Biochemical Genetic	
	Characteristics of <u>M.</u> <u>cephalus</u>	48

5.2	Ontogenetic Variation	51
5.3	General Proteins	53
5.3.1	Eye lens Protein (PRO(E))	53
5.3.2	Muscle Protein (PRO(M))	56
5.4	Enzymes	58
5.4.1	Acid Phosphatase (ACP)	58
5.4.2	Aldehyde Oxidase (ADO)	59
5.4.3	Aldolase (ALD)	60
5.4.4	Esterase (EST)	61
5.4.5	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPD)	63
5.4.6	Octanol Dehydrogenase (ODH)	65
5.4.7	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase (PDH)	65
5.4.8	Tetrazolium Oxidase (TZO)	66
5.4.9	General Aspects	67
5.5	Genetic Identity and Distance	76
6	CONCLUSIONS	82
7	RECOMMENDATIONS	83
8	SUMMARY	84
9	REFERENCES	87

PREFACE

The exploitation of fish resources has recently become a serious commercial venture throughout the world. All fish resources being of natural origin the reasons for fluctuations in their abundance can also be natural. However, a single factor that appears to have caused wide fluctuations in their catch statistics may be the effect of man's uncontrolled or unscientific exploitation of these fish resources contributed by species of commercial importance. The 1989 annual marine fish production of India reached about 2.2 million. The marine fish resources of India are mainly composed of pelagic and demersal types.

The fishes popularly known as mullets form about 0.41 percent of total production of marine fish landings and about 0.7 percent of pelagic fish production of India during 1989. Mullets are considered to be extremely important food fish throughout the world and which are cultivated or farmed in many countries including India. Though more than sixty species of mullets may exist, the largest and the most important species of commercial interest throughout the world is Mugil cephalus. Hence, the species has been subjected to very detailed biological investigation especially abroad. However, basic informations on the modern field of investigation, namely, the population genetics of M. cephalus are totally lacking, particularly in India. As a thorough knowledge of population genetics of M. cephalus of India is essential for its scientific exploitation at capture and culture levels, a doctoral research programme on the biochemical genetics of M. cephalus was undertaken. The important genetic informations found out for the first time are presented in the thesis. Considering the enormous potential genetic informations that may exist in the species, the findings made in the present investigation cannot However, the biochemical genetic data collected, interpreted be exhaustive. and critically evaluated are sufficient to generate an original conclusion on the biochemical genetic characteristics of three populations of M. cephalus tested in the present investigation. The important findings presented in the thesis will have definite academic and applied values.

1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	Map showing samples collection sites of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> populations of India.	11
2.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	27
3.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
4.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27
5.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
6.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	27
7.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
8.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27
9.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
10.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	27
11.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
12.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of <u>M</u> . cephalus in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27

Figure

13.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of	27
	<u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	
14.	Aldolase patterns in different tissue of <u>M. cephalus</u>	27
	in Sodium Citrate buller.	
15.	Aldolase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
16.	Aldolase patterns in different tissues of M. cephalus	27
	in Tris Maleic EDTA buffer.	21
17.	Aldolase patterns in different tissues of M. cephalus	27
	in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	
18.	Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of	27
	<u>M. cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	
19.	Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of	27
	<u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	
20.	Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of	27
	M. cephalus in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	
21.	Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of	27
	<u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	
22.	Esterase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u>	27
	in Borate buffer.	
23.	Esterase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u>	27
	in Tris Citrate buffer.	
24.	Esterase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u>	27
	in Tris Glycine buffer.	
25.	Esterase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u>	27
	in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	

Figure		Page
26.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Sodium Citrate buffer.	27
27.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
28.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Maleic EDTA buffer.	27
29.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns $_{\chi}$ in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
30.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns in differ- ent tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Sodium Citrate buffer.	27
31.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns in differ- ent tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
32.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns in differ- ent tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Maleic EDTA buffer.	27
33.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns in differ- ent tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
34.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Borate buffer.	27
35.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
36.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citric-Boric Lithium OH.	27
37.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27

iv

38.	Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of M. cephalus in Borate buffer.	27
39.	Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
40.	Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Glycine ^{$\frac{11}{4}$HCl buffer.}	27
41.	Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
42.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	27
43.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
44.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27
45.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
46.	Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Borate buffer.	27
47.	Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
48.	Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27
49.	Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
50.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Sodium Citrate buffer.	27

v

Figure		Page
51.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
52.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Maleic EDTA buffer.	27
53.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M</u> . cephalus in Tris Versen $\frac{\gamma}{\epsilon}$ Borate buffer.	27
54.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citrate buffer.	27
55.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Citric-Boric Lithium OH.	27
56.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Glycine HCl buffer.	27
57.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
58.A.	Liver Acid Phosphatase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus,</u> (2) <u>Liza parsia</u> and (3) <u>Valamugil cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Liver Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
C.	Liver Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Aldolase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
59.A.	Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Heart Esterase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius.</u>	28

vi

<i>'igure</i>		Page
с.	Eye lens Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus, (2) L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
60.A.	Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M.</u> cephalus, (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius.</u>	28
с.	Liver Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
61.A.	Eye lens Protein patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L</u> . <u>parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Muscle Protein patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
62.A.	Eye lens Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Liver Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
C.	Liver Tetrazolium Oxidase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
63.	Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
64.	Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29

vii

Fi

ligure		Page
65.	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
66.	Eye lens Protein patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
67.	Muscle Protein patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
68.	Zymogram patterns of Acid Phosphatase in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	35
69.	Zymogram patterns of Aldehyde Oxidase in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	36
70.	Zymogram patterns of Aldolase in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	36
71.	Zymogram patterns of Esterase in <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> .	37
72.	Zymogram patterns of Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydro- genase in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	37
73.	Zymogram patterns of Octanol Dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	39
74.	Zymogram patterns of Eye lens Protein in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	30
75.	Zymogram patterns of Muscle Protein in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	33
76.	Zymogram patterns of Pyrroline Dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus.</u>	40
77.	Zymogram patterns of Tetrazolium Oxidase in <u>M</u> . cephalus.	40

LIST OF PHOTOGRAPHS

Plate		Page
1.	Mugil cephalus, Liza parsia and Valamugil cunnesius.	11
2.	Three species of Mullets.	11
3.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
4.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
5.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
6.	Aldolase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Sodium Citrate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Maleic EDTA buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
7.	Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
8.	Esterase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27

Plate

9.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Sodium Citrate buffer, (B) Tris	27
	Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Maleic EDTA buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	
10.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns in different tissues of <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> in (A) Sodium Citrate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Maleic EDTA buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
11.	Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
12.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Borate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Glycine HCl buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
13.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in (A) Sodium Citrate buffer, (B) Tris Citrate buffer, (C) Tris Maleic EDTA buffer and (D) Tris Versene Borate buffer.	27
14.A.	Liver Acid Phosphatase patters in (1) <u>M. cephalus,</u> (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius.</u>	28
В.	Liver Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>Mugil</u> cephalus, (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
с.	Liver Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in (1) <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Aldolase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
15.A.	Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus,</u> (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28

Plate

Β.	Heart Esterase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
C.	Eye lens Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
16.A.	Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia and (3) V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
с.	Liver Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
D.	Liver Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
17.A.	Eye lens protein patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
В.	Muscle Protein patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
18.A.	Eye lens Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus, (2) L. parsia and (3) V. cunnesius.</u>	28
В.	Liver Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in (1) <u>M. cephalus</u> , (2) <u>L. parsia</u> and (3) <u>V. cunnesius</u> .	28
19.	Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus.</u>	29
20.A.	Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29

Plate		Page
В.	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
21.A.	Eye lens Protein patterns in different in size groups of \underline{M} . cephalus.	29
В.	Muscle Protein patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u> .	29
22.	Acid Phosphatase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	35
23.A.	Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	36
В.	Aldolase patterns in <u>M. cephalus.</u>	36
24.A.	Esterase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	37
В.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	37
25.A.	Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	40
В.	Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M</u> . cephalus.	40
26.	Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> .	39
27.	Eye lens Protein patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	30
28.	Muscle Protein patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.	33
29.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> .	40
30.A.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin.	41
В.	Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M</u> . <u>cephalus</u> from Cochin.	41

xii

Plate

Page

31.A.	Serum Protein patterns	in \underline{M} . cephalus from Cochin.	41
В.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase	patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> from	41
	Cochin.		

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Details of Gel Compositions.	16
2.	Electrophoresis Buffer Systems.	16
3.	Final Experimental Details for Screening Test.	23
4.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Acid Phos- phatase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
5.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Alcohol Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
6.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Aldehyde Oxidase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
7.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Aldolase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
8.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Alkaline Phosphatase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
9.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Esterase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
10.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Glutamate Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
11.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Glutamate- Oxaloacetate Transaminase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
12.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Alpha- Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
13.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Lactate Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
14.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Malate Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27

Table		Page
15.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Octanol Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
16 <i>.</i>	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Pyrroline Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
17.	Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of Sorbitol Dehydrogenase in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	27
18.	A Comparative Details of Electrophoretic Character- istics of Different Enzymes Proteins in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> (MC), <u>Liza parsia</u> (LP) and <u>Valamugil cunnesius</u> (VC).	28
19.	Ontogenetic variations in different size groups of <u>Mugil</u> <u>cephalus</u> L.	29
20.	Comparison of average Polymorphic Loci in <u>Mugil</u> <u>cephalus</u> L. populations.	41
21.	Allele Frequencies at 21 Loci (20 Loci for Orissa) in three populations of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	41
22.	Comparison of Average Number of Alleles at 21 Loci (20 Loci for Orissa) in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L. populations.	41
23.	Comparison of Observed and Expected (Hardy-Weinberg Law) Genotype Frequencies in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> Populations. Expected Values are given in Parenthesis.	41
24.	Heterozygosity at 21 Loci (20 for Orissa) in three Popu- lations of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.	41
25.	Excess of Homozygotes/Heterozygotes at significant level in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> Populations.	41
26.	Paired comparison of values of Genetic Identity (I) and Distance (D) between Cochin, Madras and Orissa Populations of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L. Distance values are given in Paranthesis.	41

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

Tissues:

=	Serum
=	Muscle
=	Eye lens
Ξ	Heart
Ξ	Liver
=	Intestine
=	Kidney

Buffer Systems:

BOR	=	Borate
TBO	=	Tris Borate
TCT	=	Tris Citrate
TCL	=	Tris Citric Borie Lithium OH
TGH	=	Tris Glycine HCl
TME	=	Tris Maleic EDTA
TVB	=	Tris Versene Borate
SCT	Ξ	Sodium Citrate

Enzymes/Proteins:

ACP	=	Acid Phosphatase
ADH	=	Alcohol Dehydrogenase
ADO	=	Aldehyde Oxidase
ALD	=	Aldolase
AKP	=	Alkaline Phosphatase
EST	=	Esterase
GDH	Ξ	Glutamate Dehydrogenase
GOT	=	$Glutamate-Oxaloacetate\ Transaminase$

xvii

GPD	=	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase
LDH (E)	=	Lactate Dehydrogenase (Eye lens)
LDH (M)	*	Lactate Dehydrogenase (Muscle)
MDH	Ξ	Malate Dehydrogenase
ODH	Ξ	Octanol Dehydrogenase
PDH	Ξ	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase
SDH	Ξ	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase
TZO	=	Tetrazolium Oxidase
PRO (E)	=	Protein (Eye lens)
PRO (M)	÷	Protein (Muscle)
PRO (S)	=	Protein (Serum)

Others:

СОН	Ξ	Cochin
MAD	=	Madras
ORI	=	Orissa
OBS	=	Observed
(Exp)	=	Expected
GRP	=	Group
FIG	=	Figure
TBL	=	Table
PLT	=	Plate
TOL	=	Total
D.D.W.	=	Double Distilled Water
(V/V)	=	Volume/Volume
(W/V)	=	Weight/Volume
В	=	Better
G	=	Good
P	=	Poor
(X)	=	Intensity
1X (223)	=	Light Intensity
2X 233	=	Medium Intensity
3X (1991)	÷	Dark Intensity
C 1927	=	Colourless

1. INTRODUCTION

Fish resources of all kinds of water systems are an important source of cheap proteins from time immemorial. Though world fisheries are potentially self renewable resources, their unscientific exploitation can cause the component species that contribute to the fishery to reach the undesirable state of threatened species. Genetically speaking, such a level of exploitation of fish species also lead to unreplaceable loss of germ plasam resources. Therefore, a thorough knowledge of natural units or otherwise called genetic stocks of the fisheries under exploitation is essential. An advanced knowledge of such units of fish resources should help to build up a fishery management strategy in terms of scientific exploitation and genetic conservation of each natural unit of a fishery resource. Naturally, the question arises, what can be the unit of fishery resources to be managed. Is it the species itself or any other sub-units which may naturally exist within the species ?. The above question is more pertinent in the light of recent scientific practice of aquaculture of many species of fishes and shellfishes which has reached a state of modern industry throughout the world (Bye and Ponniah, 1983).

The species concept in natural history emerged during classical periods of Linnaeus, Lamark and Darwin. Darwin's theory of species evolution aparantly helped to explain wide' spread biological diversity distinctly observable within and between species and at higher levels of species organization. However, the enigmatic problems of mechanism of evolution could not be explained by Darwin's theory of evolution though he believed the inheritance of acquired characteristics. Meanwhile, Mendel's Law explained the basic mechanism of inheritance of observable particular individual variations. Though Darwin was also aware of the concept of geographic races within a species and their evolution into new species, the mathematical explanations were latter evolved by the dynamic theories of geographic speciation by his successors like Wagner, Jorden, Densch and Mayr (Mangaly, 1974). These theories explained how natural selection of variations can lead to differentiation of populations into races or subspecies (Dobzhansky, 1967, 1970).

The knowledge of the existence of geographical races or subspecies have great application in anthropology and biology primarily for the purpose The conventional concept of subspecies, races etc. is of of classification. fundamental importance in fisheries research and management. Because it helped in the demarcation of natural units of fisheries management. Thus the necessity of identification of natural units of economically important fish resources like herring and cod was evidently demonstrated by Heincke and Schmidt as early as 1898 and 1909 respectively. The basic reasons for identification of natural units of fish resources were summarised by Muzinic and Marr (1960) as "The logical and practical reasons for identifying population units are that such units may have their own characteristics of recruitment, growth, natural mortality, migration behaviour etc. more or less independent of the characteristics of other population units within the same species. The need for studies of population units in a particular situation may arise from two sources: (a) their exist variations in yield and/or heterogeneities in the characteristics of the catch for which the most likely explanation (hypothesis) is the existence of population units (b) management decisions have been made empirically for which it is necessary or desirable to provide understanding and thus confidence in the original decisions".

On the basis of above reasons of necessity of identification of fishery units the following questions also naturally arise regarding a definition of such natural units of fisheries management and its geographical range including its spawning range etc. (Marr, 1957; Marr and Sprague, 1963). A traditional unit was defined as "a relatively homogeneous and self contained population whose losses by emigrations and succession by emigrations if any, are negligible in relation to the rates of growth and mortality rate (Anon, 1960). The above traditional definition of fisheries management unit in terms of relative homogeneity is without any precise limiting scientific parameters. In modern times, fishery biologists and fishery management people prefer to define unit of fisheries resources in terms of Mendelian populations. A Mendelian population can be defined as "a reproductive community of sexual and crossfertilized individuals among whom matings regularly occur and who, consequently have a common gene pool" (Dobzhansky, 1967).

Though the purpose of the former conventional unit stock definition and that of modern population genetics is same, there are fundamental differences between the methods of collection of data required for realizing the defined unit stock structure of fisheries management. The former depends mainly on phenotypic variations, the sources and controlling factors of which are unknown whereas the latter wholly depends on genotypic variations, the source and controlling factors of which are known in advance (Moller, 1971; Jamieson, 1974a). The modern methods of collection of data in the form of visible and countable genotypic variation involves technique of gel electrophoresis and specific protein staining. The technique well established by Smithies (1955) for detection of human serum protein genotype variations was later modified by Hunter and Markert (1957) to discover enzyme genotype These techniques, popularly known as biochemical genetic variations also. techniques, are widely applied to obtain basic data required in delineating genetic unit stocks of numerous economically important fish resources exploited all over the world. These basic data exist in the form of numerous proteins in different tissues of individual fish composing the species (Utter, 1987).

The grey mullet <u>Mugil cephalus</u> (L.) is the largest and economically the most important mullet species of the family Mugilidae. It is widely distributed in Eastern Indian Ocean and Western Central Pacific. It being a euryhaline species, it occurs along coastal waters migrating into estuaries and rivers. It is also cultivated in different ecological conditions. It has been subjected to detailed biological investigations including controlled breeding programme in different parts of the world (Oren, 1981).

<u>M. cephalus</u> of Indian waters is not only economically important fish but also an esteemed table fish in Kerala. It is being exploited heavily in both west and east coast of India. Though it was caught abundantly about two decades back in Chinese dipnets of Cochin, it has become scarce in the catches of these nets of Cochin in recent times. Though certain informations on its fishery and biology are known (Luther, 1967, 1973; Rangaswamy, 1972a, 1974, 1976, 1978; Jhingran, 1991) reports on the population characteristics, particularly, on the unit stock structure of M. cephalus from India are not available. Hence, it was planned to conduct an electrophoretic investigation of its different tissue proteins to reveal biochemical genetic characteristics of populations of Indian M. cephalus. The investigation was particularly planned to reveal the genetic stock structure of M. cephalus populations exploited from Cochin, Madras and Orissa regions. The present investigation of biochemical genetics of M. cephalus is also in line with the recommendations and world-wide programmes of United Nation Environment Programmes (UNEP), Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) and National Bureau of Fish Genetic Resources (ICAR) India, which are seriously concerned with the problems of conservation of genetic resources of animals and plants throughout the world (Jhingran, 1984; Das and Jhingran, 1989).

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The pioneering work of Pauling et al. (1949) on sickle-cell haemoglobin types revealed the potential application of electrophoretic technique in discovering and visualizing the heterogeneity of similar proteins (Wilson and Kaplan, 1964). The discovery of electrophoretic variations of human serum proteins by Smithies (1955) and that of enzymes by Hunter and Markert (1957) enabled several investigators in biology to visualize variability of different types of proteins at different levels of species organization, including that of fishes. Sick (1961) reported haemoglobin polymorphism in fishes. The report of high degree of protein variability between natural populations of Drosophila pseudoobscura by Lewontin and Hubby (1966) and that of human by Harris (1966) encouraged researchers in various fields of biology to discover biochemical genetic variations in populations of different species including Meanwhile, the theory, methods and application of different electrofishes. phoretic techniques were also made available in the works of Smith (1960/ 1968), Ornstein and Davis (1964), Bier (1967) and Brewer (1970) and as a result of which large number of reports on genetic variability of protein appeared in the literature.

de Ligny (1969) reviewed "Serological and Biochemical studies on fish The importance of informations on biochemical genetic data populations". of fish stocks was well emphasised during the ICES Special Meeting held at Dublin (de Ligny, 1971). A general review of literature shows that inter and intraspecies variations of proteins are reported under two popular headings, namely, (1) general proteins and (2) enzymes or alternatively, non enzymatic and enzymatic proteins respectively. Major general proteins investigated for inter and intraspecies genetic variations are eye lens protein and muscle protein or myogen (Tsuyuki et al., 1965a, 1965b; Tsuyuki and Roberts, 1966; Barrett and Williams, 1967; Cowie, 1968; Tsuyuki et al., 1968; Eckroat and Wright, 1969; Mackei and Jones, 1969; Peterson and Shehadeh, 1971; Manohar and Velankar, 1973; Herzberg and Pasteur, 1975; Menezes, 1976a, 1976b; Rao and Dhulkhed, 1976; Bhosle, 1977; Jamieson and Turner,

1980; Smith <u>et al.</u>, 1980; Winans, 1980; Bhattacharya and Alfred, 1982; Basiao and Taniguchi, 1984; Hines and Yashouv, 1970 Sbordoni <u>et al.</u>, 1986; Mahobia, 1987; Philip Samuel, 1987; Fevolden and Haug, 1988; Salini and Shaklee, 1988; Chakraborty, 1990).

However, major portion of literature available for reference on protein variations in fishes are concerned with enzymatic proteins (isoenzymes). Because the potential number of enzyme systems that may be searched for genetic variations can be simply guessed from the fact that a single citric acid cycle biochemical process involves catalytic participation of a number of enzymes. Hence, enzyme systems have become favourite proteins for biochemical genetic investigations. Practical laboratory techniques to easily detect thirty eight enzyme systems were published by Shaw and Koen (1968) and Brewer (1970). These enabled to discover and report large volume of informations on electrophoretic characteristics of these enzymes in both invertebrate and vertebrate organisms including fishes. Recently enzyme techniques particularly suitable for specific group of aquatic animals like prawns were also made available (Shaklee and Salini, 1983). Shaw (1965) reviewed reports of electrophoretic variation in enzymes and their application as a research tool and their biological significance in several invertebrates and vertebrate organisms. Lush (1966) reviewed enzymatic and non-enzymatic variations in vertebrates. Latner and Skillen (1968) produced a monograph on the application of isoenzymes in biology and medicine (Mangaly, 1974). de Ligny (1972) discussed blood groups and biochemical polymorphism in fishes. Wilkins (1972) reviewed biochemical genetics of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar).

Though Laboratory techniques for electrophoretic detection of thirty eight enzyme systems were given by Shaw and Koen (1968) and a rare report of electrophoretic analysis of thirty eight enzyme systems in the shark <u>Carcharinus tilstoni and C. sorrah by Lavery and Shaklee (1989) are available</u>, only, selected number of enzyme systems are investigated by majority of the authors. Krieg and Guyomard (1985) also analysed twenty three enzyme systems coded for fifty two loci in French brown trout Salmo trutta. However, majority of investigators analysed lesser number of enzyme systems for studying biochemical genetic variation of fish populations.

An overall review of literature on electrophoretic analysis of enzymes in fishes, prawns and molluscs for inter and intraspecies genetic characterization shows that they come under three groups, namely (1) Hydrolases and lyases, (2) Dehydrogenases and (3) Dehydrogenase-coupled enzymes. The first group enzymes consist of Acid Phosphatase (ACP), Aldolase (ALD). Alkaline Phosphatase (AKP), Esterase (EST) and Leucine Aminopeptidase The second consists of mainly Alcohol Dehydrogenase (ADH), (LAP) etc. Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPD), Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase (G-3-PD), Glucose-6-phosphate Dehydrogenase (G-6-PD), Isocitrate Dehydrogenase (IDH), Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH), Malate Dehydrogenase (MDH), Succinate Dehydrogenase (SCD) and Xanthine Dehydrogenase The third group consists of Adenylate Kinase (AK), Fumarase (XDH) etc. (FUM), Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase (GOT) or Aspartate amino transferase, Phosphoglucomutase (PGM) and Triose phosphate Isomerase (TPI) etc. (Smith, 1968).

The electrophoretic patterns of Acid phosphatase were studied in guppy (Shami and Beardmore, 1978), trout (Wishard et al., 1980), Cichlids (Kornfield and Koehn, 1975; Mahobia, 1987), sharks (Lavery and Shaklee, 1989), Ocean perch (Seeb and Gunderson, 1988), halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988), Crustaceans (Tracey et al., 1975b; Ayala and Valentine, 1977; Hedecock et al., 1977, 1979; Nelson and Hedgecock, 1980; Smith et al., 1980; De Matthaeis, et al., 1983; Sbordoni et al., 1986; Lavery and Staples, 1990). Alkaline phosphatase system was studied in mackerel (Smith and Jamieson, 1980), tilapia (Cruz et al., 1982), halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988) and Crustaceans (Takeo, 1970; Trudeau, 1978; Mulley and Latter, 1980; De Matthaeis et al., 1983; Sbordoni et al., 1986). Aldolase system was reported in fishes like yellow tail, flat fish, swell fish, sea bream and carp (Takeo, 1970), brown trout (Allendorf et al., 1976; Krieg and Guyomard, 1985), lake trout (Dehring et al., 1981) and Crustaceans (Selander et al., 1970; Nelson
and Hedgecock, 1980; Redfield et al., 1980; Hedgecock et al., 1982; De Matthaeis et al., 1983; Lester, 1983; Philip Samuel, 1987). In the first group of enzymes, Esterase enzyme system has been investigated in larger number of fishes like cat fish (Koehn and Rasmussen, 1967; Koehn, 1970), Pacific hake (Utter et al., 1970), zoarces (Christiansen and Frydenberg, 1974), American eel (Williams et al., 1973), sun fish (Avize and Smith, 1974), Cichlids (Kornfield and Koehn, 1975; Mahobia, 1987), European hake (Mangaly, 1974, 1978), guppy (Shami and Beardmore, 1978), New Zealand snapper (Smith et al., 1978; Smith, 1979), Atlantic mackerel (Smith and Jamieson, 1980; Smith et al., 1981a), milk fish (Winans, 1980), sprat (Smith and Robertson, 1981), New Zealand hoki (Smith et al., 1981b), tilapia (Cruz et al., 1982; McAndrew and Majumder, 1983; Basiao and Taniguchi, 1984), Australian barramundi (Shaklee and Salini, 1983; Salini and Shaklee, 1988), Pacific herring, Atlantic herring (Grant, 1984; Grant and Utter, 1984), perch (Gyllensten et al., 1985), Pacific cod (Grant et al., 1987), Northern pike (Seeb et al., 1987), brown trout (Krieg and Guyomard, 1985), shark (Lavery and Shaklee, 1989) and in Crustaceans (Johnson et al., 1974; Lester, 1979, Kannupandi, 1980; Mulley and Latter, 1980; De Matthaeis et al., 1983; Philip Samuel, 1987).

A review of recent literature on biochemical genetic investigation reveals that group II enzymes composed of different Dehydrogenases are being reported more than that of other two enzyme groups. The following literature reviewed below contains a majority of Dehydrogenases of group two enzymes and Dehydrogenases coupled group III enzymes. These enzymes were examined by the investigators mainly for the purpose of estimating allelic frequencies in different populations of the concerned species. Salmon and trout appeared to have been favourite fish species for examining allelic frequencies of the above mentioned two enzyme groups. As a result of thorough investigation on species of salmon a large volume of literature on their enzyme systems is available now (Aspinwall, 1973; Allendorf <u>et al.</u>, 1976; Grant <u>et al.</u>, 1980; Wishard <u>et al.</u>, 1980; Dehring <u>et al.</u>, 1981; Guyomard, 1981; Stoneking, 1981; Utter, 1981; Carl and Healy, 1984; Guyomard <u>et al.</u>, 1984; Kreig and Guyomard, 1985; Thompson, 1985; Koljonen, 1986; Campton and Utter, 1987; Gharrett <u>et al.</u>, 1987; Marnell et al., 1987; Quinn et al., 1987; Skaala and Jorstad, 1987; Wehrhahn and Powell, 1987; Berg and Gall, 1988; Verspoor 1988; Crozier and Moffett, 1990; Currens et al., 1990; Macaranas and Fujio, 1990; Hershberger, The other fishes investigated for these enzyme groups are American 1992). eel (Williams et al., 1973; Koehn and Williams, 1978), Cichlids (Scholl and Holzberg, 1972; Basasibwaki, 1975; Mahobia, 1987), atherinid (Johnson, 1975), mullets (Reddy et al., 1975; Rao, 1981; Rosenblatt and Waples, 1986; Campton and Mahmoudi, 1991), bait fish (Daly and Richardson, 1980), white fish (Imhof et al., 1980), New Zealand hoki (Smith et al., 1981b), tilapia (Cruz et al., 1982; Macaranas and Fujio, 1990), Jackass (Richardson, 1982a), sun fish (Avise and Smith, 1974; Avise et al., 1977) tilapia (Basiao and Taniguchi, 1984), herring (Grant, 1984a, 1984b, 1986), perch (Gyllensten et al., 1985; Seeb and Gunderson, 1988), perciforms tetradontiforms (Rosenblatt and Waples, 1986), cod (Grand et al., 1987), blenny (Presant, 1987), pike (Seeb et al., 1987), Atlantic halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988), shark (MacDonald, 1988; Lavery and Shaklee, 1989), baramundi (Salini and Shaklee, 1988), mosquitofish (Hernandez-Martich and Smith, 1990) and carps (Macaranas and Fujio, 1990; Sumantadinata and Taniguchi, 1990). These enzymes were also found in prawns (Mulley and Latter, 1980, 1981; Richardson, 1982b; Sbordoni, et al., 1986; Philip Samuel, 1987 Lavery and Staples, 1990) lobsters (Tracey et al., 1975b; Hedgecock et al., 1977), molluscs (Singh and Zouros, 1975a; Tracey et al., 1975a; Singh and Green, 1984).

The mode of inheritence and electrophoretic expression of some of these enzymes described above have been demonstrated by Shami and Beardmore (1978) in the fish guppy <u>Poecilia reticulata</u>. Recently literature on the interpretation of electrophoretic data from fisheries management point of view is also available (Allendorf <u>et al.</u>, 1987; Allendorf and Ryman, 1987; Grant, 1987; Stahl, 1987; Utter <u>et al.</u>, 1987). Many reports on fundamental and applied aspects of biochemical genetics mainly with reference to electrophoretic data on protein variations in fish populations and their significance in fisheries and aquaculture research and management programmes were published in special issue of Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, Vol.38, No.12, December 1981. Besides, several text books dealing with principles of General Genetics (Dobzhansky, 1967, 1970), Modern Genetics (Franswroth, 1978; Ayala and Kiger, 1980) and special publications like Application of Genetics in Aquaculture by Bye and Ponniah (1983) are also available for reference. Very recently, an awareness on the importance of fish genetic resources and its conservation and management in India, applying modern principles of genetic stocks concept, was generated in the publications of Jhingran (1984), Das and Jhingran (1989), and Das <u>et al.</u> (1989).

The published reports on biochemical genetics of Indian fishes are only a few of preliminary in nature. These reports are mainly attempts to find out interspecies or species specific protein differences in fishes like flat fish (Kasinathan <u>et al.</u>, 1972) in marine fishes (Manohar and Velankar, 1973) in goboids (Natarajan <u>et al.</u>, 1975) myogen patterns in Bombay duck (Kurian, 1977) proteins variations in oil sardine populations (Rao and Dhulked, 1976) in mackerel (Dhulked and Rao, 1976) in <u>M. cephalus</u> (Bhosle, 1977) protein and enzyme variations in mullets (Rao, 1981) in prawns (Thomas, 1981) in oyster (Ponniah, 1988) and genetic variations of enzymes in mackerel (Menezes, 1986; Menezes <u>et al.</u>, 1990). Some important doctoral theses submitted on biochemical genetics of fishes and prawns are also available (Reddy, 1977; Rao, 1981; Mahobia, 1987; Philip Samuel, 1987).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 MATERIALS

3.1.1 POPULATION SAMPLES

The population samples of M. cephalus were collected from three distant regions, Cochin (West Coast), Madras and Orissa (East Coast) (FIG.1; PLT.1,2). Due to scarcity of sample specimens, Cochin population sample originated from three different locations namely, Kumbalangi, Puduvyppu, and Vypin. The Madras population sample was collected mainly from Pulicate Lake, the rest from Ennore and Muttukkadu. The Orissa population sample was collected exclusively from Chilka Lake. For the purpose of differentiation of M. cephalus species from that of locally available common species of mullets, specimens of Liza parsia and Valamugil cunnesius were collected from Cochin (PLT.1,2). For detection of ontogenic variations specimens of M. cephalus belonging to a size range of 2.6 to 32.5 cms were also collected. From each specimen, nearly seven tissues, namely, Serum (S), Muscle (M), Eye lens (E), Heart (H), Liver (L), Intestine (I) and Kidney (K) were taken for studies. Heart, Liver and Kidney were washed thoroughly with ice-cold Double Distilled Water (D.D.W.) and dried those tissues with blotting paper so as to render them free from any blood tinge. Intestine was washed thoroughly to make sure that it was free from the intestinal contents. Sometimes whole specimens were also collected.

3.1.2 SAMPLE TRANSPORTATION

Fish sample from Cochin region was brought to the laboratory in iced condition. Samples from Madras and Orissa were brought to the laboratory in the form of tissues packed in the aluminium foil and put into the plastic vials. At the collection centre these vials were stored in an ice box containing ice. The ice box was immediately taken to the local nearest deep freezer facilities and the whole ice box with some added quantity of water was kept open in the deep freezer until a block of ice was formed within the ice box. Then the ice box containing the sample was immediately





.

PLATE 1



Mugil cephalus



Liza parsia



Valamugil cunnesius

PLATE 2

THREE MULLET SPECIES FROM COCHIN



M. cephalus
 L. parsia
 V. cunnesius

transported to Cochin laboratory where the samples were immediately stored in the deep freezer until used for the experiment.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 SAMPLE EXTRACTION

All proteins/enzymes extraction were done in D.D.W. The tissues were homogenised with Remi Mechanical Homogeniser and centrifuged in Sorvall Refrigerated Superspeed Centrifuge. The supernatants obtained were used for electrophoretic analysis.

3.2.2. POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS (PAGE)

The principle of electrophoresis is that charged ions or group will migrate towards one of the electrodes when placed in an electric field. The rate of electrophoretic migration will mainly depend on net charge differences, pH, though the shape and size of the molecules also influence the rate. So the rate of migration varies for different ions and this difference is used to separate the components of a protein mixture. The mixture of substance to be separated is placed as a narrow zone at a suitable distance from a particular electrode. As migration occurs, different protein components move at different rates towards the electrode of opposite charge. As most proteins are negatively charged, the protein mixture samples are applied at cathode region which then migrate towards the opposite positively charged anode This electrophoretic technique has been widely used in the separation region. of proteins, nucleic acids etc. The method followed here is that of Dietz et al. (1972).

3.2.3 REAGENTS FOR DISC GEL ELECTROPHORESIS

The following reagents were prepared as follows: The reagents were stored in refrigerator at 4°C until used.

Gel Buffer (Tris HCl, pH 8.9):

Tris Buffer (Tri-hydrozy methyl aminomethane) = 36.6 gm

12

1 N HCl	Ξ	48.0 ml
TEMED (N, N, N', N' - Tetramethyl		
ethyline diamine)	=	0.26 ml

All the reagents were dissolved in Double Distilled Water (D.D.W.) and made upto 100 ml. The pH of the solution was checked with Toshniwal battery operated pH meter. The pH was adjusted by adding the concentrated HCl as required. The solution was filtered with Whatman paper and kept in an amber coloured bottle.

Electrode Buffer (Tris Glycine, pH 8.3):

Tris Buffer (0.05 M)	=	6 gm
Glycine (0.38 M)	=	28.8 gm

All the reagents were dissolved in D.D.W. (W/V), made upto one litre. Before use one part of this stock solution was diluted with nine (9) parts of water (V/V). So that the required molarity was obtained and the solution was used as electrode buffer (tank buffer).

Acrylamide (30%) and Bisacrylamide (0.8%):

30 gm of acrylamide (Monomer) and 0.8 gm of methylene-bis-acrylamide (dimer) were dissolved in 100 ml of D.D.W. and filtered (W/V). The solution was stored in an amber coloured bottle.

Ammonium per sulphate (0.0061 M):

140 mg of ammonium persulphate was dissolved in 100 ml of D.D. distilled water (W/V).

40% Sucrose:

40 gm of sucrose was dissolved in 100 ml of D.D.W. and filtered.

Trace Solution:

100 gm of bromophenol blue was dissolved in 100 ml of D.D.W. and filtered.

3.2.4 PROCEDURE FOR GENERAL PROTEIN ELECTROPHORESIS

Preparation of 7.5% Gel:

The stock solutions, like, Gel Buffer, Acrylamide/Bisacrylamide and Ammonium persulphate were brought under room temperature before preparation of the Gel. To obtain 7.5% gel, 3.5 ml of Gel Buffer, 7 ml of Acrylamide/ Bisacrylamide, 3.5 ml of D.D.W. and 14 ml of Ammonium per sulphate were Care was taken to avoid trapping air which otherwise thoroughly mixed. slowly rise as bubbles in the gel solution. Glass gel tubes of 100 mm length and 6 mm inner diameter were carefully inserted into the rubber grommet. The mixed solution was carefully added with help of a glass van syringe to Immediately water was layered carefully above the a height of 80 mm. gel top by a plastic syringe without disturbing the gel bed to a height of about 2-3 mm. The water layer over the gel solution helps to obtain a gel The gel is formed in about 20-30 minutes at with a flat surface. room After polymerisation the water was decanted from the gel temperature. top.

Sample Application and Electrophoresis:

A sample volume of 100 ul was applied by means of Finn-Micropipette The sucrose solution containing 40 ul was also added along over the gel. with sample to ensure a uniform flow of current as well as for holding the sample without diffusion into the tank buffer. It also helps in faster migration of the sample into the gel. The gel tubes with the samples were then inserted into the silicon rubber grommets of the upper buffer tank reservoir in such a way that the upper end of tubes holding the sample were just above the lower surface of the upper tank. the upper and lower buffer tanks were filled with the electrophoretic tank buffer. A few drops of bromophenol blue solution (fast moving dye) was added to the upper buffer tank solution to follow the migration level of the sample in the gel tube. The upper tank was fixed to the lower tank of the electrophoretic apparatus and the apparatus was connected to the power pack.

The power pack was switched on for 30 minutes before the apparatus was connected to it. So that the power pack got warmed and stabilized to help the current flow uniformly. The current was regulated to have an uniform flow of 12 milli Ampere (mA) for 10 minutes, then adjusted to 36 mA for twelve gel tubes. The power was switched off when the marker dye had migrated to about 5 mm from the lower end of the gel. The electrophoretic run was carried out at 4°C in a refrigerator. The electrophoresis usually took about $1\frac{1}{2}$ hours. The gel tubes were removed from the grommets. Then the total length of the gel and distance travelled by the marker dye The gels were then removed from the gel tubes by forcing were measured. a jet of water between the gel and the inner wall of the gel tubes using a syringe without damaging the gels.

Staining Procedure for Protein:

- 1. The protein present in the gels were fixed by placing the gels in 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) solution for 10 minutes.
- 2. The gels were then stained in amidoblack (0.1% in 7% acetic and filtered before use) for 10 minutes.
- 3. Destaining was carried out by soaking the gels in 7% acetic acid until stains thoroughly washed off from the gel.

3.2.5 PROCEDURE FOR ENZYME ELECTROPHORESIS

Procedure for preparation of the gel for enzyme experiments was **almost similar** to that described above for protein.

Acrylamide Stock Solution (40%):

40 gm of acrylamide was dissolved in 100 ml of D.D.W. and filtered. The solution was kept at 4° C in an amber coloured bottle (W/V).

Bis Acrylamide (2.1%):

2.1 gm of bis acrylamide was dissolved in 100 ml of D.D.W. and filtered (W/V).

Buffer Systems:

A variety of buffer systems given in literature were tried for finding out suitable buffers that gave better electrophoretic separation and resolution of proteins/enzymes tested here. The details of the buffer systems tried in the present experiments are given in Table 2.

Gel Composition:

Based on the Table 1 different types of gel were prepared using different gel compositions. These differences helped to produce different pore sized gels. For enzyme separation the gel tubes were smaller in size than that of protein. Smaller gels helped to reduce the consumption of expensive staining solution.

Staining Procedure for Enzyme:

After the electrophoresis the gels were incubated in a staining solution specific for a particular enzyme. The staining solution containing substrate for each enzyme, co-factor NAD, electron acceptor PMS, electron indicator NBT and one buffer to maintain pH were added. Staining solutions required for detection of specific enzymes were prepared as shown below:

1.	Acid Phosphatase: (Shaw and Prasad, 19	70):	
	Stain Buffer	=	100
	Sodium alpha napthyl acid phosphate	=	100

The gel immersed in the above solution was incubated at 37°C until Red bands appeared.

ml mg

100 mg

=

Stain buffer:

Fast Garnet GBC salt

Na acetate 3 H_2O = 6.8 gm 1 N HCl = 14.8 ml Made up to 1 litre in D.D.W. and adjusted the pH to 5.0 with 1 N HCl.

TABLE I		Detail	s of Gel Compositic	SU	
Acrylamide 40 gm / 100 ml.	Bisacrylamide 2.1gm / 100 ml.	D.D.W.	Gel Buffer	Ammonium Persulphate 140 mg / 100 ml.	Total Volume
5.0 ml	5 m]	;	5 ml	5 ml	
5.0 ml	4 ml	1.0 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
5.0 ml	3 ml	2.0 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
5.0 m]	2 ml	3.0 ml	5 ml	5 m]	
4.5 ml	5 ml	0.5 ml	5 ml	5 m]	
4.5 ml	4 ml	1.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
4.5 ml	3 ml	2.5 ml	5 m]	5 ml	
4.5 ml	2 ml	3.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
					20 ml
3.5 ml	5 ml	1.5 ml	5 m]	5 ml	
3.5 ml	4 ml	2.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
3.5 ml	3 ml	3.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
3.5 ml	2 ml	4.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
2.5 ml	5 m]	2.5 m]	5 m] 5 m]	5 ml	
2.5 ml	3 ml	4.5 ml	5 ml	5 ml	
2.5 mJ	2 ml	5.5 m]	5 ml	5 m]	

TABLE 1

No. Burners Borate (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (CHO) (THO) (THO) (THO) (THO) (THO) (THO) (THO) (TCT) (T		lectrode	9		Gel			Nature of Buffer	Dofononoo
1 Borate (0.341M) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (BOR) (C346M) Tris (C140) (T10) (T10) (T11) (T155M) (T11) (T155M) (T11) (T11)	Component	s (per	liter)	Hd	Components (liter)	pcr	Hq	Systems	Kelerence
II Tris Borate (1180) (Boric acid (0.341M) NaOH	= 21. = 5.	.10 gm .32 gm	9.0	Boric acid Na OH	= 2.11gm = 0.60gm	0.6	Continuous	Shaw and Prasad (1970)
III Tris Citrate (0.155M Tris (7CT)	Tris (0.0546M) Boric acid (0.2454M)	н 6. 15.	.61 gm .17 gm	7.5	Tris Boric acid	= 0.12gm = 1.79gm	7.5	Continuous	Shaw and Presad (1970)
 IV Tris Citrie- Borie Lithium OII (TCL) V Tris Glycine HCI (TGH) VI Tris Maleie El 0.1M Maleie 0.1M Maleie VI Tris Maleie UM Tris Versene 	'Tris Citric acid acid	≡ 16. 9.	.35 gm .04 gm	7.1	Dilute 6.67 m electrode buff to 1 liter	il of er	7.1	Continuous	Shaw and Prasad (1970)
V Tris Glycine HC1 (TGH) VI Tris Maleic El 0.1M Maleic 0.1M Maleic 0.01M EUTA (TME) VII Tris Versene	Li OH Borie acid	= 2. = 18.	.51 gm .54 gm	8.26	Tris Citrie neid Blectrode Buffer	= 3.63gm = 1.05gm = 10 ml	8.31	Discontinuous	Ferguson and Wallace (1961)
VI Tris Maleie El (0.1M Tris 0.1M Maleie 0.01M EDTA (TME) VII Tris Versene	Tris Gilycine	= 6. = 28.	00 gm 80 gm	8.3	Tris TEMED IN HCI	= 36.60gm = 0.26ml = 48 ml	8.9	Discontinuous	Davis (1964)
VII Tris Versene	ra Tris Maleic Na ₂ EDTA.211, Mg ² C1 ₂ ,6H ₂ O	$\begin{bmatrix} 12.\\ 11.\\ 2\\ 2\end{bmatrix}$.10 gm 60 gm 72 gm 03 gm	7.6	Dilute electro Buffer 1:10 ti with H ₂ O	de mes	7.6	Continuous	Shaw and Prasad (1970)
Bornte (o. 5M (TVB)	Tris Boric acid Na2EDTA.2H	= 60. = 40. 2 ⁰ = 6.	.60 gm 00 gm .00 gm	8.0	Tris Boric acid Na ₂ EDTA	= 6.06gm = 6.00gm = 0.60gm	8.0	Continuous	Shaw and Prasad (1970)
vIII Sodium Citrati (SCT)	Sodium Citrate pH is adjus- ted with 0.41M Citric acid	= 120).58 gm	7.0	Histidine pH is acjus- ted with 2N Na OH	n. 78 gm	0.7	Discontinuous	Brewer (1970)

2. Alcohol Dehydrogenase: (Siciliano and Shaw, 1976):

NAD	=	25	mg
MTT	=	15	mg
95% Ethanol	=	2	ml
Tris HCl (0.2 M) pH 8.5	Ξ	7	ml
H ₂ O	=	41	ml

The gel was kept in the stain thus prepared and it was incubated at 37°C in dark. When dark blue bands appeared gel was rinsed in D.D. Water and fixed in 50 ml of Alcohol Gel wash. Alcohol wash was prepared as follows:

Alcohol Gel Wash:		
Ethanol	=	1000 ml
Acetic acid	=	400 ml
Glycerine	=	200 ml
н ₂ о	=	800 ml

Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.5:

24.2 gm Tris Buffer + 900 ml of H_2O made up to 1 litre in H_2O adjusted the pH to 8.5 with concentrated HCl.

3. Aldehyde Oxidase: (Redfield and Salini, 1980):

NAD	=	20	mg
MTT	=	10	mg
Benzaldehyde	=	1	ml
Tris HCl Buffer pH 8.5	=	50	ml
H ₂ O	=	50	ml
PMS	=	2	mg

Dark blue bands appeared when the gel was placed in the above stain solution.

4. Aldolase: (Siciliano and Shaw, 1976):

Fructose 1-6 diphosphate			
(Tetrasodium salt)	=	275 mg	
NAD	=	25 mg	5
NBT	=	15 mg	5
Sodium arsenate	=	75 mg	5
Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.0	=	10 ml	
H ₂ O	=	40 ml	
PMS	=	1 mg	r S
Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate			
Dehydrogenase	=	100 un:	its

When the gel was kept in the above staining solution at 37° C, dark blue band appeared.

Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.0:

Dissolved 24.2 gm of Tris in 1000 ml of D.D. Water then adjusted the pH to 8.0 with concentrated HCl.

5. Alkaline Phosphatase: (Shaw and Prasad, 1970):

Beta-Napthyl sodium phosphate	=	50 mg
Fast Garnet GBC salt	=	50 mg
Mg SO ₄ 7 H ₂ O	=	123 mg
Tris HCl Buffer pH 8.5	=	100 ml

The gel in the staining solution was incubated at 37°C until red band appeared.

6. Esterase: (Redfield and Salini, 1980):

Fast Garnet GBC salt	=	100 mg
Alpha-Napthyl acetate solution	=	1.5 ml
Tris HCl Buffer pH 7.5	=	50 ml
н ₂ о	=	50 ml

Esterase activity was indicated by dark violet blue bands after incubating the gel in the stain at 37° C.

Napthyl acetate solution:

1 gm of Alpha-Napthyl acetate was dissolved in 50 ml of acetone, then 50 ml of $\rm H_2O$ added.

7. Glutamate Dehydrogenase: (Shaw and Prasad, 1970):

NAD	=	60	mg
NBT	=	30	mg
Phosphate Buffer (0.1 M) pH 7.0	=	25	ml
Na Glutamate	=	5	ml
H ₂ O	=	70	ml

Incubated the gel at 37°C in the dark, until dark blue bands appeared.

Phosphate Buffer (0.1 M) pH 7.0:

Pottasium	phosphate		=	17.42	gm
(K ₂ HPO ₄)					
Pottasium	dihydrogen	orthophosphate			
(KH ₂ PO ₄)			=	13.61	gm
H ₂ O			=	1000	ml

Na Glutamate:

Dissolved 16.9 gm of L-Glutamic acid in 250 ml of 0.1 M phosphate Buffer.

8. Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase: (Shaw and Prasad, 1970):

=	532 mg
=	73 mg
<u>~</u>	50 mg
=	200 mg
Ξ	100 ml
	= = = = =

Incubated at 37°C until bands appeared. Fixed the gel in glycerine (Bands diffuse in the usual fixing solution).

9.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate	Dehydrogenase:	(Siciliand	and and	Shaw,	1976):
	Sodium Alpha-Glyceropho	osphate	=	75 mg		
	NAD		=	25 mg		
	NBT		=	15 mg		
	Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M)	рН 8.0	=	1 0 ml		
	н ₂ о		=	40 ml		

Gels treated with above solution at 37° C produced dark blue bands of enzyme activity.

10. Lactate Dehydrogenase: (Davis, 1964):

NAD		7.2 ml
Lithium lactate	=	12.0 ml
NBT	=	24.0 ml
H ₂ O	=	28.8 ml
PMS	~	2 mg

Incubated the gel at 37°C in the dark, until blue bands appeared. Washed in 7% acetic acid and fix in D.D. Water.

LDH Staining Buffer:

Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.5:

Dissolved 24.2 gm of Tris in 1000 ml of D.D. Water, then adjusted the pH to 8.5 with concentrated HCl.

Stock solution used for staining:

NAD: (10 mg/ml):

100 mg of NAD dissolved in 10 ml of staining buffer.

Lithium Lactate: (30 mg/ml):

750 mg of Lithium lacate dissolved in 25 ml of staining buffer.

NBT (0.9 mg/ml):

45 mg of NBT dissolved in 50 ml of staining buffer.

11. Malate Dehydrogenase: (Siciliano and Shaw, 1976):

Malic acid	±	750 mg
Na ₂ CO ₃	=	1.25 gm
NAD	=	25 mg
NBT	=	15 mg
Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.5	=	15 ml
H ₂ O	=	35 ml

Incubated the gel in the above staining solution in dark at 37°C. Zones of enzyme activity appeared as dark blue bands.

12. Octanol Dehydrogenase: (Redfield and Salini, 1980):

	Octanol	=	3 ml
	NAD	· =	20 mg
ф.	MTT	=	10 mg
ŧr	Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.5	=	50 ml
a rd	H ₂ O	=	47 ml
	PMS	=	2 mg

The gel immersed in the above staining solution was incubated at **37°C to get bluish** pink coloured bands.

13.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase: (Redfield and Salini,	1980):	:
÷	Alpha-Pyroglutamic acid	Ξ	50 mg
	NAD	=	20 mg
	МТТ	=	10 mg

Tris HC1 Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.0	=	50 ml
H ₂ O	=	50 ml
PMS	=	2 mg

Incubate gel at 37°C until blue bands appear wash and fix.

14. Sorbitol Dehydrogenase: (Redfield and Salini, 1980)

D - Sorbitol	=	1 gm
NAD	=	20 mg
MTT	=	10 mg
Tris HCl Buffer (0.2 M) pH 8.0	=	50 ml
H ₂ O	=	50 ml
PMS	=	2 mg

Incubated the gel in the above staining at $37^{\circ}C$ to gel blue colour bands.

3.2.6 STANDARDIZATION OF EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS

To obtain good resolution and separation of the bands of each enzyme nearly four different buffers were tested for best results. Similarly to find out the best tissue source for each enzyme, seven different tissue samples were tested and compared. The optimum quantity of the samples to be extracted (mg/ml) and the extracts to be loaded (μ l) in a gel also were standardized. Table 3 shows the final experimental details for the screening test.

3.2.7 LIST OF ENZYMES/GENERAL PROTEINS TESTED

1.	Acid Phosphatase	(ACP)
2.	Alcohol Dehydrogenase	(ADH)
3.	Aldehyde Oxidase	(ADO)
4.	Aldolase	(ALD)
5.	Alkaline Phosphatase	(AKP)
6.	Esterase	(EST)

7.	Glutamate Dehydrogenase	(GDH)
8.	Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase	(GOT)
9.	Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase	(GPD)
10.	Lactate Dehydrogenase	(LDH)
11.	Malate Dehydrogenase	(MDH)
12.	Octanol Dehydrogenase	(ODH)
13.	Protein	(PRO)
14.	Pyrroline Dehydrogenase	(PDH)
15.	Sorbitol Dehydrogenase	(SDH)
16.	Tetrazolium Oxidase	(TZO)

3.2.8 PROCEDURES FOR ANALYSIS OF DATA

1. Interpretation of Electrophoretic Patterns (FIG. 72):

The protein/enzyme banding patterns or the phenotypes were compared between individuals at a particular gel area. Phenotype variants observed between the individuals in terms of differences in the distance travelled by particular band (S) at that particular compared gel area are designated as slow moving (S) in one individual, fast moving (F) in another individual and slow-fast moving (SF) when a combination of these two occured yet in another individual. As a standard practice, these protein phenotypes are presumed as genotypes produced by codominant alleles at a particular genetic locus. Thus individuals having S, F, SF genotypes were scored as slow moving and fast moving homozygotes and slow-fast moving heterozygote respectively. Depending on the protein/enzyme structure, the observed heterozygote patterns are again scored as monomeric, dimeric or tetrameric, viz. two, three and five banded patterns respectively.

2. Allelic Frequencies (TBL. 21):

Allelic frequencies were calculated directly from genotype frequencies. Genotype frequencies are proportions of each genotype in total number of individuals tested for each locus.

TABLE 3 *

Sl. No.	Enzymes	Buffers	Gel Concentrations Acrylamide ml / Bisacrylamide ml.	Tissues	Sample Concentration
1	ACP	BOR	2.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
2	ADH	TGH	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
3	ADO	TGH	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
4	ALD	TVB	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
5	AKP	BOR	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg/ ml
6	EST	TVB	5.0 ml / 3 ml	HAT	40 mg / ml
7	GDH	TCT	3.5 ml / 2 ml	EYL	40 mg / ml
8	GOT	SCT	3.5 ml / 2 ml	MUS	100 mg / ml
9	GPD	TVB	2.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
10	LDH (E)	TGH	4.5 ml / 3 ml	EYL	40 mg / ml
11	LDH (M)	TGH	3.5 ml / 2 ml	MUS	100 mg / ml
12	MDH	TCT	2.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
13	ODH	TGH	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
14	PDH	TVB	3.5 ml / 2 ml	EYL	40 mg / ml
15	SDH	TCL	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
16	TZO	TVB	3.5 ml / 2 ml	LIV	100 mg / ml
17	PRO (E)	TGH	7.5 %	EYL	40 mg / ml
18	PRO (M)	TGH	7.5 %	MUS	100 mg / ml
19	PRO (S)	TGH	7.5 %	SER	100 µ1 / 900

Final Experimental Details for Screening Test.

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

Thus frequency of S allele	= Frequency of SS genotype
	plus half the frequency of
	SF genotype
Frequency of F allele	= Frequency of FF genotype
	plus half the frequency of
	SF genotype

Allelic frequency can also be calculated using the formula:

$$\frac{\text{HO x 2 + He}}{2N}$$

Where HO is the observed number of a particular homozygote, He is observed the number of a particular heterozygote and N is the total number of individuals tested.

3. Expected Genotype Frequencies (TBL. 23):

Expected genotype frequencies, as per Hardy-Weinberg Law, were calculated using the binomial expansion

 $(a = b)^2 = a^2 + (2 ab) + b^2$

When two variant allels were involved and multinomial expansion $(a + b + c....)^2$ when more than two variant alleles were considered.

Chi-Square values for determining the significance of deviation between observed and expected genotype frequencies were calculated using the formula.

The degrees of freedom for determining the P value were calculated from the number of phenotypes minus 1, minus the number of alleles minus 1 (Utter, 1987). Thus the degrees of freedom to be considered in diallelic three phenotype system is 3 Phenotypes -1 = 22 Alleles -1 = 1The degrees of freedom = 2-1 = 1

4. Heterozygosity (TBL. 24):

Heterozygosity was directly estimated from the number of heterozygotes present in the total number of individuals tested. Average heterozygosity in the species was calculated by estimating heterozygosity for each locus in each population, followed by their averages for the total loci for each population, followed by the average for the number of populations tested. Both polymorphic and non-polymorphic loci tested were considered for calculation.

5. Average number of alleles per locus (TBL. 22):

First, average number of alleles for each protein locus in each population was calculated. From these average number of alleles for different loci, average value for all loci for each population was calculated. From these population averages, average for the species was calculated.

6. Polymorphic loci (TBL. 20):

A locus was considered polymorphic when the most common allele had a frequency of 0.95 or less. The frequency of polymorphic loci was calculated as follows. First, proportions of loci polymorphic in the total number of loci present in each protein/enzyme tested were calculated for each population. Thus averages for all the proteins/enzymes tested for each population were calculated. From these values average for each population was calculated. The average for the species was calculated from averages of different populations.

7. Genetic Identity (I) and Genetic Distance (D) (TBL. 26):

The method followed is as described by Utter (1987).

25

Nei's (1975) genetic distance is defined as

D = -1 n (I) for a single locus

Genetic identity (1) is calculated using the formula

$$1 = \left\{ X_i Y_i \right\} / \sqrt{\left\{ X_i^2 + Y_i^2 \right\}}$$

Where value of X_i and Y_i are the frequencies of specific alleles in the population X and Y, respectively. When more than one locus is involved in a protein system tested, average of (I) value for all loci considered is taken for calculating the (D) value for that protein system between X and Y populations. Then average (I) and (D) values for all loci tested for two populations thus compared are found out. From these average (I) and (D) values of compared populations, average for the species was estimated.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1 STANDARDIZATION OF EXPERIMENTS

The purpose of standardization of disc gel electrophoretic techniques applied in the present investigation was maximum separation and resolution of different components of specific proteins/enzymes tested, To achieve the above objective, several buffer systems, different gel percentage compositions, different tissue extracting processes, different proportions of sample volume, different staining processes etc. were experimentally compared and evaluated the results. The experimental details of general proteins and fourteen enzymes systems are shown in Figure 2-57, Plate 3-13 and Table 1-17. Α comparison of these results show that a thorough standardization procedure involving trial and error method alone can produce presence of all the protein systems and their components in a particular species like M. cephalus. Because tissues that did not show any or poor enzyme activity in a particular procedure produced excellent patterns when a different detection method was applied. For selection of a suitable buffer system a group of four selected buffer systems already known suitable for certain other species were tried during the standardization of fourteen enzyme systems studied in the present investi-However, in the case of general proteins, as the Tris-Glycine-HCl gation. buffer system (TGH) gave good resolution of proteins, no other buffer systems were used for standardization. The important aspects of results of standardization experiments conducted in the present investigation can be described as follows. The Table 2 and 3 show that Borate Buffer system (BOR) was most suitable for Acid Phosphatase and Alkaline Phosphatase enzymes whereas Tris-Glycine-HCl buffer system (TGH) was better for ADH, ADO, LDH and ODH enzymes. Similarly, Tris-Versene-Borate buffer system (TVB) produced better results in the case of ALD, EST, GPD and PDH enzymes. Tris-Citrate system (TCT) produced better results for GDH and MDH. Tris-Citrie-Borie-LiOH (TCL) buffer system produced satisfactory patterns for SDH enzyme. Table 1 and 3 also show different proportions of Acrylamide and Bisacrylamide proportions required for better separation of each enzyme. These proportions were taken from respective stock solutions. Thus Acrylamide - Bisacrylamide

















PLATE 3

Acid Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of

<u>M. cephalus</u> in

- A. · Borate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer

PLATE 3



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ACID PHOSPHATASE in

Mugil cephalus L.

	Ticence		-	colative blee	trophoretic IV	fobility (mm)	and Inte	ensity ()	() of E	ufferent	Bands		Total No.of Bands	Nature of Separation
Systems **	60061-	-		2	m	4	ഹ		5	2		æ		and Resolution
	so s	0-3	X2	16-17 2x	18-23 1X	20 20 VC							6 4	<u>م</u> ت
	M	18-19	XXX	20-21 2x	22-24 1X	V7 (77-47							r	: 5
ROR	: =	2-3	l,	18-19 2x	23-25 1x								en i	U a
	л.	5	1×	19-20 3×	25-27 1x								ν -	ц с.
	- ×	0-3	1x 1	J8-19 2x	24-27 lx								· e	. 2.
	S	10-15	1×	20-27 2x	34-35 1x								3	Ч
	.Σı	с <u>с</u>	×,	4 lx	6 1×	12-13 2x	14 lx	16-17	1×	21-23	1× 2	5 1x	00 F	a. c
., , , , L		12 14-15	× ř	13 1X 18-19 3x	XZ 71-61								n 0	- C
		16-17	3x											00
	- ×	13-16	3x x	23-25 3x									- 73	: د
														:
	s S	29-31	1×										-0	<u>~</u>
HDT	нщ													
	<u>۔</u> د	15-20	2x										- 0 :	υ
	×												•	
	s	2-3	1×	8-9 Jx	18-19 1x	20-21 1x							4	<u>م</u> :
	M	6-8	1×.	X1 11-01	12-13 1x	18-20 1x							4.	<u></u>
TVR	ыı	7-2-2	× 2	8-10 1x 8-9 1v	11-12 1X 15-18 1X								n m	- U
6TA 1	- :	2-8 2-8	2x	20-22 2x									2	9
	- 2		1×~~	16-17 2x 3 1v	8_0 7v	14-17 2x							6 4	ی ہم

*Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations **Refer Tuble 2 for buffer systems.

TABLE 4 *

















PLATE 4

Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- A. Borate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer
PLATE 4



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ALCOHOL DEHYDROGENASE in Mugil cephalus I.

Systems Image: Solution set of the se	40.	Electrophoretic Buffer	Tissues	R	elative	Electro	horeti Difi	e Mobi erent	ility (r Bands	nm) and	Inten	sity (x)	of			Total No.of Bands	Nature of Separation
HURE TO THE TABLE		Systems **		-		2		en l		4		2		9			and Resolution
MOR E No. 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			S	-	1x	10-12	3x	8-22]x							ñ	U
HOR II III-11 2x 12-13 2x 17-13 2x 17-14 1x 1x <th1x< th=""> <th1x< th=""> 1x 1x</th1x<></th1x<>			Σ	5-6	1×	10-11	×1.	12	١x							en 0	מ (
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$: u	10-11	2X	12-13	2X									2	ם כ
T(T)		HOR	Ξ.	1-01	×	01 11										- ¢	L ()
TCT T IX 17.19 IX 17.19 IX 17.19 IX 17.118 IX 17.118 IX 11.118 IX 11.1			2_	0-+	×	71-11	¥7									4 C	;
T(T) I <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>			- X	-	1x	12-13	2x	17-19	1x							5	٩
TCT M I IX TCT H 9-10 IX 14-18 IX H 9-10 IX 13-14 IX 14-18 IX H 9-10 IX 15-14 IX 13-14 IX 14-15 IX 14-16 IX 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>s</td><td>-</td><td>1×</td><td>7-8</td><td>1×</td><td>1-18</td><td>1x</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>ę</td><td>a</td></td<>			s	-	1×	7-8	1×	1-18	1x							ę	a
TCT E 6 1x 8-10 1x 14-18 1x 13-10 1x 13-10 1x 13-10 1x 13-11 1x 13-11 1x 13-11 1x 13-11 1x 14-15 1x 16-17 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 1x 11-12 1x 16-17 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 1x 1x 13-14 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 28-30 1x 28-30 1x 28-30 1x 28-31 1x 28-31 1x 28-31 1x 28-31 1x 28-31 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>W</td><td></td><td>1×1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>ፈ</td></t<>			W		1×1											-	ፈ
TCT H 9-10 IX 13-14 IX L 10 1X 15-10 1X 15-14 1X L 10 1X 15-16 1X 15-17 1X 15-17 1X K 10-11 2X 15-16 1X 16-17 1X 26-27 1X 28-31 1X K 10-11 1X 14-15 1X 15-17 1X 26-27 1X 28-31 1X 28-460 1X 28-31 1X 28-31 1X 28-31 1X 28-31 1X 28-460 1X			£	ŝ	1×	8-10	1×	14-18	1×							°.	<u>а</u> ,
L 10 IX 15 IX F 19-10 IX 15 IX R 19-11 IX 14-15 IX R 10-11 IX 14-15 IX S 1 IX S 1 IX R 10-11 IX 14-15 IX S 1 IX		TCT	H	9-10	1×	13-14	1x									5	a. 1
T(1) 9-10 1x 14-15 1x 14-15 1x 14-15 1x 14-15 1x 16-17 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 28-41 28 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>Ŀ</td> <td>10</td> <td>1×</td> <td>15</td> <td>1x</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>5</td> <td>ה, נ</td>			Ŀ	10	1×	15	1x									5	ה, נ
TCHI 2x 12-13 1x 8-10 1x 16-17 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 35 1 1x 8-10 1x 16-17 1x 26-27 1x 28-31 1x 35 35 35 31 1x 15-16 1x 16-17 1x 12-13 1x 12-13 1x 12-16 1x 12-				9-10	1×	14-15	1×									2	<u>-</u> 1
TCHI I I R I I R I I R I I R I <thi< th=""> <thi< th=""></thi<></thi<>			× ,	10-11	2x	12-13	1×									77	.
S 1 <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<>																,	ı
T(iII II I0-11 IX 14-15 IX F 9-10 1X 14-15 1X 14-15 1X F 9-10 1X 12-14 1X 12-14 1X F 9-10 1X 12-14 1X 12-14 1X F 9-10 1X 12-14 1X 12-14 1X F 1 11 12-13 1X 47-48 1X 57 K 1 1X 1 10-15 1X 47-48 1X 58-60 1X 55 K 1 1X 1 1X 12-13 2X 15-16 2X 17 1X 5 S 1 1X 1 1X 12-13 2X 15-16 1X 5 5 M 3 4 1X 12-13 2X 15-16 1X 17 1X 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 <td></td> <td></td> <td>s</td> <td>-</td> <td>1×</td> <td>8-10</td> <td>×</td> <td>16-17</td> <td>1×</td> <td>26-27</td> <td>1x</td> <td>28-31</td> <td>1x</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>.r. 6</td> <td>ם, ג</td>			s	-	1×	8-10	×	16-17	1×	26-27	1x	28-31	1x			.r. 6	ם, ג
Truit E 9-10 1x 12-14 1x Truit 1 28-32 1x 12-14 1x 1 12-32 1x 46-60 1x 58-60 1x 58-60 1x 56 1 10-15 1x 10-15 1x 47-48 2x 53-55 1x 58-60 1x 5 1 10-15 1x 1 1x 12-13 2x 15-16 2x 17 1x 5 5 1 1 1x 1 1x 12-13 2x 15-16 2x 17 1x 5 5 1 1x 1 1x 12-13 2x 15-16 2x 17 1x 5 5 1 1x 12-13 2x 15-16 2x 17 1x 5 5 5 5 5 1 1x 12-13 1x 15-16 1x 15 1x 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5			Σ	10-11	×	14-15	1×.									7 6	<u> </u>
TGH H 28-32 ix 46-60 ix 11-43 1x 47-48 1x 58-60 1x 56 66			œ :	9-10	l,	12-14	×.									4 6	
1 12-14 3x 15-14 3x 15-14 3x 15-14 3x 15-14 3x 15-15 1x 41-45 1x 41-46 1x 55 1x 56-01 1x 55 1x 15 1x 17 1x 15 1x 15 1x 15 15 1x 15 1x 15 1x 15 1x 15 1x 1x 15 1x 11 1x 1x 11 1x 1x 11 1x 1x 11 1x		TGH	= .	28-32	×.	46-60	×.		å	.,	÷	47 40	;	00 00	-	v u	
TVB I I0-15 IX 31-34 IX 448 2X 55-50 IX 38-50 IX 38-50 IX 55 5			<u>-</u>	4 I - 2 I	Xr	11-61	XY,	67-54	X7 d	41-40	× .		X :	10-00	¥ I	e u	2 0
K I Ix 4 Ix 12-13 2x 15-16 2x 17 Ix 5 9 S 1 1x 10-12 3x 18-23 1x 15-16 2x 17 1x 5 9 9 M 3-4 2x 10-12 3x 18-23 1x 15-16 1x 5 9 9 10 1 10 1 <td></td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td>10-15</td> <td>×</td> <td>31-34</td> <td>'</td> <td>17-48</td> <td>2X</td> <td>53~55</td> <td>×</td> <td>58-60</td> <td>١x</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>n I</td> <td>L (</td>			_	10-15	×	31-34	'	17-48	2X	53~55	×	58-60	١x			n I	L (
S 1 1x 10-12 3x 18-23 1x 15-16 1x 3 M 3-4 2x 10-11 1x 12-13 1x 15-16 1x 3 4 4 F 9-10 2x 11-12 2x 14 1x 15-16 1x 3 5 7 7 TVB 11 10-11 2x 11-12 2x 14 1x 15 1 4 4 4 1 <td></td> <td></td> <td>х</td> <td></td> <td>1x</td> <td>4</td> <td>1x</td> <td>12-13</td> <td>2x</td> <td>15-16</td> <td>2x</td> <td>17</td> <td>1x</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>rc</td> <td>υ</td>			х		1x	4	1x	12-13	2x	15-16	2x	17	1x			rc	υ
TVB I 2-4 10-11 1x 12-13 1x 15-16 1x 15-16 1x 1 4 4 4 7 1<			U	-	÷	10-19	۔ ۲	8-23	2							e7	C
W 3-40 2x 10-11 1x 12-15 1x 12-15 1x 13-10 1x 33 0 1 10-11 2x 11-12 2x 14 1x 1x 33 0 0 1 10-11 2x 11-12 2x 14 1x 33 0 0 1 10-11 2x 11-12 2x 14-15 1x 11 0 1 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>- 0</td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>71-01</td> <td><</td> <td></td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>01 11</td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>٩</td>			0	- 0	<u> </u>	71-01	<		<u> </u>	01 11	-						٩
TVB II 10-11 2x 11-12 2X 14 1X 1 0-11 2x 1 0-11 2x 1 1 0-11 2x 1 2-3 1x 14-15 1x 21-22 1x 3 F			Ξ;	-4-2 4-5	X Z		×	51-7 I	×÷	01-01	X I					• ~	- C
TVB II IO-11 2x L 10-11 2x I 10-11 2x I 2-3 1x 1 2-3 1x 1 2-3 1x 1 2-3 1x				9-10	X7	Z1-11	X7	+	X							- -	
L 10-11 2X 1 2-3 1X 21-22 1X 3 F		1'VB	=.	10-11	2×												<u>د</u> ر
1 2-3 1× 14-15 1× 21-22 1×			J	10-11	X7												
			_ :	2-3	×	14-15	X	77-17	×							o -	, (

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

TABLE 5*

FIG. 10















Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- A. Borate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- C. Tris Versene Borate buffer



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ALDEHYDE OXIDASE in

Mugil cephalus L.

기. - 	Electrophoretic Buffer	Tissues	Ж	clative	Electrop	oretic	Mobility 4	(тт) в	nd Intensi	ty (x) (of Differe	nt Ban	ł		Total No.of Bands	Nature of Separation and
	Systems **						3		4				9			Resolution
		s s	0-1	×,	12-14	2x	21-28	1 _x	30-31	1x	35-36	1x	37-38	1x	÷.	۵.۵
		⊠ 2	6-9 0-1	X X	2-9	1 x	15-19	׾							- ന	L D.
	BOR	= -	œ	<u>,</u>	11-19	34									0	U
			1-2	1X	8-11	x1									2	ď
		Х	-	1×	11-12	1x									2	ፈ
		ŝ	13-22	×1	26	1×	28-30	1×							ი -	د ۵
		M H :	1 0-2	1x 2x	10-12	1x	18-20	1 x							- ന -	L Q.
-		IDTX	2-3 9-12	1x 2x	10 16-17	1x 2x	12	1x	16-18	2x	21-22	1×			5 16 N C	σo
		თ	2-3	2 x	4	J,	5-15	1×	16-17	١x	26-34	1x	43-45	1x	υc	U e
		ΣĿ	5-9 4	1× 1	44-46 13-14	1x 1x	23-24	1x	29-30	1x	41-42	1×	46-47	1×	N G	<u>د</u> د
=	HDT	Ξ.	14-17	1; 1	45-62	1x 3	38-41	×	48-52	1×	58-60	1×			01 10	e, œ
		- - 7	18-19 18-19	2x 2x	51-52) x	58-62	2x		5					£	00
		s	U-1	2x	4-6	2x		,							61 -	Ċ a
		Ящ	2-3 1-2	××	4 5-9	3x 3x	6-7 12-14	1×1	8-JU 19-21	1× 1					. 4	- 0
>	TVB	нч	7-9	3x											ə — ·	0
		- ×	3	1 × 1	6-8	2x									2	20

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

TABLE 6 *

















Aldolase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in

- A. Borate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Maleic EDTA buffer
- C. Tris Versene Borate buffer



MEHLIK

В ALD-TCT







Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ALDOLASE in

Mugil cephalus L.

 Buffer	Tissues				•					Bande	Senaration
Systems **				5					4	- Color	and Resolution
SCT	۲ <u>۵</u> ۳۵,	18-20 5-6 4-8 32-33	2x 1x 1x	18-20	2× 1×		-		\$	- 0 0 - 4	00444
	- X	2-1	X X	42-43	×	7e-06	XI	-of	< 1	1	۵.
	N	6-10 0-1	1 x 2 x	14-16 10-11	XI XX					880	υu
2	C 7 - X	2-3	2x	13-14	3x	18-19	1×			m 2 0	υ
TME	ΣuΗ	0-1 0-2 0-1	1x 2x 1								ۍ ن م ر
	7-X	0-2	2x	5-7	1×	9-10	1×	18-2(x1 0	700	2
	-Σ ±	16-17 0-2	1x 2x	6-11	2x	23-24	1x			- n e	<u>د ن</u> ن
TVB	± ۲.	0-2 1-2	2x 2x	6-7 9-10	3x 3x	30-31	×			0 0 0	Ê
	- ×	7-8	1x	25-27	1x					2	υ

TABLE 7*

Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

FIG.18







FIG. 20







Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- C. Tris Versene Borate buffer

PLATE 7



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ALKALINE PHOSPHATASE in

Mugil cephalus L.

Nature of Separation and Resolution 4400808 ~~~~~ ሲ 004 השרים ה Total No. of Bands ------0-0-----000000 --------Relative Electrophoretic Mobility (mm) and Intensity (x) of Different Bands 1 x X ę 41-43 ٠ 13 ١x 1x 3x 1x 1× 1x ~ 12-13 29-30 38-39 41-43 9-11 11 *** 2x 1x 1 2x 1 x 1 x 2 $\mathbf{1}_{\mathsf{X}}$ 2x ---19-20 17-18 19-20 17-18 17-18 17-18 17-18 17-18 17-19 38-40 2-3 11-12 10-11 2 10-11 12-17 10-14 10-13 30-34 $\begin{array}{c}
11-12\\
11-12\\
10-11\\
11-12\\
11-12\\
11-12\\
\end{array}$ Tissues NNEHIN るMEDIK る対形用して来 シャドドドメ Electrophoretic Buffer Systems ** BOR TCT TGH TVB No. Ξ \geq -Ξ

Refer page xvi for explanation of abbreviations Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

*

*

TABLE 8 *

















Esterase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> in

- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of ESTERASE in

Mugil cephalus L.

Nature of Separation	and Resolution	0020	0000	טטעע	ני ד ב	د د د	<u>م</u> ن	۵.	00	0 = 0	0 م
Fotal No. of Bunds		きょする	: N N M	-იადი	- 0 6	e 3	- 00 m C	2 8	44	რ იე - -	- 4
-	5			8 I X						8 I x	
L ISANGS				27-2						27-2	
ILIEFCU		2x 1x		3x					2x 1x	2x	2x
10 (X)	4	38-43 37-42		20-25					30-31 29-32	21-25	16-19
tensity		* * * * *			ý	Ų	ž			~ ~	~
	6	-35 2) -35 2) -35 2)	30 3	-26 1) -13 1) -29 3)	-29 3,	-46 1>	-42 2)		-26 3) -26 2)	-20 2) -23 3)	-15 2)
ty tmm		3338	56 5	25 12 21	21	45	40		24	18 19	14
		33 33 33 3 3 3 3 3	3 X X 3 X	3x 1x	x1 x1	1×	1x 2x	1×	1x 2x	1x 3x	1x
priorette	2	31-34 26-29 26-29 21-24	26-30 26-30 22-25	18-21 10-11 13-14	25-30 13-14	37-38	43-46 34-36	42-45	9 18-20	10 15-17	6
1;leetro											
DAILAG	-	5000	\$ ^ ^ ? 2	11333 1233	28 33 12 13 12 13	11 23 11 23	2222 2928	36 2x	5 <u>1</u>	\$17.7 8	27 1x 1 x1
ž		21 20-1	20 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2	29-12-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-	26-9	36-5	34-26-26-2	34-:	2-80	8 9 17-1	25-2
sues		w∑ ∵ 1		~ X B T		~ × :	r . مر ار	¥	× 2	10 T	Ŷ
Tis		•] = = =		0, 2 2 2		07 E. F			01 6		
relic											
eetropho Buffer	stoms *	ava	NDa	TCT			TGH			TVB	
Elc	Sy										
SI. No.		-	-	=			III			1<	

TABLE 9*

Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

















Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- A. Sodium Citrate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Maleic EDTA buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer



A GDH-SCT







Μ E H LIK









Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of GLUTAMATE DEHYDROGENASE in Mugil cephalus L.

TABLE 10*

Tis	ssues	Rciative	Fleetrop	noretic n		חשו וחוכוג	11y 1x/ u					lotal No. of Bands	Separation	
				2		ę		4		2			and Resolution	
	N N N N N N	6-7 10-12 9-11	1x 1 x 1 x	18-21	2×							-00-00	<u></u>	
	とってしてん	7-9 0-1 11-13 7-8	1 x 1 x 2 x 1 x	7-8	2X	9-10	2 X	12-14	×	16-18	×	- 0 6 6	<u>е</u> ж Се	
	びじょししょ	0-6 0-4 30-31	1x 3x 2x									0-00	₽ ₩ 0	
	Zurd 7	6-8 1-2 5-6	2× 1× 2×	4-8 42-43	3x 1x	10-12 52-53	2x 1x						0 00	

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

FIG.30















Glutamate-Oxaloacetate Transaminase patterns of different tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> in

- A. Sodium Citrate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Maleic EDTA buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer



A GOT-SCT







GOT-TME









Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of GLUTAMATE - OXALOACETATE TRANSAMINASE in

TABLE 11*

Nature of Someration	and Resolution	D D m	a a	٩	ح ٢
Total No. of Boods	2	8-0-00	-60-06		-00-00
Relative Electrophoretic Mobility (mm) and Intensity (x) of Different Bands	1 2	6-7 1x 11-12 1x 16-19 1x 10-11 2x	7-9 1x 11-12 1x	1-3 1x	5-7 lx 4-6 lx
Tissues		がしましてと	がいいん	がじまししょ	が ヨントメ
Electrophoretic	surrer Systems **	scr	TCTF	TME	fini.
si.	No.	_	=	E	2

* Refer Page xvi for exaplanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

FIG. 34















TABLE 1	2*	Experin	iental De	ails of 1	electrophoresis o Mugil c	Cophalus L.	CENURAUA	7 9 1 4 1	119	ACTINA DO	E	
si.	Electrophoretic Buffer	Tissues	Re	lative El	ectrophoretic Mc	bility (mm) and	I Intensity (x) of Dif	ferent f	ands	Total No. of Bands	Nature of Separation
No.	Systems **		-		2	£	4		ŝ		9	and Resolution
		Ś	0-1	1×	5-6 1x	11-15 2x	25-26	1x			4	с (
		Σu	2-3 1	1x 2v	9-12 2x 9-10 1x						5 5	00
-	TBO	- =	5-6 5-6	2X 7	VT 01-0						-	ŋ
	•	1	6-7	2x	9-11 1x						5	IJ
		- *	9-12	1×							~	പ
		S	1-0	1×							·	<u>م</u> د
		Σ;	2-14	3X							- 6	<u>ہ</u> د
=	,1,,,L,	<u>ت</u> ت	2-3	XZ	X7 6-8						· C)
=		: 2	11-12	1x							- 0	d
		- ×									- 0	
		1										
		s	0-1	×	18-19 lx	26-29 1x	53-55	1 x			-4- L	<u>а</u> с
		W :	4-6 6-6	×	8-9 1x	11-12 1X	16-19 34 35	×	38-39 44-45	1 X	ი ი	<i>د</i> م.
111	TCTI.	ъд	3-1 14-17	2× 7	X7 61-11	VI 67-07	CO-+CO	4		4		U
		د :	12-13	2x	26-29 2x						- 12	00
		_:	44-45	2x								םכ
		z	11-21	XI							•	
		c	-	ć			07 JA	ç			4	c
		2 A	-0	X7	11-17 2X	VI 40-67	04-04	¥7			- 2	00
		Ξu	0-2	1x 1	11-16 2x	19-23 1x	25-26	1×	30-31	1x 35-	36 1x 6	۵. (
1	TVB	Н	10-11	2x							- 6	<u>م</u> ر
		_ ن	10-11	2 x	15-25 2x	33-34 2x					~ c	٩
		X	2-3	1x	10-11 2x						2	C

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
 ** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems
















Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer

PLATE 11



TABLE	13*		Exper	imental Dctails of	Electrophoresis lugit cophatus	of LACTATE I	DEHYDROGEN	ASE in		
SI.	Electrophoretic Buffer	Tissues	Relativ	e Electrophoretic	Mobility (mm) ar	ld Intensity (x)	of Different	Buds	Total No. of Bands	Nature of Separation
.04	Systems **		1			2	3			and Resolution
_	NON	るがおけいしょ	20-22 17-18 18-20 17-18 19-21 19-21 18-19	× × × × × ×	23-24	ň				נטמרט ד
=	TCT	o M ビルー K	7-10 2-3 8-11 9-12 9-12 9-12	1 x 2 x 2 x 2 x	9-10 18-19	2 x X	14-15	ž		עייטעיי ע
≡	нст	SMEHIFX	1-2 13-17 14-18 10-25 14-17 5-8 16-20	33 33 3 34 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	14-18 23-25 35-37 31-33	3x 1x 1x	27-29 31-33 41-44 41-44	1 x 3 x 1 x	n − n − n n −	0 m m e 0 e 0
2	¥1 7.1 .	SMNHUIX	9-10 4-7 8-9 9-11 10-11	1 × 1 × 1 × 2 × 2 × 2 × 2 × 2 × 2 × 2 ×	8-9 10-11	×F	16-18	×	-00-	44200 U

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

FIG. 42







FIG. 44



.





Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- A. Borate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Glycine HCl buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer



Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of MALATE DEHYDROGENASE in

Mugil cephalus I..

• .	Electrophoretie Buffer	Tissues	Relat	tive Ele	eetrophoi	etie M	obility (m	m) and	Intensit	v (x) v	f Differei	ot Ban	ېل ا	Total No. of Bands	Nature o Separatio
	Systems **		-		2		3		4		с.		9		and Resolution
	BOR	v ∑ ⇔ ⊑ ⊐	0-2 14-15 14-15 14-15	3 X X 1 X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	4-6 18-20 15	1 x 1 x 1 x	14-15	2×	17-22	1x	27-28	×		6 6 2	<u>а е е С</u> С
		: – X	_	i x	14-15	3x	18-20	1×						c e	G
		s ≥ a	14-21 15-17	1x 1x	24-25	1×								8 - 0	ፈ ፈ
	TCT	. HULM	1 12-13 11-13	1x 3x 3x	01	1 <u>×</u>	11	1×	14-15	1×				94-0-	<i>ч</i> щ О
		يد <u>ک</u> ک	0-3 30-33	1x 2x	13-14	2x	15-20	2x	26-28	1x	32-33	×	34-35 Lx	9 - 9	د ۵
	TGH	2 E 2	1 0-2	1x 2x	12 15-16	1x 3x	19-20 30-35	1 x 2 x	25-26 41-43	1× 2x	30-31	1×		ሌላሪ	a 0
		- Х	14-15	3x	25-26	1×	30-36	2×						5 m	C
		ы Z S	0-3 7	1 1 x 1 1 x 1	6-7 12-15 8	2x 1x 1x	14-18 19-20 19-21	1x 1x 1x	21-23 32-34	1x 1x				ৰ ৰ গেও	<u>م</u> د د ۱
	TVB	ногх	2 8-9 2	1x 3x 1	6-7 7-8	3x 2x	10-14 10-11	2x 1x	13-14	1x				× − 0 4	<u>.</u> 00

Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

TABLE 14*

FIG. 46







FIG. 48







Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of OCTANOL DEHYDROGENASE in

Nature of Separation and Resolution 00000000 9999 9 а, 0040maa ~~~~~~~~ Total No.of Bands -0603 40000-4 400-0 ŝ 2xĽ Relative Electrophoretic Mobility (mm) and Intensity (x) of Different Hands 41-44 24-26 ഗ 1x 1× ١x ľ 1× 3x1× 15-17 16-17 44-46 50-52 20-23 29-31 23-25 4 Mugil cephalus L. 1× 2× 1× 3X 7X 3X 3X 2x 1 x 2x 2x 2x 2x $1_{\rm X}$ 18-28 10-22 16-17 ŝ 20-31 20-25 15-16 15 - 17 4-5 31-34 35-36 12-13 18-27 10-11 8-9 $\frac{2}{3}$ $\frac{2}$ l, 1× **1** x 2× 2× 1× 2x 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 × 1 ١x 2x1x 15-16 14-15 14 32-35 14-15 19-26 9-10 13-15 13-14 15-17 9-12 6-7 6-7 31-32 14-19 2-3 19-24 32-33 9-10 ~ 7-8 0-2 2: 2-4 1x 0-2 2x 0-6 1x 9-10 2x 9-14 1x 0-1 1x 0-1 2x 13-14 2x 11-13 1x 15-20 2x 10-12 2x 8-11 1x 10-11 1x 2x1x 2× 1× 1× -0-4 3-4 0-1 13-14 0-1 1 14-15 0-2 0-1 0-1 0-1 2 Tissues SMEHDIK $\infty \Xi \cong \Xi \supseteq _ \Xi$ シMEHUTK シMEHUFX Electrophoretie Buffer Systems ** BOR TGH TCT TVB SI. No. ≥ Ξ = ---

Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations * ¥

Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

table 15*

















Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in different tissues of \underline{M} . cephalus in

- A. Sodium Citrate buffer
- B. Tris Citrate buffer
- C. Tris Maleic EDTA buffer
- D. Tris Versene Borate buffer

PLATE 13



PDH-SCT





C PDH-TME



HLIK M E



PDH-TCT







Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of PYRROLINE DEHYDROGENASIE in

Mupil cenhalus I.

si.	Electrophoretic	ŧ	Relativ	ve Electrophoret	ie Mobility (mm)	and Intensity (x) o	f Different Bands	Total No. of Bands	Nature of Senaration and
N0.	Buffer Systems **	lissues	-	2	e	4	ς		Resolution
_	scr	2027-X	0-4 1x 5 1x 3-6 1x 0-5 1x 4-6 1x	6-7 2× 13-14 1× 32-34 1×	15-18 3x 33-36 1x	22-23 Jx		-4000-	ወርርዋ ደ
=	TCT	Zerj-X	0-1 3x 2-4 1x 10-11 1x	5-6 1x 15-16 1x 18-19 1x	10-11 2x 23-24 1x 21-22 1x	12-13 1x	XI 81-51	\$ 5 9 9 9 5 5	<u>ت</u> ۵ ۵
≡	TME	NH 10-X	0-1 1x 0-4 3x 8-10 1x 19-21 1x	6-7 1x 39-40 1x 45-48 1x				- 0 0 0 0 0	۵. ۵. ۵. ۵. ۵.
2	ТИВ	282つ「ス	8-10 1x 0-2 3x 8-9 1x 15-17 1x 19-21 1x 24-25 1x	20-21 1x 7-12 3x 26-27 1x	16-17 2x	19-20 1x	22-24 1x	0 C 0	م ۲ ۲ ۲ ۲ م. م

Refer page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
** Refer Table 2 for buffer systems

TABLE 16*

FIG. 54



FIG. 55



FIG. 56







Experimental Details of Electrophoresis of SORBITOL, DEHYDROGENASE in

				1		1-M - 14-1	-11:4. (mm	and In	stancity (v)	of Diffo	Bond		Total No of	Natura of
	Electrophoretic Buffer	Tissues	×	clative f	sleetrophor	etic Mo	bility (mm	I and II	(X) (X)	01 101116	rent band.		lotal No. of Bands	Separation
	Systems **		-		2		ę			4	2			Resolution
		s a	6-7	2 x	27-29	1x							2 C	U
	TCT	≅ 22 II _2	5-9 15-17 5-6	2x 1x 2x	12-13	1×	15-16	1×						5 6 U
		- X	5-7	١x	12-13	1x							e 01	σ
		s:	19-22	2x	34-42	1 x	50-53	1×	55-57	lx			4 5	D
		Σu	0-1	1x	14-20	2x	21-22	1x	36-38	1×			940	C a
	TCL	⊑ ∟,	0-1 0-1	1x 2x	8-9 9-10	3X 1	14-19	3x					9 m c	L Å
		- 7	14-22	3х									-	9
		s	0-1	2x	5	2x	ی ا	2x		Ċ			÷.	00
	TGH	∑ ≃	1-0	1 x 1 x	4-5 8-14	1x 2x	6-7 30-34	2X X	29-34	72 X X 1			4 4	50
		Ŧ,	0-1	1x	3-4	1×	18-22	2x 2.	26-31	2x 2.	46-48	1 x	5	00
			2-0	X7.	12-13	X7	61-41	X7	00-07	X7			• •	>
		М	0-1	2x	10-11	2x	27-29	1×					e	U
		sa	c C	2									c ,	c
		X X I		<u>.</u>	10-11	2x	13-14	2x					• 	000
_	TVB	. د. ¤	0-1 11-12	1x 2x										- IJ
		- ×	0-1	2x	12-13	3x							5	U

* Refer page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
** Refer Tuble 2 for buffer systems

TABLE 17*

ratios taken for ACP, GPD and MDH were 2.5 ml and 2 ml respectively. For ADH, ADO, ALD, AKP, GDH, GOT, LDH (M), ODH, PDH, SDH and TZO these gel proportions were 3.5 ml and 2 ml respectively. However, a combinations of 4.5 ml and 3 ml was necessary to produce good patterns of LDH(E) enzyme and 5 ml and 3 ml for esterase enzyme. For general protein 7.5% gel made as described in materials and methods was used for obtaining good separation of different protein components. Similarly, for majority of enzymes, a sample concentration of 100 mg tissue/ml was necessary to give good results whereas for EST, GDH, LDH(E), PDH and PRO(E) only 40 mg/ml was necessary. For PRO(M) 100 mg/ml was required to show better patterns. Liver tissue produced comparatively better patterns in majority of enzymes tested. However, heart was found to be the best source of esterase pattern whereas eye lens produced better patterns for GDH, LDH(E) and PDH. The pH mentioned in the Table 2 was the required pH for the Electrode and Gel buffers for each enzyme system.

4.2 SPECIES SPECIFIC PROTEIN PATTERNS

A comparison of zymogram patterns of fifteen enzyme systems and two general protein systems among M. cephalus, L. parsia and V. cunnesius from Cochin showed distinct species specific biochemical genetic patterns for each species (FIG. 58A - 62C; PLT. 14A - 18B). Though all these individual zymograms were species specific in one or more respects of electrophoretic characteristics, these may be compared in three different groups. In the first group, differences are shown by distinct patterns of a particular protein system in each species. For example, patterns of ACP, ADH, GPD and SDH are distinctly different in each species in terms of either number of bands or their gel position or by both (FIG. 58A, B, 59D, 62B; PLT. 14A, B, 15D, 18B; TBL. 18). The second group is composed of such zymogram patterns which show distinct species specific patterns between any two species (FIG. 58C, D, 59A-C, 60A-D, 61A, B, 62A, C; PLT. 14C, D, 15A-C, 16A-D, 17A, B, The zymogram patterns that belong to this group are ADO 18A; TBL. 18). between species 1 and 2, 3; ALD between species 1 and 2, 3; AKP between species 2 and 1, 3; EST between species 3 and 1, 2; eye lens GDH between

FIGURE 58A AND PLATE 14A

Liver Acid Phospharase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 58B AND PLATE 14B

Liver Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 58C AND PLATE 14C

Liver Aldehyde Oxidase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>

FIGURE 58D AND PLATE 14D

Liver Aldolase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius



FIG. 58

PLATE 14



FIGURE 59A AND PLATE 15A

Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. <u>V. eunnesius</u>

FIGURE 59B AND PLATE 15B

Heart Esterase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 59C AND PLATE 15C

Eye lens Glutamate Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 59D AND PLATE 15D

Liver Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

PLATE 15



LIVER-AKP







EYE LENS-GDH

1

2 3







FIGURE 60A AND PLATE 16A

Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>

FIGURE 60B AND PLATE 16B

Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 60C AND PLATE 16C

Liver Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>

FIGURE 60D AND PLATE 16D

Liver Octanol Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius



F IG. 60



FIGURE 61A AND PLATE 17A

Eye lens Protein patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>

FIGURE 61B AND PLATE 17B

Muscle Protein patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. <u>L. parsia</u>
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>





FIGURE 62A AND PLATE 18A

Eye lens Pyrroline Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius

FIGURE 62B AND PLATE 18B

Liver Sorbitol Dehydrogenase patterns in

- 1. M. cephalus
- 2. <u>L. parsia</u>
- 3. <u>V. cunnesius</u>

FIGURE 62C

Liver Tetrazolium Oxidase patterns in

- 1. <u>M. cephalus</u>
- 2. L. parsia
- 3. V. cunnesius



F1G.62



A EYE LENS-PDH







lal No. Bards		3 4 6	4 2 -	2 2 2			0 0 0	12 2	- 6 -	5
Tol of		1x								
	2	30-33								
nds		2X 2X								
lifferent Ba	y	33-36 23-27								
3) of (2x 1x								3x
olourless ((2	22-30 20-21								17-18
o pur (1× 1	1×							3x
Intensity (x	4	13 18-19	13-14							15-16
, (mn		3x 1 x 1	2×						2x	3x
Mobility (r		10-11 12 14-15	8-11						10-12	13-14
oretic 1		×1 ×1	2x 1x	2x 2x			3x 3x 3	1x 1x	2x	3x
Electroph	7	7-9 10 10-11	5-7 16-17	14-15 13-14			18-24 19-22 14-17	14-16 14-17	6-8	11-12
ative		3x 1x 1x	2x 2x 3x	2x 3x 2x	3x x 3x 3	2x 1x 3x	3x 3x 3x	x1 x1 x1	1× 2× 3×	3x
Rel	-	2-3 4-6 7-8	3-4 9-15 10-17	10-12 11-12 10-11	9-10 9-12 8-12	20-22 20-21 20-22	14-17 14-16 11-13	8-11 8-11 8-11	21-23 0-4 8-11	8-10
	Species	MC LP VC	MC LP VC	MC VC	MC LP VC	MC VC	MC LP VC	MC VCP	MC LP VC	MC
	Tissues	-	د	-		-2	Ξ	ы		
	Enzymes	ACP	HOA	OUV	(I,I)	АКР	IST	HOD	GPD	EDH (E)
	No.	_	2	ς,	4	ۍ	ŋ	t~-	œ	ß

A Comparative Details of Electrophoretic Characteristics of Different Enzymes / Proteins in Mugil cephalus (Mugil cephalus (Mu) of the content of the manual munosities (MC).

TABLE 18*

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations
| 5 | Entrenoo | Tissues | Sneeles | 1 | Relat | ive Elect | tropho | retic Mc | bility | (mm) , | Inten | sity (x) | and | Colour | less ((| c) of d | iffereı | nt Bands | | | - | l'otal
No of |
|-----|-----------------|---------|----------------|-------------------------|----------------|------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|----------------|----------------|----------|-------|---|-----------------|
| No. | E nzymes | | | - | | 2 | | 3 | | 4 | | 5 | | 9 | | 2 | | 80 | | 6 | | Bands |
| 10 | (w)HCT1 | × | MC
LP
VC | 12-13
11-12
11-12 | 3X XX
3X 3X | 15-16
14-15 | 2x
3x | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2 |
| = | HCIM | 2 | MC
LP
VC | 8-9
16-18
15-16 | 1×
3×
2× | 11-13 | 3х | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 1 2 |
| 12 | HOO | -2 | MC
LP
VC | 3-7
8-14
9-13 | 2x
2x
2x | 8-10 | 2x | 12-14 | 2x | 19-20 | 1× | | | | | | | | | | | 4 |
| 13 | PRO(E) | н | MC
LP
VC | 4-6
4-6
4-6 | 3x
3x
3x | 13-15
13-15
8-10 | 3x
3x
3x | 23-25
22-24
12-13 | 3x
3x
1x | 30-32
29-31
14-15 | 3x
3x
1x | 37-39
36-37
22-24 | 1×
1×
3× | 45-49
39-41
30-32 | 1×
3× 1× | 52-54
36-37 | 3x
1x | 38-41 | × | | | ∞ 2 ~3 |
| 14 | PRO(M) | W | MC
VC | 1-2
4-7
4-7 | 2x
1x
1x | 7-8
14-16
10-11 | 1x
2x
2x | 16-18
19-21
14-16 | 2x
2x
2x | 21-23
28-30
20-21 | 2x
3x
2x
2x | 25-26
34-36
23-25 | 3x
3x
2x | 34-36
45-48
28-30 | 3x x
3x 3
3 | 46-48
49-50
35-38 | 2x
1x
3x | 56-57
45-49 | 1×
3x | 56-57 | × | r 86 65 |
| 15 | PDH | ш | MC | 7-11
8-10
8-10 | 3X 3X 3X | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 16 | IIUS | | MC
LP
VC | 12-13
12-15
12-13 | 2x
3x
2x | 18-19
21-22 | 2x
2x | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - 66 |
| 17 | T%0 | | MC
LP
VC | 10-14
14-20
12-16 | 000 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

TABLE 18* Continued.

species 3 and 1, 2; eye lens LDH between species 1 and 2, 3; muscle LDH between species 2 and 1, 3; MDH between species 2 and 1, 3; ODH between species 1 and 2, 3; eye lens proteins (PRO (E)) between species 1 and 2, 3; muscle protein (PRO (M)) between species 1 and 2, 3; eye lens PDH between species 1 and 2, 3; TZO between species 2 and 1, 3. The species specific differences here are again due to differences in the number of bands on their electrophoretic position or both. The third group patterns are showing more resemblance than differences. The species thus showed resemblances with the corresponding protein patterns are ADH, ADO, ALD, LDH(E), ODH, PRO(M) and PDH between L. parsia and V. cunnesius (FIG. 58B-D, 60A, D, 61B, 62A; PLT. 14B-D, 16A, D, 17B, 18A; TBL. 18). Similar resemblances were observable between M. cephalus and L. parsia for patterns such as AKP, EST and GDH (FIG. 59A-C; PLT. 15A-C; TBL. 18).

4.3 ONTOGENETIC VARIATIONS

During the standardization of electrophoretic patterns of different proteins, including different enzymes, in M. cephalus, certain variations in the protein patterns were observed in different size groups (FIG. 63-67; PLT. 19-21B). The details of size groups, tissue tested, relative electrophoretic mobility and intensity of different bands observed are given in Table 19. A comparison of these patterns indicated presence of non-genetic form of variations, apparently related to size group differences of the specimens tested. Figure 66, Plate 21A and Table 19 show that Group III specimens upto about 3 cm were having only a few protein fractions in their eyes whereas Group I and II specimens above 9.5 cms had several additional protein fractions. There were also differences in the number of protein fractions and their staining intensity between specimens belonging to Groups I and II. Similar differences but at lesser degree level were also noticed in the patterns of muscle proteins (FIG. 67; PLT. 21B; TBL. 19). Here smaller Groups III and II specimens upto 10 cms showed almost comparable number of protein fractions with that of Group I specimens of 28.5 cm. However, the protein fractions particularly in Group III had all bands stained very lightly indicating lesser amount of

FIGURE 63 AND PLATE 19

Liver Alkaline Phosphatase patterns in different size groups of \underline{M} . cephalus

Group	I	:	31.0	to	32.5	em
Group	П	:	15.5	to	19.5	em
Group	ш	:	15.5	to	17.0	cm

FIG.63





LIVER-AKP

GROUP I II III

FIGURE 64 AND PLATE 20A

Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u>

Group	I	:	28.5	em	t	
Group	П	:	9.5	to	10.0	em
Group	ш	:	2.6	to	3.1	сm

FIGURE 65 AND PLATE 20B

Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u>

Group	I	:	28.5 em
Group	П	:	9.5 to 10.0 cm
Group	ш	:	1: 3.1 cm
			2: 2.6 cm

F1G.64



FIG.65





FIGURE 66 AND PLATE 21A

Eye lens Protein patterns in different size groups of <u>M. cephalus</u>

Group	Ι	:	28.5	em	i	
Group	П	:	9.5	to	10.0	em
Group	Ш	:	2.6	to	3.1	cm

FIGURE 67 AND PLATE 21B

Muscle Protein patterns in different size groups of \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u>

Group	I	: 28.5	em
Group	п	: 1: 10.0	em
		2: 9.5	em
Group	Ш	: 1: 3.1	em
		2: 2.6	em





_			Size				Relat	ive El	ectroph	oretic	Mobili	ty (m	m) and l	ntens	ity (x)	of Di	fferent	Banc	s					Tota
- 0-	Enzymes	GRP	Gm	Tissue	- 1 - 1		2		3		4		5		9		2	80		6		10		Barids
	АКР	-	31.0 to 32.5	-	8-10	۱× ا									, ,									-
		Ξ	15.5 to 19.5		10-15	2x																		1
		E	15.5 to 17.0	2	15-22	2x																		-
	LUH(E)	-	28.5	ц	13-16	3х	18-19	2x	22-23	2x	26-27	2x	30-32	3x										ŝ
		E	9.5 to 10.0	Ξ	13-16	3x	18-19	2 X	22-23	2x	26-27	2x	30-32	3x										LC.
		Ш	2.6 to 3.1	ш	13-16	1,x																		1
	(พ)หตา	-	28.5	¥	12-13	3x	15-17	3х																8
		=	9.5 to 10.0	W	4-6	2x	12-17	3х	33-35	1x														ę
		(1) (2)	3.1 2.6	M M	12-16 14-16	3x 1x	34-36 34-36	1x 1x																3 2
	PRO(E)	-	28.5	ы	0-1	3х	6-9	3х	13-15	3x	23-25	3х	29-32	3x	35-37	3x	50-52	2x	60-62	1x				œ
		=	9.5 to 10.0	н	3-4	3х	2-2	3х	13-14	3x	17-18	3x	22-24	3х	26-27	2x	29-31	2x	40-42	2 x	51-52	1x 5	5-57 1:	x 10
		E	2.6 to 3.1	ы	5-6	2 x	7-8	1x																73
	PRO(M)	F	28.5	×	0-2	3х	5-7	3x	10-11	3х	14-16	3 x	19-21	3х	24-28	3х	35-37	3x	40-45	3x	47-51	3x 58	-60 1:	x 10
		II (1) (2)	10.0 9.5	MM	3-9 5-9	3x 3x	14-16 14-16	3x 3x	21-23 21-23	3x 3x	24-26 24-26	3x 3x	29-32 29-32	3x 3x	35-39 35-39	3x 3x	48-52 47-52	3x 3x	60-62 60-62	1x 2x				ວ ວ
		(I) III	3.1	Ň	5-10	2x	14-16	3x	18-19	3x	23-25	3х	28-31	2x	34-36	2x	47-50	3x	58-61	3x	69-71	2x		6
		(2)	2.6	W	5-7	1 x	14-16	1×	18-19	1×	23-25	1×	28-31	1×	34-36	1x	47-50	2x	58-60	2x	69-70	1 x		6

proteins. There were also differences noticed in the width and position of protein fractions between these three groups.

Ontogenetic type of differences were also observed in the patterns of liver Alkaline Phosphatase, eye lens and muscle LDH enzymes (FIG. 63-65; PLT. 19-20B; TBL. 19). As figure 63 shows though AKP enzyme showed a single band in all three size groups, electrophoretic position and width In the case of eye lens LDH enzyme only group III differed in each group. specimens of 2.6 - 3.1 cm showed strong difference having a single slowest moving, lightly stained band instead of five banded patterns present in groups I and II specimens above 9.5 cm (FIG. 64; PLT. 20A). On the other hand, muscle LDH differences were of lesser degree between these groups (Fig.65; PLT. 20B). One faster moving lightly stained additional band was present in group II and III whereas lightly stained slower moving additional band was also shown in group II. Group I showed two bands instead of one broad band at the comparable gel position in groups II and III specimens.

4.4 GENERAL PROTEINS

4.4.1 EYE LENS PROTEIN (PRO (E))

The eye lens protein zymograms obtained from M. cephalus sample populations collected from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 74 and Plate 27. These zymograms were prepared on the basis of comparable electrophoretic patterns of eye lens proteins obtained from individual specimens from each region and differentiating total number of specimens tested into group patterns existing in each region. Thus, the number of zymograms varied from three in Cochin and Orissa and four in Madras. As also observed in the case of muscle proteins, the number, size, intensity and electrophoretic mobility of eye lens protein bands varied between zymogram groups in each region and also between regions. Specific variations in the band patterns at a particular gel area were compared to locate phenotype variations and infer corresponding loci that may be controlling them. Thus five polymorphic loci were located in the eye lens protein in M. cephalus populations tested in the present investigation. The nature of phenotypes in each locus in each

FIGURE 74 AND PLATE 27

Zymogram patterns of Eye lens Protein in \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> populations from Madras and Orissa.

Locus	Allele	s	
I	S	=	5-7 mm
	F	Ξ	9-11 mm
П	S	=	13-15 mm
	F	2	18-20 mm
Ш	S	Ξ	23-25 mm
	F	Ξ	29-31 mm
IV	S	=	34-35 mm
	F	=	36-38 mm
v	S	=	45-48, 46-47 mm
	F	=	51-52, 51-53 mm

Locus	Cochin	Madras	Orissa
I	S	S	S
		SF	
		F	
П	S	S	S
		SF	SF
		F	
Ш	SF	SF	SF
IV.	SF		
	F	F	F
V	S		
	SF	SF	SF
		F	F







MADRAS

ORISSA



population is described below. In each region each of the five locus showed a genotype either in the form of a homozygote or heterozygote/or both.

Locus I :

The first locus in Cochin and Orissa showed a single banded monomorphic S phenotype (5-7 mm). It showed three polymorphic phenotypes S (5-7 mm), SF (5-7/9-11 mm) and F (9-11 mm) in Madras.

Locus II :

The second locus in Cochin showed again only a single banded monomorphic S phenotype (13-15 mm). It showed three polymorphic phenotypes S (13-15 mm), SF (13-15/18-20 mm) and F (18-20 mm) in Madras. The staining intensity of S phenotype (13-15 mm) and F phenotype (18-20 mm) was much less in certain specimens in Madras than for other regions for the same bands. Orissa indicated only two polymorphic phenotypes S (13-15 mm) and SF phenotype (13-15/18-20 mm).

Locus III :

The third locus in Cochin and Madras showed only two banded SF phenotype with band position $(23-25/29-31 \text{ mm})^{11}$ whereas in Orissa it showed two polymorphic phenotypes SF and F with band positions (23-25/29-31 mm) and (29-31 mm) respectively. Most specimens in Madras showed SF phenotype as much lightly stained.

Locus IV :

The fourth locus in Cochin showed two polymorphic phenotypes, SF and F having band positions (34-35/36-38 mm) and (36-38 mm) respectively. In Madras and Orissa it showed only a single banded F phenotype with band position (36-38 mm). The fourth locus phenotype bands in all the region were lightly stained.

Locus V :

The fifth locus in Cochin indicated two polymorphic phenotypes **S** and **SF** with band positions (45-48 mm) and (45-48/51-53 mm) respectively. In Madras and Orissa also it showed two polymorphic phenotypes **SF** and **F** having band positions (46-47/51-52 mm) and (51-52) respectively. Again all bands except the **F** band in few specimens in Cochin were lightly stained (FIG. 74; PLT. 27 mm).

Thus the polymorphism at each of the five eye lens protein loci in M. cephalus is produced by two codominant alleles. The general comparison of eye lens protein phenotype patterns at five assumed loci among three regions revealed certain important genetic characteristics at each locus. The first locus of Cochin and Orissa were having only S homozygote. The first polymorphic locus in Madras showed both S and F homozygotes and SF hetero-Though the second locus in Cochin showed only the S homozygote, zygote. Madras showed S and F homozygotes as well as SF heterozygote. However, Orissa had only **S** homozygote and **SF** heterozygote. On the other hand, the third locus in Cochin and Madras was similar having SF heterozygote whereas Orissa had an additional single banded F homozygote. The fourth locus was similar in Madras and Orissa having only the F homozygote, whereas in Cochin, it had both F homozygote as well as SF heterozygote. The fifth locus was polymorphic in all the three regions. However, Cochin alone had the **S** homozygote whereas Madras and Orissa alone had \mathbf{F} homozygote. Thus out of 15 expected phenotypes a total of 13 specific phenotypes were observed at PRO (E) I to V loci in M. cephalus populations tested in the present investigation (TBL. 23).

The allelic frequencies calculated from the observed genotypes at all these five eye lens protein loci (PRO (E) I-V) in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from three regions are presented in Table 21. The allelic frequencies at many of these five loci differed considerably between <u>M. cephalus</u> populations. Though in PRO (E) I locus **S** allele showed cent percent frequency in Cochin

and Orissa, it showed only 0.90 frequency in Madras while 0.10 frequency was shared by a second allele F. PRO (E) II locus also showed similar considerable allelic difference between regions having polymorphism at this locus in Madras (S = 0.90, F = 0.10) and Orissa (S = 0.87, F = 0.13) whereas monomorphism in Cochin (S = 1.00). Though allelic frequencies at PRO (E) III were identical in Cochin and Madras (0.50 each), Orissa showed 0.38 and 0.62 frequencies for S and F allele respectively. The reason for identical frequencies is due to observation of all specimens from these two regions as heterozygotes (TBL. 23). PRO (E) IV locus showed very significant allelic difference between Cochin and other two regions. Because while Cochin population was highly polymorphic (S = 0.25, F = 0.75), the other two populations were having cent percent F allele. Though PRO (E) V locus was highly polymorphic in all three regions the nature of allelic frequency distribution was strikingly different, particularly, between Cochin and Madras and also between Cochin and Orissa. Because S was the dominant allele at Cochin with a frequency of 0.62 whereas, allele **F** dominated both Madras (0.52)and Orissa (0.62) regions. The expected genotype frequency distributions at all these loci according to H.W. Law were calculated and the values are given in the Table 23. PRO (E) loci III and V deviated significantly at P> 0.001 level due to excess of heterozygotes. PRO (E) I and II showed deviation at P< 0.01 level at Madras region only. PRO (E) IV locus also showed deviation at P ≤ 0.01 level at Cochin region only.

4.4.2 MUSCLE PROTEIN (PRO (M))

The muscle protein zymograms obtained from sample populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> collected from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in Figure 75 and Plate 28. Following the method of eye lens proteins four zymogram groups in Cochin, three in Madras and one in Orissa were recognized as shown in the Figure 75. An overall comparison of the number, the size and staining intensity of each zymogram group indicated considerable variation within and between regions. A close comparison of these protein band variations between zymogram groups at a particular gel area indicated that they may be allelic products of a particular locus. Thus a general comparison of varying

FIGURE 75 AND PLATE 28

Zymogram patterns of Muscle Protein in \underline{M} . <u>cephalus</u> populations from Madras and Orissa.

S	Ξ	1-2 mm
F	Ξ	9-10 mm
S	=	13-14 mm
F	=	16-17 mm
~		01 01
5	Ŧ	21-24 mm
F	=	32-35 mm
S	=	40-43 mm
F	=	45-48 mm
	S F S F S F S F	S = F = S = F = S = F = S = F =

Locus	Cochin	Madras	Orissa
I		S	
		SF	
	F	F	F
П	S	S	
	SF	SF	SF
Ш		S	
	SF	SF	SF
IV	S		
		SF	
		F	F



MUSCLE-PRO

MADRAS

COCHIN





ORISSA



and non-varying band groups at a particular gel area for all groups indicated the existence of four polymorphic loci responsible for the expression of all the muscle protein phenotypes observed in the sample populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> tested here. The phenotypes observed at each locus in each population are described below.

Locus I:

The first locus in Cochin and Orissa showed only a single phenotype designated as F with band position (9-10 mm). The first locus in Madras showed three different phenotypes namely **S**, **SF** and **F** with band positions (1-2 mm), (1-2/9-10 mm) and (9-10 mm) respectively (FIG. 75 mm).

Locus II :

The second locus in Cochin and Madras exhibited two variant phenotypes namely **S** and **SF** with band positions (13-14 mm) and (13-14/16-17 mm) respectively. Orissa showed only **SF** phenotype having band position (13-14/16-17 mm) (FIG. 75).

Locus III:

The third locus in Cochin and Orissa produced only a single SF phenotype having band positions (21-24/32-35 mm). The third locus in Madras, on the other hand, showed two polymorphic phenotypes, namely S and SF having band positions (21-24 mm) and (21-24/32-35 mm) respectively (FIG. 75).

Locus IV :

The fourth locus in Cochin produced a single monomorphic **S** phenotype with band position (40-43 mm). The fourth locus in Madras showed two variant phentypes **SF** and **F** with band positions (40-43/45-48 mm) and (45-48 mm) respectively. The fourth locus in Orissa produced a single monomorphic **F** phenotype with band position (45-48 mm). As in the case of eye lens protein, certain muscle protein bands at certain loci were less stained than other band (FIG. 75).

Thus a codominant diallelic polymorphism occured at four muscle protein loci in M. cephalus populations. Assuming the observed phenotype variations are genotype variations, allelic frequencies at all these four muscle protein loci were calculated for each populations and the values are given in Table 21. A comparison of allelic frequencies at each of the four muscle protein loci shows that their values differ considerably between populations. Though Cochin and Orissa showed cent percent F allele (F = 1.00) at first locus, it was highly polymorphic at Madras (S = 0.63, F = 0.37). It is also interesting to note that the dominant allele at Madras was S as against F in other two regions. Allelic frequencies at second locus in all three regions are almost similar. Though third locus showed equal allelic frequencies at Cochin and Orissa (0.50 each), S allele dominated with 0.70 frequency at Madras. As all specimens tested from Cochin and Orissa were heterozygotes, the frequencies are found to be equal (TBL. 21). The allelic frequencies at fourth locus was considerably different among three regions. When Cochin showed cent percent S allele Orissa showed cent percent F allele. On the other hand Madras with frequencies 0.80 for S allele and 0.20 for F allele showed a different order of allelic frequencies. The values for expected genotype frequency distribution are also presented in Table 23. The expected value for genotype frequency distribution deviated significantly from that of observed at P> 0.001 level at loci II and III in all the three regions. It deviated at PL 0.01 level at IV locus in Madras.

4.5 ENZYME SYSTEMS

4.5.1 ACID PHOSPHATASE (ACP)

The ACP zymogram patterns obtained in <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 68. The zymogram of ACP showed three regions of enzyme activity suggesting the existence of three possible loci (FIG. 68 and PLT. 22). The enzyme activity at third locus was feeble and lightly stained. Hence, third locus was not considered for comparison.

The first locus phenotype (0-2 mm) was similar and monomorphic in Cochin, Madras and Orissa. The region considered as second locus showed

FIGURE 68 AND PLATE 22

Zymogram patterns of Acid Phosphatase in \underline{M} . cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.

The following genotypes were shown at 1st and Hnd loci.

I	:	S	Ξ	0-2 mm
Π	:	S	=	5-7 mm
		S1	=	8-10 mm
		F	=	12-15 mm
		F1	=	19-21 mm
	I II	І: П:	I : S II : S S1 F F1	I : S = II : S = S1 = F = F1 =

Locus	Cochin	Madras	Orissa
Ι	S	S	S
П		SF	SF1
			S1F1
	F	F	F
		FF1	FF1
	F1	F1	F1



PLATE 22

COCHIN

MADRAS









ORISSA

ACP

two polymorphic phenotypes in Cochin, a single fast band F (12-15 mm) and another single faster band F1 (19-21 mm) whereas additional double band SF (5-7/12-15 mm) and FF1 (12-15/19-21 mm) were also present in Madras. Five polymorphic phenotypes, namely, double banded SF1 (5-7/19-21 mm) S1F1 (8-10/19-21 mm) and FF1 (12-15/19-21 mm); single banded F (12-15 mm) and F1 (19-21 mm) were shown in Orissa. Thus these phenotypes were considered as genotypes produced by the four codominant alleles S, S1, F and F1 in different combinations (TBL. 21). Madras and Orissa appeared to have their own rare alleles compared to Cochin, namely S alleles in Madras and S and S1 alleles in Orissa (Fig. 68). The frequencies of these alleles in each region are shown in Table 21. The frequency patterns of the major alleles F and F1 suggest striking difference existing among three populations of M. cephalus. When allelic frequencies of F and F1 are almost equal F = 0.42, F1 = 0.58) at Cochin, F allele was dominant, F = 0.62) at Madras whereas F1 allele was dominant (0.64) at Orissa. The level of frequencies of S and S1 ranging 0.06-0.13 suggest that they are rare alleles. These rare alleles Six out of ten possible genotypes were observed. were absent at Cochin. ACP genotype frequencies estimated for three places were also considerably deviated from that of observed values (TBL. 23). The two banded heterozygote suggests that the enzyme may be monomeric in nature.

4.5.2 ALDEHYDE OXIDASE (ADO)

The zymogram patterns of Aldehyde Oxidase (ADO) in <u>M. cephalus</u> tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 69 and Plate 23A. The zymogram showed a single zone of enzyme activity consisting of either a single or double banded phenotype in the populations tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa.

Three polymorphic phenotypes: (1) a single slow band S (12-13 mm), (2) a double band SF (12-13/14-15 mm) and (3) a single fast band F (14-15 mm) were observed in Cochin, Madras and Orissa. A close comparison of these three phenotype variants suggested that they may be codominant di-allelic products at a single locus. The presumed genotypes are slow and fast single

FIGURE 69 AND PLATE 23A

Zymogram patterns of Aldehyde Oxidase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus Alleles		S		
I	S	=	12-13	mm
	F	=	14-15	mm

FIGURE 70 AND PLATE 23B

Zymogram patterns of Aldolase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus	Alleles
I	S = 0-3 mm
	$\mathbf{F} = 8-10, 8-11 \text{ mm}$











₿

ADO



banded homozygotes and slow-fast double banded heterozygote. The two band heterozygote indicates monomeric enzyme structure of ADO in <u>M. cephalus</u>. The allelic frequencies calculated showed similar values for Cochin and Madras but different for Orissa these being 0.63 in Cochin and Madras while 0.50 in Orissa for the major **S** allele (TBL. 21). The values for genotype distribution showed excess homozygotes in Cochin and Orissa regions (TBL. 23).

4.5.3 ALDOLASE (ALD)

The zymogram patterns of Aldolase (ALD) in M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 70 and Plate 23B. The Cochin population showed two polymorphic phenotypes namely, double band SF (0-3/8-10 mm) and single band F (8-11 mm). The Madras population showed only single monomorphic F phenotype (8-11 mm) which was more intensely stained than that of Cochin (8-10 mm). On the other hand, Orissa population also exhibited two polymorphic phenotypes, SF (0-3/8-10, 8-11 mm) and F (8-11 mm) respectively. The two banded heterozygote indicates monomeric nature of the ALD enzyme. The allele frequencies and expected genotype frequencies for ALD calculated from the observed phenotypes are shown in Table 21 and 23. The allelic frequencies of ALD were significantly different in Cochin, Madras and Orissa (TBL. 21). The significance is reflected in frequency of the major allele F, it being 0.54 in Cochin, 1.00 in Madras and 0.76 in Orissa. The expected genotype values deviated significantly from that of observed values in Cochin (P > 0.001) and Orissa (P < 0.01) regions due to excess of heterozygotes.

4.5.4 ESTERASE (EST)

The zymogram patterns of esterase (EST) enzyme in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations showed three polymorphic phenotypes as shown in the Figure 71 and Plate 24A. These three phenotypes were composed of two banded **SS** (7-10/11-14 mm), three banded **SF** (7-9/11-14/16-20 mm) and two banded **FF** (11-14/16-20 mm) Cochin population showed only **SS** and **SF** phenotypes whereas Orissa showed all the three **SS**, **SF** and **FF** phenotypes. However, Madras

FIGURE 71 AND PLATE 24A

Zymogram patterns of Esterase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Loeus	Alleles		
I	SS	=	7-10/11-14 mm
	SF	Ξ	7-9/11-14/16-20 mm
	FF	=	11-14/16-20 mm

FIGURE 72 AND PLATE 24B

Zymogram patterns of Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus	Alleles			
I	S	=	3-6 mm	
	SF	=	3-5/10-15/20-22 t	mm
	F	Ξ	20-25 mm	











EST



B

showed only the SS phenotype. The two banded SS and FF phenotypes were scored as slow and fast homozygotes whereas three banded SF heterozygote was taken as heterozygote produced by these two banded homozygotes. The three banded heterozygote indicated that EST enzyme in the heart tissue of M. cephalus behaves as if a dimeric enzyme. The estimated allelic frequencies were significantly different in Cochin, Madras and Orissa (TBL. 21). Though major esterase allele in Cochin and Madras was S, it was F in Orissa. Frequencies of S allele were again considerably different between Cochin (0.83) and Madras (1.00) whereas it was only 0.13 in Orissa. It is interesting to note the strikingly different nature of allelic distribution in Cochin and Orissa, frequencies of S allele being 0.83 in Cochin and only 0.13 in Orissa, followed by frequencies of F allele being only 0.17 in Cochin and 0.87 in Orissa (TBL. 21). However, the expected genotype distribution was found in good agreement with H.W. equilibrium conditions showing a balanced polymorphism at EST locus (TBL. 23).

4.5.5 ALPHA-GLYCEROPHOSPHATE DEHYDROGENASE (GPD)

The zymogram patterns of Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPD) in sample populations of M. cephalus tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 72 and Plate 24 B. The zymogram showed three polymorphic phenotypes in M. cephalus. These three phenotypes were composed of a single banded S (3-6 mm) tripple banded SF (3-5/10-15/20-22 mm) and single banded F (20-25 mm). These phenotype were scored as slow homozygote, slow-fast heterozygote and fast homozygote genotypes respectively. The three banded heterozygote structure indicates dimeric structure of the enzyme. Though all the three phenotypes were present in Cochin and Madras, the F phenotype was absent in Orissa. The calculated allelic frequencies were nearly similar between Cochin and Madras but considerably different in Orissa The frequencies of F allele being 0.50, 0.56 and 0.38 in Cochin, (TBL. 21). Madras and Orissa respectively. The genotype frequency distribution in Cochin and Orissa deviated considerably from that of expected ($P \ge 0.001$) due to excess of homozygotes in Cochin whereas due to excess of heterozygotes in Orissa (TBL. 23).
4.5.6 OCTANOL DEHYDROGENASE (ODH)

The zymogram patterns of Octanol Dehydrogenase (ODH) enzyme in <u>M. cephalus</u> are shown in the Figure 73 and Plate 26. Three polymorphic phenotypes composed of single banded **S**, **F** and three banded **SF** were detected, having band positions (2-7 mm), (11-14 mm) and (2-4/5-9/10-14 mm) respectively. In some of the specimens a four banded pattern was also noticed (PLT. 26). The **S** phenotype also appeared to show an additional minor fraction. The three banded phenotype was considered as heterozygote and single banded **S** and **F** as homozygotes according to their slow and fast band positions. The three banded heterozygote indicated that the enzyme is dimeric in structure. Cochin and Madras populations showed only three banded genotypes but not the homozygotes. Orissa showed all the three genotypes.

Allelic frequencies calculated from the observed genotypes are shown in the Table 21. As the phenotypes at Cochin and Madras were heterozygotes the frequencies of both alleles were equal. However, Orissa with all the three phenotypes showed different frequencies. The expected frequencies of genotypes deviated significantly in Cochin and Madras (P > 0.001) due to excess of heterozygotes (TBL. 23).

4.5.7 PYRROLIN DEHYDROGENASE (PDH)

The zymogram patterns of Pyrrolin Dehydrogenase (PDH) in sample populations of <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 76 and Plate 29. The zymogram showed a single zone of enzyme activity expressed by a single band in all populations. However, the phenotype variations in the form of single and double dose of enzyme activity indicated polymorphism at the enzyme locus. Thus, a narrow banded **S** phenotype (9-10 or 9-11 mm) and a broad banded **SF** phenotype (9-13 mm) were observed. The narrow banded **S** phenotype was scored as slow homozygote and the broad **SF** phenotype as heterozygote. The Cochin and. Orissa populations showed both **S** and **SF** phenotypes whereas Madras population showed only **SF** phenotypes (FIG. 76). The allelic frequencies were almost similar between Cochin and

FIGURE 73 AND PLATE 26

Zymogram patterns of Octanol Dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus

I

Alleles

S	=	2-7 mm
SF	Ξ	2-4/5-9/10-14 mm
F	=	11-14 mm

FIG.73



PLATE 26

ODH



Orissa but considerably different at Madras (TBL. 21). As all specimens tested from Madras were heterozygotes the frequencies of both alleles were found to be equal. The nature of genotype distributions showed considerable deviation from the expected (P > 0.001) due to excess of heterozygote only at Madras whereas other regions were showing a balanced polymorphism at the enzyme locus (TBL. 23). The enzyme appears to be monomeric in structure.

4.5.8 TETRAZOLIUM OXIDASE (TZO)

During detection of specific enzymes like ADH, ADO, ALD, ODH etc. certain gel areas were also shown as having bleached areas of phenotype nature. These phenotype variations were reported here as Tetrazolium Oxidase enzyme. TZO enzyme activity in Orissa sample could not be resolved well due to some unknown reason. The phenotypes observed in Cochin and Madras consisted of a single dose **S** (7-12 mm) and more than a double dose **SF** (8-18 mm) which always found migrating just faster than the enzyme for which the actual test was conducted (FIG. 77). The frequencies of the two alleles were similar (S = 0.71, F = 0.29) in both Cochin and Madras populations (TBL. 21). The expected frequencies of genotypes deviated significantly in Cochin and Madras (P< 0.001) due to excess of heterozygotes (TBL. 23).

4.5.9 EYE LENS LACTATE DEHYDROGENASE (LDH (E))

Plate 25A shows the patterns of eye lens lactate dehydrogenase enzyme in <u>M. cephalus</u>. All the specimens tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed identical five banded patterns suggesting its non-polymorphic nature in the species. LDH (E) showed only one locus.

4.5.10 MUSCLE LACTATE DEHYDROGENASE (LDH (M))

Plate 25B shows the patterns of muscle lactate dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus</u>. Muscle showed two LDH bands in all the specimens tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa. These two bands were presumed to be the products of two separate locus. Muscle LDH also showed no polymorphic forms in the species.

FIGURE 76 AND PLATE 29

Zymogram patterns of Pyrroline Dehydrogenase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus	Alle	eles	
I	S	Ŧ	9-10, 9-11 mm
	SF	=	9-13 mm

FIGURE 77

•

Zymogram patterns of Tetrazolium Oxidase in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the common genotypes.

Locus	Alle	eles		
I	S	Ξ	7-12	mm
	SF	÷	8-18	mm









PLATE 29





PLATE 25A

Eye lens Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the monomorphic genotype.

PLATE 25B

Muscle Lactate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed the monomorphic genotype.

PLATE 25

EYE LENS-LDH





(A)

MUSCLE-LDH



4.6 PROTEINS/ENZYMES TESTED ONLY FROM COCHIN

During the preliminary investigation of electrophoretic patterns of different protein systems in <u>M</u>. cephalus the following could be tested only from Cochin area.

Serum samples tested from a few specimens from Cochin showed highly variable inconsistent patterns as shown in Plate 31A. Hence it was not tested from other areas. The observed variability in the serum protein pattern may indicate non-genetic polymorphism.

Similarly, the enzymes like ADH, MDH and SDH could be tested only from Cochin area. All these three enzymes appeared to show certain phenotype variations in Cochin. Sorbitol dehydrogenase variations could not be scored as genetic variations (PLT. 31B). However, phenotype variations found in ADH and MDH enzymes appeared to be of genetic nature (PLT. 30A, B). However, these enzymes could not be tested from other regions.

4.7 ANALYSIS OF DATA

4.7.1 AVERAGE POLYMORPHISM

Proportion of polymorphic loci observed in different populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> and average polymorphism in each population and average in <u>M. cephalus</u> were calculated and presented in Table 20. A total of twenty one loci in Cochin and Madras and twenty loci in Orissa were considered for calculation. Average polymorphism in each population and, hence, in <u>M. cephalus</u> was found to be very high. It was 0.72, 0.61 and 0.69 in Cochin, Madras and Orissa respectively. Thus the average is 0.67 (TBL. 20) for <u>M. cephalus</u> species.

4.7.2 AVERAGE NUMBER OF ALLELES

A total of twenty one loci consisting of seventeen polymorphic and four monomorphic loci (20 only for Orissa) were tested in <u>M. cephalus</u> (TBL. 20, 21). The number of alleles observed in each population at each locus and

PLATE 30A

Alcohol Dehydrogenase patterns in M. cephalus population from Cochin.

PLATE 30B

Malate Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> population from Cochin.

PLATE 30





 (\mathbb{A})

PLATE 31A

Serum Protein patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> population from Cochin.

PLATE 31B

Sorbital Dehydrogenase patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> population from Cochin.

PLATE 31



SERUM-PRO - COCHIN



SDH - COCHIN





TABLE 20*

Comparison of Average Polymorphic Loci in <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L. Populations.

l,oci	No. of	Loci pres	ent	No. 0	sf Polymorphi Loci	ల	Average No	o. of Polymorpt Locus	nic .
	COIL	MAD	ORI	COH	CIVW	ORI	COII	UVW	ORI
ACP	2	2	2	1	-	-	0.50	0.50	0.50
NDO	ſ	1	Ţ	П	ľ	-	1.00	1.00	1.00
(LIA	-	-	-	-	0	L	1.00	0.00	1.00
EST	-	-	L	-	0	-	1,00	0.00	1.00
GPD		-	-	-	1	1	1.00	1.00	1.00
(E) HQ1	Ŧ	-	1	0	U	0	0.00	0.00	0.00
(W) HC[1	2	2	2	U	0	Û	0.00	00.0	0.00
HOO	٦	-	1	I	1	1	1.00	1.00	1.00
PRO (E)	5	5	2	ę	4	£	0.60	0.80	0.60
PRO (M)	4	4	4	2	4	2	0.50	1.00	0.50
РDН	I	1	1	-	1	ſ	1.00	1.00	1.00
T%0	-	-	ı	ſ	1	ı	1.00	1.00	ı
Total	21	21	20	13	14	12	8,60 12	7.30 12	7.60
Average N	o. of Pol	ymorphic 1	l,oci in each	Population		П	0.72	0.61	0,69
Avernge N	lo. of Pol	ymorphic -	Loci in			II	0.67		

TABLE 21*

Sl.No.	Locus	Allele	Po	opulations	
			СОН	MAD	ORI
1.	ACP 1	S	1.00	1.00	1.00
2.	АСР ІІ	S Sl	0.00	0.10	0.06
		F	0.42	0.62	0.17
		r I	0.58	0.28	0.04
3.	ADO	S F	0.63	0.63	0.50
		I	0.01	0.01	0.00
4.	ALD	S F	$0.46 \\ 0.54$	0.00 1.00	$0.24 \\ 0.76$
5.	EST	S F	D.83 0.17	1.00 0.00	$\begin{smallmatrix}0.13\\6.87\end{smallmatrix}$
6	CBD	c	0.50	0 44	0 69
0.	Grb	F	0.50	0.56	0.38
7.	LDH (E)	?	1.00	1.00	1.00
8.	LDH (M) I	?	1.00	1.00	1.00
9.	LDH (M) II	?	1.00	1.00	1.00
10	ODH	c	0.50	0.50	0 42
10.	ODI	F	0.50	0.50	0.43
11.	PRO (E) I	S	1.00	0.90	1.00
		F	0.00	0.10	0.00
12.	PRO (E) II	S	1.00	0.90	0.87
		F	0.00	0.10	0.13
13.	PRO (E) III	S	0.50	0.50	0.38
		F	0.50	0.50	0.62
14.	PRO (E) IV	S F	$0.25 \\ 0.75$	0.00	$0.00 \\ 1.00$
				1.00	1700
15.	PRO (E) V	S F	0.62 0.38	0.48 0.52	$0.38 \\ 0.62$
16.	PRO (M) 1	S	0.00	0.63	0.00
		F	1.00	0.37	1.00
17.	PRO (M) II	S F	0.54 0.46	0.58 0.42	$0.50 \\ 0.50$
18.	PRO (M) III	S	0.50	0.70	0.50
		F	0.50	0.30	0.50
19.	PRO (M) IV	S F	1.00	0.80	0.00
20	DUR	S	0.00	v.20 n =n	1.00
20.	rDu	F	0.17	0.50	0.12
21.	T20	S	0.71	0.71	-
		r	0.29	0.29	-

Allele Frequencies at 21 Loci (20 Loci for Orissa) in three Populations of <u>Mugil</u> cephalus L.

	Loci T	"otal		Allel	les Coe	hin	Allel	ез Мас	jras			Allelcs	: Oriss	æ		No. of	Average Allele	s.
		1.00,	S	<u>ب</u>	F1	Total Alleles	s	£	F1	Total Allcles	s	SI	ï۲	ы	Total Alleles	COIL	ΩVW	ORI
	АСР	2			-	3	2	1	П	4	2	1	1	1	ŝ	1.50	2.00	2.50
	ADO	1	1	-		2	1	-		3	1		1		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	۷ľŊ	-	1	1		2	-	-		2	-		1		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	EST	-	1	-		2	1	I		2	1		1		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	GPD	-	-	-		2	-	-		2	1		1		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	LDH(E)	1				1				1					1	1.00	1.00	1.00
	(W)HQ'I	2				2				2					2	1.00	1,00	1.00
	HOD	-	1	1		3	l	I		2	-		1		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	PRO(E)	ى ئ	ŝ	e		8	4	5		6	4		4		80	1.60	1.80	1.60
	PRO(M)	4	3	3		9	4	4		æ	3		e		9	1.50	2.00	1.50
	llCId	-	-	-		3	-	-		2	ſ		н		2	2.00	2.00	2.00
	TZO	-	-	1		2	г	н		2	ı.		(ı	2.00	2.00	;
Ţ	- Jtal	21														20.60	21.80	19.60
<	verage nu	imber of	* Alleles	เท eac	luqoq h	lation										1.72	1.82	1.78
Ŕ	verage nu	imber of	^ Alleles	in Mu	zil ce	shalus										1.77		

TABLE 22*

rocus	Genotype		COCHIN			MADRAS			ORISSA	
		OBS	(Exp)	Chi- square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi - square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi- square
ACP II	SS	ł	ſ	•	Ċ	(0.52)	0.52	ф с	(0.17) (0.81)	0.17
	Tere 14	20	- (8.47)	15.70	22	(19.99)	0.20	0	(1.39)	0.27
	FIFI	28	(16.14)	8.71	01	(4.08	8.59	16 2	(19.66)	0.68
	SS1	ı	ı	ı	ı (•	(0. 0)	0.0
	SF	5	1	• 1	01	(6.45) (2.91)	1,95 2,91	- - 4	(0.36)	1.45
	SIF		. ,		с I			0	(2.12)	2.12
	SIF1 Peri	1 0			۰ <u>۲</u>	- (10 06)	, 50 1 50	12	(2,99) (10,44)	2.01
	1.1.1	•	(65.62)	£0.07	01	(00.01)		7	(++++0))	
	T01,			47.80			17.76			9.41
			P > 0.0(01 đf 6		P < 0	.01 df 7		, ∧ 4	0.05 đf I
00V	SS	24	(19.05)	1.29	16	(19.05)	0.49	. 18	(12.00)	3.00
	SF	12	(22.38)	4.81	28	(22.38)	1.41	12	(24,00)	6.00 2 00
		12	(6.57)	4.49	4	() ()		10	(00.21)	00°C
	101.			10.59			2.91			12.00
			, , ∧ ,	0.001 df J					P > 0.0	0) df 1
QIV	SS Sy uu	0 4 4	(10.16) (23.84) (12.00)	10.16 17.05 7.13	84	- - (48)	1 I C	0 27 30	(3.28) (20.79) (32.93)	3.28 1.85 0.26
	TOL	r		34.34	2					5.39
			P > 0.0	101 df 1					4	< 0.01
EST	SS SF FF	32 16 0	(33.06) (13.54) (1.38)	0.03 0.45 1.38	48 	(48) - -	0	3887 3887	(0.81) (10.86) (36.33)	1.75 0.75 0.08
	TOL	5		1.86						2.58
GPD	SS SF FF	20 8 20	(12.00) (24.00) (12.00)	5.33 10.67 5.33	12 18 18	(9.29) (23.66) (15.06)	$0.79 \\ 1.35 \\ 0.57 \\ $	12 36 0	(18.45) (22.62) (6.93)	2.25 7.91 6.93
	TOL			21.33			2.71			17.09
			P > 0.0	1 JP 100					0 < 4	.001 df 1

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

Comparison of Observed and Expected (Hardy-Wienberg Law) Genotype Frequencies in Mugil cephalus Populations.

TABLE 23*

•

			C	OCHIN			MADRAS			ORISSA	
No.	Locus	Genotype	OBS	(I3xp)	Chí . square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi- square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi - square
÷	HOO	SS SF FF TOL	⊂ 8 c	(12.00) (24.00) (12.00) P > 0	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 0.001 df 1	C & C	(12.00) (24.00) (12.00) P > 0	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 .001 df 1	8 22 14	(8.14) (21.56) (14.30)	0.00 0.01 0.01 0.02
	PRO(E) I	SS SF FF TOL	8 i i	(48)	011	40 6 6	(38.88) (8.64) (0.48) P < 0	0.03 0.81 4.81 5.65 01 df 1	4 I I 8	(48)	С ; ;
æ	PRO(E) II	SS SF FF TOL	48	(48) - -	01	6 0 0	(38.88) (8.64) (0.48) P < 0.0	0.03 0.81 4.81 5.65 1 df 1	36 12 0	(36.33) (10.86) (0.81)	0.00 0.12 0.81 0.93
÷	PRO(E) III	SS SF FF TOL	0 48 1)	(12.00) (24.00) (12.00) P > 0.00	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 11 df 1	48 0	(12.00) (24.00) (12.	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 61 df 1	36 36 12	(6.93) (22.62) (18.45) P > 0.1	6.93 7.91 2.25 17.09 001 df 1
<i></i>	PRO(3:) IV	SS FF TOL	0 2 4 24	(3.00) (18.00) (27.00) P < 0	3.00 2.00 0.33 5.33 .01 df 1	1 8	- - (48)	, , C	- , 4 8	- (48)	, , c
	PRO(E) V	SS SF FF TOL	36 36 0	(18.45) (22.62) (6.93) P > 0.00	2.25 7.91 6.93 17.09 11.09	⊂ 9 %	(11.06) (23.96) (12.98) P > 0.	11.06 20.27 9.29 40.62 001 df 1	36 36 12	$\begin{array}{c} (6.93) \\ (22.62) \\ (18.45) \\ P > 0.001 \end{array}$	6.93 7.91 2.25 17.09 17.09

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

TABLE 23* Continued.

Locus Genotype	snotype	'		COCHIN			MADRAS			DRISSA	
OBS	OBS	OBS		(I5xp)	Chi - square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi - square	OBS	(Exp)	Chi- square
PR.CI(M) 1 SS - SF - FF 48	SS - SF - FF 48	4		- (48)	0	34 37 13	(33.34) (39.16) (11.50)	0.01 0.12 0.20 0.33	4	, , (48)	0
PRO(M) II SS 4 4 (1 SF 44 (1 FF 0 (1 TOL	SS 4 (1 SF 44 (1 FF 0 (1 TOL	4 4 6 0 0 0	585	23.89) 23.84) 10.16) P > 0.	7.13 17.05 10.16 34.34 001 df 1	13 71 0	(28.26)(40.92)(14.82)P > 0	8.24 22.11 14.82 45.17 .001 df 1	0 48 0	$\begin{array}{l} (12.00) \\ (24.00) \\ (12.00) \\ P > 0.0 \end{array}$	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 001 df 1
PRO(M) III SS 0 0 (1 SF 48 (1 FF 0 (1 TOL	SS 0 (1) SF 48 (1) FF 0 (1) TOL	0 8 0 5 5 5	295	[2.00] 24.00) 12.00) P > 0.	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 001 df 1	34 50 0	(41.16) (35.28) (7.56) P > 0.	1.25 6.14 7.56 14.95 001 df 1	0 4 0 0	(12.00) (24.00) (12.00) P > 0	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00 48.00 .001 df 1
PRO(M) IV SS 48 (4 SF - FF - TOL	SS 48 (4 SF - FF - TOL	48	4	(8)	C I I	5 0 5 0 0	(3.36) (26.88) (53.76) P < 0	3.36 1.89 0.26 5.51 .01 df 1	4 8	- - (48)	, , C
PDH SS 32 (33 SF 16 (13 FF 0 0 (1 TOL	SS 32 (33 SF 16 (13 FF 0 (11 TOL	32 16 0 (13 0 (1	(33 (13 (13)	.06) .55) .39)	0.03 0.44 1.39 1.89	0 8 8 0	$\begin{array}{c} (12.00) \\ (24.00) \\ (12.00) \\ P > 0 \end{array}$	12.00 24.00 12.00 48.00	36 12 0	(37.17) (10.14) (0.69)	0.04 0.34 0.69 1.07
TZO SS 20 (24 SF 28 (19 FF 0 (4 TOL 1	SS 20 (24 SF 28 (19 FF 0 (4 TOL 1	20 (24 28 (19 0 (4)	(24 (19 (4	.20) .77) .03)	0.73 3.43 4.03 8.19 001 df 1	20 28 0	(24.20) (19.77) (4.03) P <	0.73 3.43 4.03 8.19 8.19 0.001 df 1	114	1 1 1	

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

TABLE 23* Continued

SI.	Number of Loci]	Heterozygosity	
NO.			Cochin	Madras	Orissa
1.	ACP I	1.	0.00	0.00	0.00
2.	ACP II	2.	0.00	0.38	0.63
3.	ADO	3.	0.25	0.58	0.25
4.	ALD	4.	0.92	0.00	0.47
5.	EST	5.	0.33	0.00	0.17
6.	GPD	ΰ.	0.50	0.38	0.75
7.	LDH(E)	7.	0.00	0.00	0.00
8.	LDH(M)	8-9.	0.00	0.00	0.00
9.	ODH	10.	1.00	1.00	0.50
0.	PRO(E) (average for 5 loci)	11-15	0.45	0.44	0.35
1.	PRO(M) (average for 4 loci)	16-19	0.48	0.57	0.50
2.	PDH	20.	0.33	1.00	0.25
3.	TZO	21	0.58	0.58	
		Total	4.84	4.93	3.87
	Average Heterozyge in COH/MAD/ORI	osity Population	0.37	0.38	0.32
	Heterozygosity in Mugil cephalus		0.36		

Heterozygosity at 21 loci (20 for Orissa) in three Populations of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.

TABLE 25*

Sl.	Locus	CCG	CHIN	MADI	RAS	ORISS	A
NO.		НОМ	BET	НОМ	HET	ном	HET
1.	ACP II	+	_	+	-	-	-
٤.	ADO	+	-	-	-	+	-
3.	ALD	-	+	-	-	-	-
4.	EST	-	-	-	-	-	-
5.	GPD	+	-	-	-	-	-
6.	ODH	-	÷	-	+	-	-
7.	PRO(E) I	-	-	-	-	-	-
8.	PRO(E) II	-	-	-	-	_	-
9.	PRO(E) III	-	+	-	+	-	+
10.	PRO(E) IV	-	-	-	-	-	-
i1.	PRO(E) V	-	+	-	+	-	+
12.	PRO(M) I	-	-	-	-	-	-
13.	PRO(M) II	-	+	-	+	-	+
14.	PRO(M) III	-	+	-	+	-	+
15.	PRO(M) IV	-	-	-	+	-	-
16.	PDH	-	-	-	+	-	-
17.	TZO	-	+	-	+	-	-
	Total	3	7	1	8	1	4

Excess of Homozygotes/Heterozygotes at significant level in <u>Mugil</u> cephalus Populations

* Refer Page xvi for explanation of abbreviations

+ = Excess of Homozygotes/Heterozygotes

P Values at significant level (Refer TBL. 23)

TABLE 26*

Paired comparison of values of Genetic Identity (1) and Distance (D) between Cochin, Madras and Orissa Populations of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> L.

SI. No.	Loci and N	umber	Cochin/ (I)	'Madras (D)	Cochin (I)	/Orissa (D)	Cochir (1)	n/Orissa (D)
		E (avanaga)	0.070	(0.0249)	0.705	(0.9904)	0.059	(0.0402)
۲ .	PRO(L)	J (average)	0.515	(0.0212)	0.133	(0.2254)	0.932	(0.0492)
2.	ACD I	4 (average)	1 000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.2050)	1.000	(0.0000)
э.	ACP I	l	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)
4.	ACP II	1	0.868	(0.1416)	0.933	(0.0694)	0.633	(0.4573)
5.	ADO	1	1.000	(0.0000)	0.967	(0.0336)	0.967	(0.0336)
6.	ALD	1	0.762	(0.2718)	0.923	(0.0823)	0.954	(0.0471)
7.	EST	1	0.979	(0.0212)	0.348	(1.0556)	0.148	(1.9105)
8.	GPD	1	0.992	(0.0080)	0.973	(0.0274)	0.938	(0.0640)
9.	LDH (E)	1	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)
10.	LDH (M) I	1	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)
11.	LDH (M) II	1	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)	1.000	(0.0000)
12.	ODH	1	1.000	(0.0000)	0.934	(0.0683)	0.934	(0.0683)
13.	PDH	1	0 .8 35	(0.1803)	0.999	(0.0010)	0.796	(0.2282)
	Total	20	11.971	(1.2311)	11.619	(1.8560)	11.170	(3.0231)
	Population a	verage	0.921	(0.0947)	0.894	(0.1427)	0.859	(0.2325)
	Species aver	age	0.891	(0.1566)				

Distance values are given in Parenthesis:

their average are given in Table 22. Thus average in respect of all loci for Cochin, Madras and Orissa is 1.72, 1.82 and 1.78 respectively, whereas, average for M. cephalus is 1.77 (TBL. 22).

4.7.3 HETEROZYGOSITY

The proportions of heterozygotes at each locus and their average for all the twenty-one loci in each population and in <u>M. cephalus</u> species are given in Table 24. Average heterozygosity is considerably high in each population and, hence, in the species itself, these being 0.37, 0.36 and 0.30 in Cochin, Madras and Orissa respectively and 0.34 in M. cephalus species (TBL.24).

4.7.4 GENETIC IDENTITY (I) AND DISTANCE (D)

The method followed is that of Nei's (1975) as described by Utter (1987). Table 26 shows computed values of genetic identity and corresponding genetic distance for three different M. cephalus populations. These values were obtained after 54 paired comparisons involving 20 loci (39 paired comparisons and 13 loci only when multi loci like PRO (E) and PRO (M) were considered as one each because of their averages as shown in Table 26). These values indicate that the highest average genetic identity (I) is shared by Cochin and Madras populations, the value being 0.921 whereas the least identity existed between Madras and Orissa, it being 0.859. The identity value between Cochin and Orissa was a medium type. Similarly, the distance (D) values obtained for these regions also show comparable differences, these being 0.095 between Cochin and Madras, 0.143 between Cochin and Orissa, 0.233 between Madras and Orissa (TBL. 26). The average I and D values for the species are 0.891 and 0.157 respectively. Thus the highest genetic distance exists between Madras and Orissa.

5. DISCUSSION

.

A unit of fish stock concept is of fundamental importance in fisheries research and management. It has been a topic of detailed discussion, definition and modification of its definition since serious thoughts were given to it by fishery biologists and geneticists throughout the world (Marr, 1957; Muzinic and Marr, 1960). Because the concept of scientific exploitation of fish resources always based on some form of fishery units, like sub-species, races, varieties, populations or stocks etc. The importance of modern stock concept was further emphasized in ICES special meeting (de Ligny, 1971) and in the recent "Proceedings of the International Symposium" (Special issue: Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 38(12)) where continuing efforts were made to define and discuss unit stock concept more accurately. However, the importance of the concept of unit fish stock has not been changed to any extent, though, the techniques applied to demonstrate the existance of hitherto unknown natural fishery units vary widely. The techniques varied from the traditional morphometric, meristic, tagging, behavioural to modern serological, immunological, cytogenetic and biochemical genetic methods (Ihssen et al., 1981).

In view of the high economic importance of <u>M. cephalus</u> throughout the world, it has been a favourite species for investigations of various nature (Oren, 1981). Though <u>M. cephalus</u> is being heavily exploited throughout its range of distribution along the west and east coast of India, scientific informations on the biochemical genetic stock structure of the species are not available. Hence, the objective of present investigation was to study the biochemical genetics of <u>M. cephalus</u> with a view to understanding the unit stock structure of the species. The biochemical population genetic characteristics of the species in the form of general proteins and enzymes have been studied analysed and reported in the present investigation for the first time.

In biochemical genetic investigation, as in any other research programmes involving different parameters like equipments, chemicals of differeent nature, other physical parameters and even the experimental animals themselves, it is highly important to standardize all these parameters to the maximum possible extent to exclude artefacts or errors at any stage of the experiments. Giving due considerations to the above standard practice, all the experiments conducted for collecting basic genetic data were standardized to the maximum possible extent, mainly with regard to correct species identification, electrophoretic resolution of different protein fractions and avoidance of ontogenetic variations. These procedures helped in correct identification of independent locus presumed to be controlling these various protein fractions. A summary of experimental details of electrophoresis of each enzyme system studied in the present investigatioon of M. cephalus is given in Figure 68-77 and Plate 22-24B, 26-29. A comparison and evaluation of these details of standardization clearly revealed lot of valuable informations. For instance, it was essential to compare each of the twelve protein systems in M. cephalus from each tissue so as to enable to discover genetic variations at different loci. Figure 4 (ACP), shows that TGH buffer system could reveal only very feable enzyme activity in serum and liver tissue whereas all other five different tissues showed no activity of the enzyme at all. Similarly, a comparison of results obtained using other buffer systems (FIG. 5, APC, TVB) for resolving ACP from these same tissues, exhibited sufficient enzyme activity in all Thus the buffer system and the tissue showing as best source the tissues. of the required enzyme pattern were selected as standardized parameters in terms of total number of clear bands, staining intensity (IX, 2X, 3X) of individual bands and nature of separation and resolution (P, G, B) of bands as shown in the Table 4 (ACP, BOR). The results of such experimental standardization from all fourteen protein systems produced many valuable informations as depicted in the form of self explanatory photographs, figures and tables (FIG. 2-57; PLT. 3-13; TBL. 4-17).

The results of these standardization procedures in the present investigation suggest that all known protein systems may be present in all the tissues of an organism and their presence can be made visible, if a suitable standardized electrophoretic method is formulated by trail and error. The other important informations produced by the present standardized methods are that the same identified enzyme expressed specific electrophoretic patterns in almost all tissues either in terms of total number of bands or relative mobility (mm) of different bands or staining intensity of different bands or in combinations of any these factors (FIG. 2-57; PLT. 3-13; TBL. 4-17) etc. This is popularly known as tissue specific patterns of protein systems particularly in higher organisms. The occurrence of tissue specific protein patterns is a common phenomenon in vertebrate and invertebrate organisms (Tsuyuki et al., 1965a; Hongskul, 1968; Tsuyuki et al., 1968; Manohar and Velankar, 1973; Herzberg and Pasteure, 1975; Bhattacharya and Alfred, 1982; Salini and Shaklee, 1988). The present investigation also suggests that the visible degree of tissue specific variability of these enzymes may be due to fundamental differences in the physiological function of each of these tissues causing the observed tissue specific electrophoretic variability. It is interesting to observe that liver tissue was found as the best source of ten out of nineteen enzyme systems studied in the present investigation (TBL. 3). As liver is an important organ and plays a major role in various physiological functions of the organisms, all kinds of protein systems are expected to be naturally present in it. Therefore, liver may be considered as a better source of biochemical genetic variations. However, eye lens, muscle tissues and serum produced the best zymogram patterns for general proteins. These biochemical genetic characteristics detected by the standardized electrophoretic and histochemical staining techniques for the species are presented in the form of self explanatory photographs, figures and tables (FIG. 2-57; PLT. 3-13; TBL. The biochemical genetic characteristics of M. cephalus studied here 4-17). comprised of nine general protein loci and twelve enzyme loci of selected tissues (TBL. 21).

The results obtained clearly revealed the existence of high degree of variations in the biochemical genetic characteristics of the individuals of <u>M. cephalus</u> examined in the present investigation. Since the first discovery of three different human haemoglobin phenotype polymorphism and its demonstration by electrophoresis by Pauling <u>et al.</u> (1949), such variations, popularly known as biochemical genetic polymorphism, are found to be a common phenomenon in both invertebrate and vertebrate organisms. Using starch gel electrophoresis Smithies (1955) reported group variations in the serum proteins of normal human adults. The biochemical reason for the different electrophoretic behaviour of these haemoglobin phenotypes was later given by the British biochemist Ingram as differences in amino acid composition in the polypeptide chains by way of single amino acid substitution (Verma and Agarwal, 1978). Thus Ingram was able to modify the earlier one gene-one enzyme hypothesis put forward by Beadle and Tatum (1941) into one geneone polypeptide hypothesis. It was also proven beyond doubt that all proteins including enzymes in all organisms, irrespective of their structural and functional differences, are under the control of genes coded for them. It is also known that the proteins composed of amino acids form the structural basis of all organisms.

Twenty naturally occuring amino acids, in random combinations, can produce an infinite order of protein types to create the biological diversity detectable and visible at cellular, tissue and individual levels of the organi-Thus, proteins present in any organisms are an excellent source for sation. biochemical genetic investigation. Hence, to study the biochemical genetics of M. cephalus it was essential to examine as many proteins as practically possible in the present investigation. Twelve protein systems present in M. cephalus could be examined during the investigation period (TBL. 23). The major reason for selecting these twelve protein systems was that biochemical genetic techniques to obtain their zymogram patterns were already available in the published reports (Shaw and Koen, 1968; Smith, 1968; Brewer, 1970). These twelve protein systems studied in M. cephalus were identified as two general protein systems and ten enzyme protein systems.

In the present investigation on the biochemical population genetics of <u>M. cephalus</u> these essential basic data have been collected from different zymograms obtained for the species. The term "Zymogram" was given by Hunter and Markert (1957) to describe the coloured enzyme patterns detected by histochemical staining techniques on starch gel after electrophoresis which was already introduced by Smithies (1955). Markert and Muller (1959) suggested the word "Isozyme" for enzyme patterns thus obtained by the above techniques. As some of these "Isozymes" like Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) were found to exist in multiple forms. Wroblewski and Gregory described them as "Isoenzymes" (Latner and Skillen, 1968). As there appears to exist confusions in the use of these terms and as the objective of the present investigation was to study the biochemical genetics of <u>M. cephalus</u>, the common practical term enzyme systems was used to describe each enzymes studied here. Similarly, electrophoretic patterns of non-enzymatic and enzymatic proteins obtained are described as Zymogram patterns in the present investigation.

Since the discovery of high degree of enzyme polymorphism in natural populations of Drosophila (Lewontin and Hubby, 1966) and human populations (Harris, 1966), populations of different species including fishes have been found to show genetic polymorphism at a number enzymatic and non-enzymatic protein loci. Handy references on detection of different protein systems like "Chromatographic and Electrophoretic Techniques" (Smith, 1968) and "An Introduction to Isozyme Techniques" (Brewer, 1970) have enabled researchers to report polymorphism in a number of protein loci in both invertebrate and vertebrate species. Details of polymorphism detected and observed by these above mentioned techniques at 21 different loci in 12 different protein systems of sample populations of \underline{M} . cephalus studied in the present investigation are presented in the form of zymograms (FIG. 68-77; PLT. 22-29) and other details as shown in Table 23.

In a population sample all the expected genotypes need not be present. Besides, the frequency of each genotype can also vary among population And finally genotype frequencies depend on the present population samples. genetic structure and sample population size (Strickberger, 1968; Ayala and Kiger, 1980). These basic aspects of genotype distribution at particular locus are also reported by other investigators (Smith et al., 1978; 1980; Basiao and Taniguchi, 1984; Fevolden and Haug, 1988). The present interpretation of observed phenotypic variations as genotype variation at 21 presumed loci can be conclusively proved only by breeding experiment which is neither practical nor possible under the present investigation. The artificial hybridation experiments of species of salmonidae showed that parental muscle protein patterns are inherited by the hybrids (Tsuyuki and Robert, 1963). Numerous

reports of species and tissues specific phenotypes of general proteins are indirect evidences of genetic nature of muscle protein detected by various electrophoretic methods (Connel, 1953; Tsuyuki and Robert, 1963, 1966; Tsuyuki et al., 1965b, 1966a, 1966b, 1968; Mackie, 1968; Mackie and Jones, 1969; Kasinathan et al., 1972; Manohar and Velankar, 1973; Natarajan et al., 1975; Taniguchi and Sakata, 1977; Bhattacharya and Alfred, 1982). However it does not mean that every observed general protein variation is genotype Depending on developmental, physiological or variation. environmental conditions, certain fractions of muscle protein in certain species may show non-genetic differences. It is upto the researchers to observe, identify and differentiate such non-genetic variations present from that of genetic variations. Another important prerequisite in this respect is correct identification of the species to be investigated from similar species occuring in the same Such species specific and ontogenetic differentiations made in the area. present investigations are discussed first followed by the results obtained from each protein system.

5.1 SPECIES SPECIFIC BIOCHEMICAL GENETIC CHARACTERISTICS OF M. CEPHALUS

Mullet species are morphologically almost similar and hence correct identification of different species is a practical problem (Thompson, 1966; Luther, 1975; Rao, 1981). Accurate identification of species is a prerequisite in any form of fisheries research, particularly, in genetics. Therefore, it was important to study the species specific biochemical genetic characteristics of commonly available mullet species from local waters where from a sample of <u>M. cephalus</u> was also collected for the present investigation. A comparison of zymogram patterns obtained from twelve protein systems was made to reveal species specific characteristics of <u>M. cephalus</u>, <u>L. parsia</u> and <u>V. cunnesius</u> commonly available in Cochin (FIG. 58A - 62C; PLT. 14A -18B; TBL. 18). Though all these individual zymogram patterns showed species specific characteristics, the degree of variations and resemblances can be described in three different ways. First, a group of zymogram patterns which show distinct patterns for each of the three species. The first group consisted of patterns of ACP, ADH, GPD and SDH. The visible differences are mainly in the form of either the total number of bands or their distinct electrophoretic positions or by both (FIG. 58A, B, 59D, 62B; PLT. 14A, B, 15D, 18B; TBL. 18). The second group consisted of species specific distinct zymogram patterns shown only between any two species. These patterns were ADO, ALD, AKP, EST, GDH, LDH (E), LDH (M), MDH, ODH, PRO (E), PRO (M) and PDH (FIG. 58C, D, 59A-C, 60A-D, 61A, B, 62A, C; PLT. 14C, D, 15A-C, 16A-D, 17A, B, 18A; TBL. 18). In the second group, the differences are also caused by either the number or electrophoretic position of the bands or by both. The results show more resemblances between L. parsia and V. cunnesius than between either of these and M. cephalus. Whether the L. parsia and V. cunnesius are genetically more closer than M. cephalus is a phylogenetic question to be investigated in terms of interspecies genetic distance. The third group is composed of those patterns showing much resemblances between the zymogram patterns of two species with sufficient minor variations still showing their species specific characteristics.

This is probably the first report of comparison of seventeen different protein systems consisting of fifteen enzymes and two general proteins in these three species. The species specific genetic informations made available in the present investigation should help in any future biochemical genetic research programmes in these three species. In this respect the preliminary informations recorded in the dissertations work of Mary (1985) and Prag (1984) are also to be considered. Mary (1985) observed species specific electrophoretic patterns of muscle proteins and seven enzymes in M. cephalus and L. parsia. Similarly Prag (1984) also observed tissue specific and species specific electrophoretic patterns in L. parsia. There are numerous reports of species specific biochemical genetic characteristics revealed by gel electrophoretic techniques. Tsuyuki et al. (1968) reported species specific protein differences in scorpaenid Tsuyuki et al. (1965b) reported species specificity and constancy of fishes. muscle and haemoglobin in fishes. Sulya et al. (1961) reported species specific plasma protein of fishes including M. cephalus and M. curema from the Gulf

of Maxico. Similarly Senkevich and Kulikova (1970) reported species specific serum protein patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u>, <u>L. salines</u> and <u>L. aurata</u>. Herzberg and Pasteur (1975) were able to provide species identification key for mullet species of the eastern Meditarenian waters based on differences in electrophoretic pattern of muscle protein. Rao (1981) reported species specific electrophoretic patterns of LDH in seven species of Mugilidae. He also reported species specific electrophoretic pattern of Alcohol Dehydrogenase, Esterase and Muscle protein in three species of mugilidae.

A comparison of electrophoretic patterns of esterase, alcohol dehydrogenase and general protein of muscle and eye lens reported in M. cephalus by Rao (1981) with that of the present investigation shows some differences. He reported one banded esterase in heart tissue whereas two banded esterase was observed in the present investigation. The possible cause for showing the pattern difference must be due to differences in the methodology adopted in these two investigations. In the case of alcohol dehydrogenase the patterns reported by Rao (1981) and the patterns observed in the present investigation are almost similar. In this case, the methodology followed is almost same. However, the patterns of muscle proteins reported in M. cephalus by Rao (1981) showed considerable difference in the number of bands compared to that of the present investigation, it being seven and fifteen respectively. The major reason for the difference must be due to different buffer systems used in these two cases, namely, Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) gel electrophrosis in the former and Tris-Glycine-HCl Buffer system in the latter.

The electrophoretic patterns of LDH eye lens in <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> as reported by Rao (1981) and observed in the present investigation is identical, it being five banded isoenzyme patterns. However Rao (1981) reported a single banded LDH in muscle whereas two bands were observed in the present investigation in <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u>. The difference in these two results may be due to size differences of the specimens used in these two experiments. Because, muscle LDH pattern in <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> was observed as size dependent upto certain size in the present investigation. The specimen measuring and tested up to 10 cm as having a single band and in specimen measuring 28.5 cm and above two bands. All these above reports, particularly, the present report of species specific patterns of fifteen enzyme systems and two general protein systems prove, beyond doubt, that biochemical genetic characteristics can readily solve apparent taxanomic problems found especially in the family Mugilidae.

5.2 ONTOGENETIC VARIATION

In biochemical genetic investigations, zymogram patterns of different proteins and enzymes presumed to be under the control of independent locus are compared to collect basic data required for computation of genotype frequencies between populations. A possible error in scoring phenotype variations as genotype variations can occur, due to developmental or ontogenetic variations produced by differences in size, sex, maturity stages or even environmental factors. In the present investigation, precautions were taken to avoid scoring such phenotype variation possibly produced by the above mentioned factors. Only consistant patterns expected according to codominant allelic variations were scored and interpreted as genetic variations. As a precaution, the eye lens and muscle protein systems which contributed nine polymorphic loci out of seventeen polymeric loci studied in M. cephalus were compared in different size groups. The eye lens protein patterns are shown in Figure 66 and Plate 21A. The results showed that specimens measuring 2.6 to 3.1 cm (Group III) were lacking certain protein fractions expected at five loci regions as observed in larger specimens used for scoring genotype However, size 9.5 to 10.0 cm (Group II) started showing expected variation. patterns as lightly stained bands. The lightly stained bands of smaller size became well stained thick bands in size 28.5 cm and above (Group I). Thus the ontogenetic effects, if were any, started disappearing from about 10 cm size (FIG. 66; PLT. 21A). The specimens tested for biochemical genetic variation in the present study were all above 15 cm. Similar size associated variation in eye lens protein in M. cephalus from Hawaii with regard to a particular fraction was reported by Peterson and Shehadeh (1971). Such size dependent eye lens protein variations in M. cephalus was also suspected by Bhosle (1977).

Muscle general protein patterns in <u>M. cephalus</u> were also compared in different size groups as in the case of eye lens protein mentioned above. The results are shown in Figure 67 and Plate 21B. In specimens measuring 2.6 cm the bands appeared to be very lightly stained though all the expected fractions at four loci are visible to certain extent indicating lesser quantities of protein in each fraction. However in specimen measuring 3.1 cm upwards the patterns were almost same as expected showing increased staining of the fractions. However, in size above 10 cm, the last fifth fraction which was lightly stained in 2.6 cm but strongly stained in 3.1-9.5 cm group appeared to be stained very lightly again indicating much lesser quantity of protein. Similar observations were made by Herzberg and Pasteur (1975) in juvaniles of <u>M. cephalus</u>, and <u>L. aurata</u>. The fast moving fraction decreased in intensity with growth and disappeared entirely in adult.

Though the LDH pattern in eye lens in <u>M. cephalus</u> tested here was consistantly five banded in all larger specimens tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa, in specimens measuring 2.6 to 3.1 cm only one lightly stained band was present occupying the position of first slow band of five banded pattern (FIG. 64; PLT. 20A). The LDH enzyme being a tetramer showed five isoenzyme fractions in hybrid molecule. The presence of a single fraction at the slowest band position in smaller specimen mentioned above appears to suggest the enzyme present in eye lens in <u>M. cephalus</u> may be comparable to LDH A subunit identified in higher vertebrates.

A comparison of muscle LDH pattern in <u>M. cephalus</u> measuring different sizes indicated some ontogenetic differences as shown in the Figure 65 and Plate 20B and it is distinctly different from that of eye lens. The LDH enzyme activity in specimen measuring 2.6 cm was represented by a single lightly stained band which in specimens measuring 3.1 cm showed increased staining activity indicating increased amount of enzyme. In specimens measuring 9.5 and 10.0 cm the band in the same position, as in the small specimen, showed more enzyme activity and also showing a lightly stained additional slower moving fraction. In specimen measuring 28.5 cm there were two bands instead of a single band at the same identical position where highly
stained single band was observed in small specimen. Thus there appeared to be some form of ontogenetic variation in LDH enzyme in eye lens and muscle tissues in M. cephalus until a particular stage of its development.

A comparison of phenotype patterns of Alkaline Phosphatase in three different size groups of -M. cephalus showed variations that appeared to be size dependent (FIG. 63; PLT. 19). The group 15.5 to 17 cm showed enzyme activity at 15 to 25 mm gel area whereas the second group 15.5 to 19.5 cm showed enzyme activity at 10 to 15 mm whereas in larger size group 31 - 31.5 cm, the enzyme was active at 8 to 10 mm gel area only. Thus these phenotype variations indicated higher amount of Alkaline Phosphatase in smaller M. cephalus specimens. These ontogenetic informations gathered at the initial phase of the investigation enabled to avoid possible errors in the genetic interpretations presented here. The phenotype variations interpreted as genetic variations are discussed below at different headings.

5.3 GENERAL PROTEINS

5.3.1 EYE LENS PROTEIN (PRO (E))

The zymogram patterns of eye lens proteins in <u>M. cephalus</u> population samples from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 74 and Plate 27. Zymogram patterns of eye lens in each region showed phenotype variations at particular gel area. These phenotype variations known as polymorphisms were presumed as biochemical genetic variations produced by a particular protein locus designated as PRO (E). Such locus controlled eye lens proteins are common in fishes and have been reported in a number of other vertebrate organisms (Smith, 1962, 1966a, 1966b, 1969, 1971, 1990; Barrett and Williams, 1967; Smith and Goldstein, 1967; Eckroat and Wright, 1969; Peterson and Smith, 1969; Peterson and Shehadeh, 1971; Menezes, 1976a, 1976b; Rao and Dhulked, 1976; Bhosle, 1977; Smith and Jamieson, 1980.

A general comparison of observed phenotype variations in all the three regions enabled to identify five independent loci responsible for all protein bands observed in all the three regions (FIG. 74; PLT.27). A variation of this nature and order is also not a rare phenomenon. Eye lens proteins having a monomeric structure and two alleles can produce three genotypes. A visual comparison of observed eye lens protein genotypes at five independent loci in M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa revealed significant differences between these populations (FIG. 74; PLT. 27). Though the first eye lens protein locus, PRO (E)-I was monomorphic in Cochin and Orissa, it was polymorphic in Madras. Though the second locus of eye lens protein, PRO(E)-II was polymorphic in Madras and Orissa, it was monomorphic again in Cochin. Monomorphism at these two loci appears to be due to the fixed allele designated as slow (S) in the respective regions. On the other hand at the fourth eye lens protein locus, PRO (E)-IV, the fixed allele occured in Madras and Orissa was designated as fast (F). The fourth locus was polymorphic only in Cochin population where both alleles were present. Interestingly, the third and fifth loci were polymorphic in all the three regions. Thus the observed presence or absence of polymorphism in one or more of the five loci of eye lens proteins in three different populations of M. cephalus suggests that they may be genetically different populations.

These genotype differences or resemblances were again reflected by the corresponding gene frequencies estimated for all the five loci (TBL. 21). Some striking gene frequency differences are noticeable between Cochin and Madras, Cochin and Orissa and between Madras and Orissa. For example when first two loci are monomorphic with cent percent S genes in Cochin there is only ninety per cent S genes in Madras. Similarly, fourth locus in Cochin was polymorphic with seventy five percent \mathbf{F} allele whereas it was monomorphic with cent percent F allele in Madras and Orissa (TBL. 21). Again considerable gene frequency differences occured between Cochin and Orissa with reference to second, fourth and fifth locus. An additional difference between Cochin and Orissa is also reflected by the type of predominant allele present in these two regions at fifth locus. When S allele was predominant in Cochin it was F in Orissa. Though gene frequency differences exist between Madras and Orissa at loci-I, II, III and V it was of lesser degree than that between Cochin and Madras.

This is for the first time a detailed investigation on the biochemical genetic nature of eye lens general proteins of M. cephalus of India from three distant regions was carried out. The only known published report on eye lens protein variations in M. cephalus from India is that of Bhosle (1977). As his methodology was different as well as information reported being preliminary in nature, his data cannot be compared with that of the present detailed studies. Bhosle (1977) has just reported five different eye lens protein patterns based on total number of bands and described these as three, four and five banded phenotypes. His final conclusion was that these different patterns suggest heterogeneity or intraspecies polymorphism in M. cephalus. The few specimens tested appear to be from Goa region. Depending on the sample population, seven to ten variable phenotypes were observed in the present investigation (TBL. 23). Based on eye lens protein variation, Peterson and Shehadeh (1971) also reported five phenotypes in M. cephalus from Hawaii. He suspected sub-population differences in M. cephalus in Hawaiian waters. His conclusion was again based on mere differences of total number of eye lens protein bands detected on cellulose acetate paper as Bhosle (1977) also used for his investigation of M. cephalus from Goa water. These differences reported by these two authors were not analysed at gene loci level as genotypes Nevertheless, these two reports indicated that eye and their frequencies. lens protein in M. cephalus may be a potential biochemical genetic marker for identifying its different genetic stocks. It is interesting that Peterson and Shehadeh (1971) and Bhosle (1977) using same cellulose acetate medium got only five bands in two geographically distant populations. The cellulose acetate paper used by these authors being a ready made paper and resolves and separates only major bands the resemblances in their results are not surprising inspite of the populations tested are from two far away geographical On comparisons, the eye lens protein variations in regions. M. cephalus reported in the present investigation are more informative and superior. Because a total of thirteen genotypes out of fifteen expected were discovered in different populations of M. cephalus tested from three regions (TBL. 23) in the present investigation. These basic informations are of fundamental

importance and essentially required for biochemical genetic characterisation of the species from its different geographical regions. Hongskul (1968) reported genetic stock differences in M. cephalus populations from east and west coast of Australia. Serum protein showed genetic polymorphism at a particular locus in east coast whereas it appeared to be non-polymorphic in the western population. Similar genetic situations were observed in the present investigation in M. cephalus in different loci, namely, absence of polymorphisms at PRO (E) -I in Cochin and Orissa populations whereas polymorphism at the same locus in Madras population. Again, PRO (E) II was polymorphic in both Madras and Orissa populations, whereas it was non-polymorphic in Cochin. PRO (E) IV was polymorphic in Cochin whereas it was non-polymorphic in Madras and Orissa. Similar genetic differences observed in muscle protein loci in M. cephalus studied in the present investigation are discussed elsewhere.

The biochemical genetic characteristics of eye lens protein have been investigated and applied at inter and intra species levels of various species of fishes (Smith, 1962, 1965, 1966a, 1966b, 1969, 1970, 1971; Barrett and Williams, 1967; Smith and Goldstein, 1967; Eckroat and Wright, 1969; Peterson and Smith, 1969; Menezes, 1976a, 1976b; Smith and Jameison, 1980). Intraspecies variations in eye lens protein reported in fishes like yellow tuna Thunnus albacares (Smith, 1965), Ocean White fish Caulolatilus princeps (Smith and Goldstein, 1967), brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis (Eckroat and Wright, 1969), sand bar shark Carcharhinus milberti (Peterson and Smith, 1969) and mackerel On the other hand absence of scad Decapterus pinnuatus (Smith, 1969b). intraspecies variations were also reported in many fishes like Atlantic mackerel (Smith, 1962; Barrett and Williams, 1967; Menezes, 1976a; Smith and Jamieson, 1980; Smith et al., 1981b). All these above reports on eye lens protein in fishes reveal its potential as a genetic tag in solving problems associated with different levels of species organisation.

5.3.2 MUSCLE PROTEIN (PRO (M))

The second protein system in <u>M. cephalus</u> that has been investigated in the present study is muscle protein or myogen. The muscle protein zymograms obtained for individual population samples from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are shown in the Figure 75 and Plate 28. An overall comparison of all the muscle protein zymograms for these three regions revealed intraspecies polymorphisms controlled by four presumed independent loci. The very nature of muscle protein genotypes and distributions of gene frequencies indicate strong genetic differences among three populations. The presences of high polymorphism at PRO (M) I with three genotypes (S, SF and F) in Madras and absence of polymorphisms at the same locus in Cochin and Orissa indicate strong genetic differences between these populations (TBL.23). Though the monomorphic allele in both Cochin and Orissa was the same F allele, these two populations have to be considered as genetically different. Because these two monomorphic populations are situated at two distant latitudinal regions with polymorphic Madras population in the middle latitude. Similar but more important evidence of strong genetic differences existing among these three populations are clearly indicated by muscle protein locus PRO (M) IV. Though, Madras population is polymorphic, Cochin and Orissa populations are monomorphic for the same locus. On the contrary the monomorphic allele in Cochin and Orissa are entirely different, these being S allele in Cochin and F allele in Orissa (TBL. 23). Another striking genetic difference that clearly separates Madras population from that of Cochin and Orissa is that all four muscle protein loci are highly polymorphic in Madras while only two are polymorphic in Cochin and Orissa. Thus significant difference observed in the distribution of various genotypes in four muscle protein loci of M. cephalus suggests that its populations in Cochin, Madras and Orissa are genetically different stocks.

It also appears that this is the first report on the discovery of muscle protein polymorphism in <u>M. cephalus</u> species and its application in the identification of its different genetic stocks. Intraspecies muscle protein variations have been reported in many other fish species like <u>Chanos chanos</u> (Winans, 1980), <u>Lates calcarifer</u> (Salini and Shaklee, 1988). The present finding of muscle protein variation in <u>M. cephalus</u> while corroborating similar phenomenon in other species revealed its potential as a genetic marker in fish stock differentiation. Jamieson and Turner (1980) applied muscle protein genetic differences to distinguish anguilla species of American and European origin. Tsuyuski <u>et al.</u> (1965a, 1965b) reported species specificity and consistency of muscle protein in numerous fish species and its application in biochemical systematics of fishes.

5.4 ENZYMES

5.4.1 ACID PHOSPHATASE (ACP)

Acid Phosphatase second locus (ACP II) appeared to be a suitable genetic marker for differentiating genetic differences in M. cephalus populations examined in the present investigation (FIG. 68; PLT. 22). An overall comparison of different zymogram patterns of Acid Phosphatase second locus revealed the existence of five phenotypes and four alleles (S, S1, F, F1). Maximum number of four alleles observed among twenty one loci examined in M. cephalus is at ACP II locus. When all these four alleles were present in Orissa population only two in Cochin and three in Madras were observed. In these four alleles S and S1 appear to be rare alleles. Though these two rare alleles were present in Orissa, only S allele was present in Madras and none in Cochin. In this regard, these three populations appear to be genetically different. The other two alleles F and F1 though present in all the three populations, considerable frequency differences of a particular allele, in a particular population, also suggest that these three populations are genetically different. The predominant allele in Cochin (58%) and in Orissa (64%) was F1 whereas the allele F was predominant in Madras (62%) (TBL. 21). Though the frequency of the predominant F1 allele in Cochin and Orissa is nearly similar, the presence of another different predominant allele, namely, F in Madras keeps Cochin and Orissa populations, as already discussed in the case of muscle protein (PRO (M)), without mixing in genetic sense. Thus these three populations are isolated and genetically different.

Though several fish species have been investigated by others for detecting genetic variant forms of acid phosphatase, it has been reported as monomorphic in Cichlids (Kornfield and Koehn, 1975), guppy (Shami and Beardmore, 1978), trout (Wishard et al., 1980), halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988) and perch (Seeb and Gunderson, 1988). On the other hand many crustaceans like penaeid spp. (Mulley and Latter, 1980), P. kerathurus and P. japonicus (De Matthaeis, et al., 1983), P. indicus and P. stylifera (Philip Samuel, 1987) rock lobster (Smith et al., 1980) and lobster (Tracey et al., 1975b) showed polymorphism at acid phosphatase locus. Philip Samuel (1987) found different gene frequencies for acid phosphatase between Cochin and Bombay populations of P. stylifera whereas its frequencies were similar in other populations of P. stylifera and that of P. indicus. These reports and findings of the present investigation suggest that acid phosphatase can become a potential biochemical genetic marker for stock differentiation of both fishes and shell fishes.

Philip Samuel (1987) reported two banded ACP heterozygote as having a monomeric enzyme structure. Similar patterns were observed in the present study of enzyme in <u>M. cephalus</u>. However, it is also known that acid phosphatase exhibit a dimeric enzyme structure having three banded heterozygote. Similar variations reported in other enzymes as observed in the present investigation have been discussed in the section aldolase.

5.4.2 ALDEHYDE OXIDASE (ADO)

Aldehyde Oxidase (ADO) was also found highly polymorphic in <u>M.cephalus</u> with two alleles (FIG. 69 and PLT. 23A). Its gene frequencies were same in both Cochin and Madras populations having a frequency of 0.63 and 0.37 in each population. However, it was considerably different in Orissa population having equal frequencies for both alleles (TBL. 21). Thus the gene frequency difference at ADO locus could indicate the genetic heterogeneity of Orissa population. The available reports on biochemical genetic studies in other fishes show that ADO was not investigated as a potential genetic marker. It has been studied in detail in Drosophila (Ayala <u>et al.</u>, 1974). It has been found monomorphic in many marine crustaceans (Lester, 1979, 1983; Fuller and Lester, 1980; Redfield <u>et al.</u>, 1980; De Matthaeis <u>et al.</u>, 1983) as reported by Philip Samuel (1987). However, it was found polymorphic in <u>P. indicus</u> showing two alleles with two banded heterozygote showing monomeric structure for the enzyme (Philip Samuel, 1987) as also observed in <u>M. cephalus</u> studied here.

5.4.3 ALDOLASE (ALD)

Aldolase (ALD) enzyme in M. cephalus was found polymorphic in Cochin and Orissa and monomorphic in Madras. Lack of polymorphism at ALD locus in Madras and its highly polymorphic nature in Cochin and Orissa indicates significant genetic difference of M. cephalus population in Madras (FIG. 70; PLT. 23B). This finding strongly supports similar genetic difference indicated by esterase locus discussed elsewhere. Though both slow and fast aldolase alleles were present in Cochin and Orissa, considerable differences in the aldolase allele frequencies between Cochin and Orissa also suggest that these two populations may be genetically different stocks as also revealed by esterase locus discussed later. The predominant allele F had a frequency of 0.54 in Cochin whereas it was 0.76 in Orissa (TBL. 21). Besides, the middle geographical position of monomorphic Madras population should keep polymorphic populations of Cochin and Orissa as genetically isolated as also discussed at certain other loci.

Aldolase enzyme appears to have not been well investigated in other species of fishes. It was found monomorphic in lake trout (Dehring <u>et al.</u>, 1981). Its distribution in different tissues of yellow tail (<u>Seriola quinqueradiate</u>), flat fish (<u>Microstoma kitaharae</u>), swell fish (<u>Spheroids pardalis</u>) and sea bream (<u>Sebastodes matsubarae</u>) was reported (Takeo, 1970). It was monomorphic in limulus (Selander <u>et al.</u>, 1970) halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988). Its distribution in <u>Tilapia zillii</u> showed five banded in white muscle and kidney whereas brain showed only a single band (Cruz <u>et al.</u>, 1982). Philip Samuel (1987) studied aldolase enzyme variations in marine prawn species. He reported monomeric three alleles in <u>P. indicus</u>. Other prawn species showing aldolase allele variations was <u>P. japonicus</u> (De Matthaeis <u>et al.</u>, 1983). A comparison of heterozygote structure of aldolase in the present investigation with that of Philip Samuel (1987), De Matthaeis et al. (1983) shows similar monomeric enzyme structure. However, aldolase (E.C. 1.2.13) was reported as tetrameric, mainly in mammals (Ward, 1978). However, it is not unusual to observe a different subunit structure in different species and in different tissues in Similarly malic enzyme a tetramer in mammals reported the same species. as monomer in fish (Frydenberg and Simonsen, 1973) and amphibian (Hedgecock and Ayala, 1974). Glucose-6-phosphate Dehydrogenase a dimer in mammals was found as tetramer in fish and amphibian (Yamauchi and Goldberg, 1973; Hori et al., 1975). Superoxide dimutase in man also exists as dimer and tetramer (Harris et al., 1977; Ward, 1977). All these reports as mentioned in Ward (1978) suggest that expression of chemical structure of enzyme or isoenzyme can vary from species to species and even between loci within the same individual.

5.4.4 ESTERASE (EST)

The zymogram patterns of esterase enzyme system in heart tissue of populations of M. cephalus tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa showed genetic polymorphism at its single locus (FIG. 71; PLT. 24A). Though Cochin and Orissa populations showed two of the three expected genotypes, Madras population possessed its characteristic single homozygous genotype (SS). The absence of fast homozygous genotype (FF) and heterozygous genotype (SF) in Madras populations thus suggests population of M. cephalus in Madras may be fixed for SS homozygous genotype and hence it may be genetically different from other two populations. The chances of discovering other two expected genotypes on further screening of larger population sample cannot be ruled However, as all the forty eight specimens tested from Madras being out. the same SS genotype, the Madras population may be naturally devoid of This reasonable assumption is further strengthened other two genotypes. by the fact that forty eight specimens from Cochin and Orissa showed all the three genotypes with their distribution in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium condition. Besides, the above assumption of distinct genetic nature of Madras population is again strongly supported by other loci ALD and PRO (E) as

discussed earlier. Though <u>M. cephalus</u> populations of Cochin and Orissa showed two and three expected genotype respectively, that too, in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, these two populations possessed characteristic gene frequencies. The predominant allele in Cochin was slow **S** allele (83%) whereas it was fast **F** allele (87%) in Orissa (TBL. 21). These significant gene frequency differences indicate that populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> in Cochin and Orissa also are genetically different stocks. Thus the population characteristic fixed esterase allele in Madras and significant differences in the nature of predominant alleles in Cochin and Orissa indicate that <u>M. cephalus</u> populations in Cochin, Madras and Orissa are experiencing some form of reproductive isolation.

Altukhov (1981) detected similar reproductive isolation in populations of salmon (Oncorhynchus spp.) and red fish (Sebastes) based on esterase gene frequency differences. His testing the gene frequencies of these populations year after year also showed the same consistant degree of gene frequency differences indicating these populations are reproductively isolated. Avise and Smith (1974) detected significant gene frequency differences at esterase locus in blue gill Lepomis macrochirus as an evidence of genetic heterogeneity between reservoirs of the same drainage system. Stable genetic heterogeneity and reproductive isolation of local populations were detected by Altukhov (1981) in Pacific salmon and other salmon species by applying many enzyme gene frequencies including that of esterase. Krieg and Guyomard (1985) reported large genetic heterogeneity in brown trout (Salmo trutta) population based on many gene frequency differences including that of esterase. The nature of esterase showing two alleles designated as 100 and 105 in brown trout was identical to the type observed in M. cephalus. The 105 esterase allele was fixed in population No.19 while it was only the predominant allele (65%) in population No.20. Utter (1969) considered significant gene frequency differences calculated at esterase locus at a level of 0.603 and 0.828 between two populations of Pacific hake Merluccius productus as genetic stock differ-Significant gene frequency differences in esterase locus enabled Smith ences. et al. (1978) to identify two distinct genetic stocks in New Zealand snapper Chrysophrys auratus.

71 and Plate 24A show esterase phenotype patterns observed Figure in homozygous and heterozygous condition. Homozygous showed two bands and heterozygous showed three bands suggesting a dimeric enzyme structure for the heart esterase in M. cephalus. The esterase enzyme activity was detected using alpha napthyl acetate as substrate. Similar two banded homozygote and three banded as well as four banded heterozygotes were reported at EST locus 3 in the bluegill (Avise and Smith 1974). Usually alpha napthyl acetate esterase shows a monomeric enzyme structure. However, it was reported as dimeric in nature in mammals (Ward, 1978). Moreover, in certain species esterase enzyme appear to be monomorphic in particular locus in one tissue and dimeric in another locus in another tissue (Salini and Shaklee, 1988). Similarly, single banded and double banded homozygotes were reported at esterase loci I and II respectively in the same tissue (Avise and Smith 1974). Thus the subunit structure of esterase appears to vary even within the species and between the species. As the objective of the present investigation was to apply these enzyme patterns as genetic markers to differentiate the genetic stocks of the species studied, no attempt was made to characterise chemical structure of the esterase enzyme with reference to different enzyme substrate and other chemical factors.

5.4.5 ALPHA -GLYCEROPHOSPHATE DEHYDROGENASE (GPD)

Alpha-Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPD) was found highly polymorphic in nature in all the three populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> (FIG. 72; PLT. 24B). However allelic frequencies were sufficiently different to consider each population as genetically different. The predominant allele in Madras and Orissa was different, it being **F** allele (0.56) and **S** allele (0.62) in respective regions (TBL 21). The frequencies of **S** and **F** allele were equal in Cochin. Johnson <u>et al.</u> (1970) reported genetic variation of GPD in Pacific Ocean perch (<u>Sebastodes alutus</u>). The genotype variations showed a diallelic polymorphism with a dimeric structure of enzyme. They suggested its variations as potential genetic markers for differentiation of genetic stocks. The present findings of alpha-glycerophosphate dehydrogenase polymorphism in <u>M. cephalus</u> also agree well with a diallelic and dimeric structure of the enzyme. This assumption is based on the single banded homozygote and three banded heterozygote. Wishard <u>et al.</u> (1980) studying biochemical genetic characteristics of native trout populations observed gene frequency differences in GPD enzyme in one of the hatchery population indicating its genetic heterogeneity. Similarly, Krieg and Guyomard (1985) also observed considerable gene frequency differences among French trout populations (Salmon trutta) revealing genetic heterogeneity. Based on significant gene frequencies in alpha-glycerophosphate dehydrogenase Busack <u>et al.</u> (1980) were able to differentiate genetically different Eagle Lake trout populations from other trout populations of other regions. Some populations showed two allelic polymorphism while others were found fixed for a particular allele.

Allendorf and Phelps (1981) was able to differentiate rainbow trout and cutthroat trout population using differences in frequencies of a particular Smith et al. (1981b) reported almost similar low level gene allele of GPD. nine regional populations of New Zealand hoki frequencies of GPD in Macruronus novaezelandiae. Guyomard (1981) and Thompson (1985) reported considerable gene frequency differences in GPD between different trout strains. Basiao and Taniguchi (1984) showed allelic differences in GPD between two Japanese stocks of tilapias. Two species were found fixed for different alleles. Taniguchi et al. (1983) were able to differentiate wild and hatchery populations of black sea bream by observing allelic frequency differences of GPD. It was polymorphic in wild population but monomorphic in artificially bred populations. McAndrew and Majumdar (1983) found GPD allele frequency differences as potential markers to identify different closely allied stocks of tilapia species. Koljonen (1986) found considerable differences in the GPD allelic frequencies of different rainbow trout strains of Finland. Sumantadinata and Taniguchi (1990) observed significant allelic frequencies differences in GPD between carp stocks of Indonesia and Japan. Thus GPD enzyme appears to be more polymorphic in nature than many other enzymes considered in all these reports including the present report on M. cephalus. It was also found polymorphic even in the so called phylogentic relic like the horseshoe crab, limulus (Selander et al., 1970). The genetic nature of GPD was also

substantiated by the report of its inheritance in the genetic cross experiment in the pink salmon by Aspinwall (1973).

5.4.6 OCTANOL DEHYDROGENASE (ODH)

Though Octanol Dehydrogenase (ODH) enzyme was found to be polymorphic in M. cephalus populations all the expected three genotypes were found only in Orissa population giving an allelic frequencies of 0.57 and 0.43 for F and S alleles respectively. Cochin and Madras populations showed only three banded heterozygote phenotypes thus showing equal frequencies for both alleles in these two regions (0.50) (TBL. 21). The presence of all the three phenotypes with different allelic frequencies in Orissa and absence of homozygous phenotypes in Cochin and Madras indicate that M. cephalus in Orissa is genetically different from that of Cochin and Madras (FIG. 73; PLT. 26). Reports on the application of ODH enzyme for genetic differentiation of fish populations are not many. Stoneking et al. (1981) reported significant ODH gene frequency differences between northern and southern populations of brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis. The ODH enzyme was also found polymorphic at very low level in two species of shark. Its gene frequencies were not different between the populations of each shark species (Lavery and Shaklee, 1989). It was found monomorphic in guppy (Shami and Beardmore, 1978) and halibut (Fevolden and Haug, 1988). It was found polymorphic, in P. indicus with three banded heterozygote (Philip Samuel, 1987). The enzyme was also found polymorphic in many other penaeid prawns (Mulley and Latter, 1980; Richardson, 1982b) as reported by Philip Samuel (1987). The presence of single banded homozygous and three banded heterozygous phenotypes in the present study of M. cephalus also shows that ODH is a dimeric enzyme.

5.4.7 PYRROLINE DEHYDROGENASE (PDH)

The pattern of allelic frequencies of Pyrroline Dehydrogenase (PDH) in three populations of <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa strongly suggests that these three populations are genetically different. The phenotype scored as heterozygote was having more than double the enzyme

activity of homozygous type. Thus homozygous was narrow banded and heterozygous broad banded. The population from Madras showed only the presumed heterozygous phenotype whereas Cochin and Orissa showed both homozygous and heterozygous phenotypes (FIG. 76; PLT. 29). Thus the allelic frequencies in Madras was equal whereas it was unequal namely 0.83 for S allele and 0.17 for F allele in Cochin and almost similar frequencies in Orissa (TBL. 21). The Madras population with considerable gene frequency differences occupies latitudinally almost the middle position with respect to Cochin and Orissa population. It naturally suggests geographical and genetic isolation of these three populations. The same natural situation was present at general protein locus PRO (M) III discussed elsewhere. Reports on the genetic variability of PDH enzyme are also not many. Probably this is the first report on its zymogram patterns from a fish. Philip Samuel (1987) reported monomorphic PDH in P. indicus and P. stylifera. It was found not very active in larval stages of P. esculentus and P. semisulcatus (Lavery and Staples, 1990).

5.4.8 TETRAZOLIUM OXIDASE (TZO)

The Tetrazolium Oxidase (TZO) enzyme activity reported in the present study of M. cephalus was observed along with aldolase enzyme phenotypes in liver tissue. As gel area of TZO enzyme activities were different from that of aldolase, scoring its phenotypes was not difficult. The TZO enzyme activities could be recognised not as coloured band but as colourless bleached area. As shown in the Figure 77 the TZO phenotype moved faster than aldolase TZO enzyme activity was also observed along with many other enzyme. enzyme tested in the present study like ADH, ADO, ODH etc. The TZO enzyme is also known as indophenol oxidase or superoxide dimutase (Hopkinson However due to some unknown reason the TZO enzyme was et al., 1976). not shown in most of the specimens from Orissa. Hence, the comparison of its polymorphic variation could be made only between Cochin and Madras. The enzyme showed two phenotypes namely, homozygous slow phenotype S in the form of a small band and heterozygote phenotype SF in the form of a large band. Here, again, as in the case of PDH, the difference between

homozygote and heterozygote was in the size of the band, the homozygote having a single dose and the heterozygote having a double dose enzyme acti-The genotype frequencies of the enzyme were identical in both Cochin vity. and Madras populations. From the width of the homozygote and heterozygote enzyme activity the TZO enzyme structure appears to be dimeric in nature as reported in many other fish species where the heterozygote was reported as three banded (Shami and Beardmore, 1978; Smith et al., 1980; Guyomard, 1981). However it was also reported as two banded heterozygote in marine prawns (Mulley and Latter, 1980; Philip Samuel 1987) and four banded in European hake (Mangaly and Jamieson, 1978). Though TZO is dimeric, it can vary in its zymogram expression of heterozygote structure as also observed in the case of esterase enzyme discussed earlier. The reason for the apparent absence of TZO in M. cephalus from Orissa may be associated with experimental causes like weak activity of the enzyme itself and, therefore, was not visible enough for easy detection. Another reason may be that the active area of the enzyme was masked by the staining background. Yet another possible reason may be that the genetic stock structure difference of Orissa population might have affected its detection. A repeated testing of a large sample from Orissa alone will reveal the real cause of its absence in the present investigation.

5.4.9 GENERAL ASPECTS

In biochemical genetic investigation, it is also important to report whether distribution of observed genotypes at each locus in each population is according to the expected genotype distribution estimated as per the Hardy-Weinberg Law of genotype distribution (Ayala and Kiger, 1980; Utter, 1987). A comparison of the observed and expected genotype distributions in seventeen gene loci tested in <u>M. cephalus</u> showed significant deviation with P values between just less than P < 0.01 and more than P > 0.001 with different degrees of freedom at about nine loci (TBL. 23). These significant deviations are caused mainly by excess of heterozygotes in nineteen places out of twenty four compared for the purpose (TBL. 25). As it is well known that HardyWeinberg equilibrium condition between observed and expected genotype frequencies can occur only in an ideal population structure or an ideal statistical situation which is not affected by the factors such as mutation, migration, genetic drift and selection etc. The occurrence of excess of homozygotes or heterozygotes or otherwise their deficiencies in certain loci is not a rare phenomenon in species of fishes, crustaceans and molluses as reported by many investigators. It is interesting to note that in most of these reports deviation from H.W. equilibrium condition is due to excess of homozygotes or deficiency of heterozygotes. For example, excess of homozygotes reported in anchovies, stolephorus spp. and spratelloides spp. (Daly and Richardson, 1980), <u>Chanos chanos</u> (Winans, 1980), mackerel (Smith <u>et al.</u>, 1981a) marine molluses (Singh and Green, 1984; Zouros and Foltz, 1984), marine prawns <u>P. indicus and P. stylifera</u> (Philip Samuel, 1987) and sharks (Lavery and Shaklee, 1989).

A few reports of significant deviation from H.W. equilibrium condition due to excess of heterozygotes are also available as observed in the present investigation. Report of excess of heterozygotes in eye lens protein in locus in M. cephalus population from Hawaii (Peterson and Shehadeh, 1971) is strikingly interesting and important. Similar excess of heterozygotes was also observed in eye lens protein in M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa as reported in the present investigation. These identical situation of excess of heterozygotes in M. cephalus tested by two different investigators using two different electrophoretic methods suggest that the observed excess of heterozygotes must be due to similar natural phenomenon existing in two far away geographical locations and not due to experimental errors or artifacts. In this respect, it is also logical to infer that observation of excess of heterozygotes in all other loci in M. cephalus tested in the present investigation The other reports of excess of heterozygotes are in lake white are real. fish Coregonus clupeaformis (Imhof et al., 1980), lake trout Salvelinus namaycush (Dehring et al., 1981) and Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (Stahl, 1987; Verspoor, 1988). The possible reasons given for the occurrence of excess of heterozygotes

in populations of different species above are, as usual, presumptive rather than experimental proofs. Excess of heterozygotes can occur due to small number of parents during the breeding process or possible statistical type I errors (Stahl, 1987), duplication of locus (Stoneking <u>et al.</u>, 1981) as referred by Dehring <u>et al.</u> (1981), effect of larger year class spawned when there is more interbreeding between populations (Imhof <u>et al.</u>, 1980). Two reasons given above (Stahl, 1987 and Verspoor, 1988) are mainly with reference to hatchery stocks of salmon and hence may be due to the effect of hatchery procedures. The possible reason for the occurrence of excess of heterozygotes in the present investigation of <u>M. cephalus</u> may be due to small number of parents available during breeding process. Because it appears that <u>M. cephalus</u> fishery is dwindling in numbers during the last few decades as informed by the local fishermen engaged in capture of mullets using Chinese dipnets.

As nineteen out of twenty four significant deviations observed in the present investigation were due to excess of heterozygotes it may be suggested that some form of heterozygous advantage exist in <u>M. cephalus</u> causing the observed unequilibrium condition in genotype distribution. The heterozygote advantage in organisms sometimes is described as the phenomenon of heterosis, particularly, produced by two different strains (Strickberger, 1968). A comparable "hybrid vigour" produced even in ordinary cases of heterozygote formation can lead to excess of heterozygotes as observed in the present case.

In the present investigation, excess of homozygotes in three enzyme loci were also observed, particularly, in <u>M. cephalus</u> population from Cochin area whereas it occurred in only one enzyme locus in Madras (ACP II) and Orissa (ADO). It may suggest some unknown special situation favouring excess of homozygotes at three loci in Cochin population (ACP II, ADO; GPD; TBL. 25). Though different possible reasons for excess of homozygotes in different reports are available such as Wahlund effect (Hedgecock, 1977), due to mixing of genetically distinct populations (Smith and Jamieson, 1978), selection pressure of various nature (Smith and Jamieson, 1980) and null allele (Grant <u>et</u> al., 1987), these cannot be logically considered as reasons for the present observation of excess of homozygotes in M. cephalus. Because out of twenty four significant deviation observed in the present investigation only five were caused by excess of homozygotes. As excess of heterozygotes are overwhelming in M. cephalus the occurrence of few cases of excess of homozygotes in the same species could be due to some other unknown factors controlled by ecological or other factors in Cochin population. Smith et al. (1978) also observed excess of heterozygotes in esterase (EST 4) and excess of homozygotes in GPI I in New Zealand snapper Chrysophrys auratus. The reason for observation of excess of heterozygotes as well as homozygotes in different loci in New Zealand snapper as also observed in M. cephalus of the present investigation may be mixing of genetically different stocks. As out of five occasions of excess of homozygotes in M. cephalus three were from Cochin alone, the possibility of mixing of locally differentiated stocks may be possible as suggested in the case of New Zealand snapper. This can be tested by comparing large sample populations from different areas Another possible reason may be that these three enzyme around Cochin. loci which cause excess of homozygotes are weak particularly with reference to any one allele in activity. Thus wrong scoring of the phenotype could have caused counting more homozygotes. It is also possible that some unknown mechanism of phenotype selection exist that favours homozygotes in certain loci while favouring heterozygotes in other loci in the same individual. Such a mechanism may also be under the pressure of local environmental conditions. Apparent correlations between excess of heterozygotes in fishes and different environmental conditions have been reviewed by Ponniah (1989). A comparison of reports reviewed there reveals the complexity of the probable mechanism involved in the observed excess of heterozygosity at loci like esterase, lactate dehydrogenase, transferin, phosphoglucomutase and glycerophosphate dehydrogenase in different fish species. A typical example given in the review is excess of heterozygosity by the abyssal population of the fish Sebastodes alutus at PGM and GDPH loci while lack of excess heterozygosity in shallow water population as reported by Johnson et al. (1970). Now the relevant question to be raised with regard to the observation of excess heterozygosity in M. cephalus is that whether the excess of heterozygotes in its populations

at Cochin, Madras and Orissa is due to similar selection pressure existing at all the loci in all these three regions. Until some confirmative experimental evidences are collected, it is not advisable to suggest a mechanism for the excess heterozygosity in \underline{M} . cephalus.

In biochemical population genetics, gene frequencies are of fundamental importance to get an insight into the genetic nature of the natural populations throughout its range of distribution. The degree of species evolution through space and time can be evaluated by comparing gene frequencies of different Because, differentiation of populations towards different levels populations. of speciations occurs by changes in the frequencies of the genes and genotypes (Dobzhansky, 1967, 1970; Ayala, 1975). The important question now arises is that whether the significant gene frequency differences observed and reported in the present investigation at fourteen out of twenty one loci discussed above can really indicate that M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are experiencing some form of barriers like ecological, geographical or even reproductive isolation itself so as to create the type of gene frequency differences observed in these three populations (TBL. 21). As it is well known that gene frequency can really be different in two or more populations if they have been isolated for long period of time by any one of the above barriers (Altukhov, 1981). Signs of such isolation of populations can be detected by testing and conforming gene frequency differences on repeated periods of intervels as shown in the case of trout populations (Altukhov, 1981). It is also known that gene frequency is a function that may be affected by the population size from which the sample was drawn and also by the sample size itself.

The next question to arise is whether the sample size has affected the results. In a diallelic locus, three genotypic individuals can exist and hence all these three genotypes can turn up at a specific point of random sampling. Considering the statistical impracticality of obtaining all these three genotypes in a sample of three, it is a common practice to obtain a sample as large as possible. Though sample size larger than 10 individuals are satisfactory in biochemical genetic studies, Utter et al. (1987) suggested a sample size of 50 to 100 for obtaining statistically meaningful data. In this respect, the present sample size of about 50 is reasonable and satisfactory. The choice of small sample size in the present experiment was influenced by the constraints of very high cost of the specimens, its availability and time limit of the investigation etc. On the other hand the pattern of similar gene frequencies shown existing in some of the loci like ODH, PRO (E) III, PRO (M) II in all the three populations and between Cochin and Madras etc. as shown in table rules out of the cause of present observation of gene frequency differences in three populations of M. cephalus as due to small sample Inspite of small sample size when one or more particular loci size. are monomorphic in one population and polymorphic in another, genetic differences are strongly indicated (Utter, 1987; Jamieson 1974b). In this respect, the present observation of absence or presence of polymorphism at certain loci (TBL. 21) as already described, strongly support that these three populations are isolated in some respect and are genetically different stocks.

The information on frequencies of heterozygotes, polymorphic loci and average number of alleles in each population is no less important in biochemical genetic characterisation of individual populations than the gene frequencies themselves as discussed above. These estimates can bring out genetic variability of the species as well as probable differences of genetic variability between populations (Ayala and Kiger, 1980; Ryman and Utter, Therefore, it is a standard modern practice to quantify these three 1987). frequencies and to report the degree of genetic variability of the species The high degree of genetic variability in M. cephalus studied investigated. here is clearly evident in the average proportions of heterozygotes observed at 21 loci (TBL, 24) and number of alleles (TBL, 22). For example, overall mean heterozygosity for M. cephalus is 0.36 (TBL. 24) which is comparatively much higher than reported in other species of fishes. The average heterozygosity for 14 species of fishes with 21 loci for species was only 0.08 (Ayala and Kiger, 1980). Thus the present observation of 0.36 heterozygosity in M. cephalus thus becomes a typical pattern of genetic variability as reported in European hake (Mangaly and Jamieson, 1978) where the value was 0.33. However, the number of loci examined by Mangaly and Jamieson (1978) were

only limited and hence the genetic variability estimate may be on the higher side than it is in the species. Genetic variability at 0.09-0.10 levels was reported in Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua (Grant, 1987) and in guppy Poecilia reticulata (Shami and Beardmore, 1978) respectively. The present estimate of 0.36 average heterozygosity appears to be the highest ever reported in any group of organisms. Its estimate in flatfish Pleuronectes platissa showed 0.17 (Ward and Galleguillose, 1977). It may be meaningless to try to assume the reasons for the apparent unusual higher genetic variability recorded in It becomes higher only when compared to heterozygosity M. cephalus. estimates made for other organisms. On the other hand, the value 0.17 is much close to the heterozygosity estimate 0.15 for drosophila and land snails (Ayala and Kiger, 1980). Expecting values of experimental research of one person to be comparable to that of others cannot be a true scientific approach. When the inter locus average genetic variability in M. cephalus is significantly different from its own overall average in the species, it is no wonder genetic variability cannot be expected to be of statistically similar in all species It may depend on the species, the loci tested and a number of of fishes. other still unknown factors. For example, inter locus heterozygosity in M. cephalus tested in the present case varied from 0.00 to 1.00 at Cochin and Madras populations whereas it was 0.00 to 0.75 in Orissa. Similarly interpopulation heterozygosity in M. cephalus varied from 0.00 to 0.92 at ALD locus between Cochin, Madras and Orissa populations and it was almost similar at PRO (E), PRO (M) and TZO loci. These statistical averages can become meaningless in certain situations when one higher value compromises with another lower value so as to produce the so called overall average for the species as explained above and noticeable as recorded in Table 24. Such statistical artefacts naturally reflected in every reports of genetic variability can produce, on comparison, apparent higher or lower values than expected. This is evident in the Table 18:11 of Ayala and Kiger (1980) where average heterozygosity for each group under invertebrates, vertebrates and plants and their overall averages are given. The groupwise average heterozygosity

value for vertebrate varied from 0.042 to 0.082 showing almost cent precent increase in the value whereas for invertebrates its range was from 0.062 to 0.151 showing an increase of one and half times in the value. Thus average heterozygosity value of 0.17 reported in flatfish by Ward and Gallequillose (1977) also becomes a typical compared to 0.078 for fourteen fish species referred by Ayala and Kiger (1980), the former being more than double of the latter. In this respect, the present report of 0.36 average heterozygosity is more than a double of 0.17 reported by Ward and Galleguillose (1977). The higher heterozygosity value of 0.36 in M. cephalus may also be correlated to much higher average frequency value of polymorphic loci of 0.67 in the species (TBL. 20). This is again much higher than 0.306 for fourteen fish species (Ayala and Kiger, 1980; TBL. 18: 11). A question yet to answer is what would have been the average heterozygosity value if more than 21 loci, say, 50 or so, were examined in M. cephalus. As per Ayala and Kiger (1980) an electrophoretic survey of about 20 loci is usually sufficient and screening of 71 loci has not changed the heterozygosity value earlier obtained by 26 loci in humans. However, as genetic variability and its mechanism may vary from species to species, a survey of larger number of loci in M. cephalus alone can further confirm the atypical heterozygosity in M. cephalus.

This is very well reflected in the various ways and means researchers sought in explaining the levels of heterozygosity in their experimental animal as Smith and Jamieson (1980) particularly referring to the probable reasons for reporting a comparatively high heterozygosity of 0.11 by Somero and Soule (1974) whereas about four times lower value of 0.03 in the same species by Siebenellar (1978). The probable reasons Smith and Jamieson (1980) trying to point out were again products of comparisons of values of different nature such as non-enzymatic and enzymatic protein based heterozygosity estimates or glucose and non-glucose metabolising or even internal and external substrates, single and multiple substrates and lastly the monomeric and multimeric structure of the enzyme itself. The final discussion of Smith and Jamieson (1980) about values on the hypothetical conditions for low and high genetic variability shows that these results are again found contradicting between species. Hence, the best reasonable explanation for the observed apparent atypical 0.36 heterozygosity value in <u>M. cephalus</u> is that either it may be natural for <u>M. cephalus</u> or the mechanism of genetic variability and its variations between loci, populations, regions, species and higher levels of species organisation is too complex at the present level of our understanding.

Table 20 also shows a very high average frequency of polymorphic loci (0.67) in M. cephalus, a value much higher than 0.306 reported for 14 fishes by Ayala and Kiger (1980). Similarly, a survey of levels of genetic variation in 12 marine species including M. cephalus from different thermal regions by Somero and Soule (1974) showed an average frequency value of only 0.28. In the same report the average value reported for M. cephalus collected from Mission Bay and San Dugo (Pacific) was 0.37 which is considerably higher than the average for the 12 species compared. It is also interesting that Coryphaenoides acrolepis belonging to Macruridae family of fishes showed an average frequency of 0.667 polymorphism out of six loci tested (Somero and Soule, 1974). This is very closely comparable with the frequency value 0.67 reported in the present investigation in M. cephalus (TBL, 20). Thus the range of frequency of polymorphic loci detected by electrophoretic techniques can be very high, it being as low as 0.00 - 0.01 to the highest 0.67 in M. cephalus and as reported in C. acrolepis. Therefore, expecting a standard average frequency of polymorphic loci in a particular fish species is not advisable. The reason for high range of genetic variability between species and between regions cannot be justifiably correlated to any comparable phenomenon as it is an individual observation without any preconcept. Because when an average 26 loci in 44 prawn species were surveyed the percentage of polymorphic loci varied from zero in Hippa pacifica, Matuta planipes, Pachygrapsus transversus to 41 in Emerita analoga, Callinectes arcuatus (Nelson and Hedgecock, 1980; TBL. 2). This species dependent genetic variability was again reflected in heterozygosity values compared in the above report, it being 0.4 in Pachygrapsus transversus to 12.8 percent in Callinectes arcuatus (Nelson and Hedgecock, 1980; TBL. 2).

In a codominant allelic polymorphic system, a minimum of two variant alleles are observed at each locus. However, average number of alleles per locus tested can be less than one depending on the number of polymorphic loci present in the total number of loci tested. Thus average number of alleles can also be an indicator of genetic variability of the species and their populations. In the present investigation, the average number of alleles in M. cephalus was 1.77 even when 21 loci were considered. The values between Cochin, Madras and Orissa were closely comparable, these being 1.72, 1.82 and 1.78 respectively (TBL. 22). As the best index of genetic variability is heterozygosity itself (Ayala and Kiger, 1980; Utter, 1987), a detailed discussion on the average number of alleles is not attempted here. Moreover, average number of alleles in M. cephalus is naturally expected to be high as the values of proportions of polymorphic loci and heterozygosity were Average heterozygosity and percentage of polymorphic higher than usual. loci in M. cephalus have already been discussed earlier.

5.5 GENETIC IDENTITY AND DISTANCE

In modern biochemical population genetics, heterogeneity or homogeneity of two or more populations indicated by values of allelic or gene frequencies is further measured and reported in terms of genetic identity (I) and distance (D) as proposed by Nei (1972, 1975). Genetic identity (I) or genetic similarity is an estimated average measure of the proportions of structurally identical gene (alleles) detected at many loci between two populations. The (I) value can vary from 0 to 1, the former indicates lack of genetic identity, that is, no common alleles are shared, while the latter value indicates the two populations are identical, that is, the common alleles occur at identical frequencies in both populations compared. Genetic distance (D), on the other hand, is a measure of identity (I) in terms of "the number of allelic substitutions per locus in the separate evolution of two populations" (Ayala and Kiger, 1980). Thus the values of genetic distance may be described as an indirect index of evolutionary distance moved away by the concerned populations. In this respect, the genetic distance value (D) can range from zero to greater than one. Thus the two ranges can correspond to no allelic substitution ever taken place or it has taken place more than once as evolutionary differentiation goes on between the two populations (Ayala and Kiger, 1980). A comparison of these values (I and D) in different groups of organisms including fishes in Table 22.3 of Ayala and Kiger (1980) suggests that a particular standard range of these values cannot be fixed for measuring the degrees of genetic similarity or heterogeneity of two populations of different species in their course of evolutions. Because genetic distance values required to recognize two samples, as just local populations in different species, can range from 0.013 in Drosophila to 0.020 in fishes, 0.053 in reptiles to 0.058 in mammals. The D values required to differentiate them as sub-species are again can range from 0.163 (Drosophila and Fishes), 0.232 (Mammals) and to 0.306 (Reptiles). Thus, when genetic distance values reach a range of 0.16 to 0.30 between two populations of many species including fishes they are to be viewed as attaining the genetic divergence level of sub-species (Ayala and Kiger, 1980).

The genetic identity and distance values computed for three populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> in the present investigation are much greater than the apparent standard values discussed above for local populations, these being 0.891 (I) and 0.157(D) respectively (TBL. 26). The D values given in table show a range of 0.095 to 0.233 between populations suggesting their divergence into a level of genetic distance lying between races and sub-species. The average distance shown for <u>M. cephalus</u> species was 0.157. Among three populations compared, namely Cochin, Madras and Orissa, greater genetic distance is shown between Madras and Orissa populations which are situated on the same east coast rather than between Cochin and Madras which are situated on the opposite east and west coast.

Though such unusual genetic distance values are very rarely reported at interpopulation levels, closely comparable atypical range of genetic distance values of 0.092 to 0.204, with an average 0.152 were reported in mosquito fish populations (Hernandez-Martich and Smith, 1990). The latest report of most unusual range of genetic distance existing between Atlantic herring populations is 0.005 - 0.010 to 0.888 - 1.086 (Jorstad et al., 1991). The D values 0.888 to 1.086 were for two adjacent populations. The average D value 0.152, between populations of mosquito fish Gambusio holbrooki is very close to average D value 0.157 obtained in M. cephalus populations reported Such high D value is often expected to exist between species level here. differentiation (Thorpe, 1982) as reported by Hernandez-Martich and Smith (1990). Genetic drift is popularly considered as a basic reason for such high level genetic differentiation. Considering other known population characteristics of the mosquito fish, Hernandez-Martich and Smith (1990) suggested locality specific selection strategy for the observed unusually higher values for heterozygosity, allelic frequency and genetic distance. It is also interesting to note that Spatial genetic differentiation occured within a drainage rather than between two drainages except one particular drainage population which showed higher genetic differentiation. They suspected "interaction of biogeographic factors, gene flow, selection and stochastic factors determine the genetic characteristics of local populations of G. holbrooki.

On the other hand values of genetic distance in Chanos chanos populations were found to be too small to consider them as different populations though they originated from 10,000 kilometers range of their distribution. The average genetic distance was only 0.002. Interestingly, two populations separated by 320 km only showed significant genetic divergence due to their isolation by local oceanic conditions created (Winans, 1980). Hence, isolation by some form of physical barrier between two populations rather than long distance also appears to be an important cause more genetic differentiation of fish stocks as demonstrated by the above example. Another concrete example of the effect of barrier in genetic differentiation is the significant range of genetic distance values, viz. 0.13 - 0.36 reported for shore fishes separated by Isthmus of Panama though some of which looked morphologically alike (Gorman et al., 1976; Gorman and Kim, 1977; Vawter et al., 1980) as explained by Rosenblatt and Waples (1986).

In a genetic comparison survey of populations of several shore fish species isolated by oceanic distances, it was reported that their genetic distance values are surprisingly low, the range for different species tested being only 0.01 to 0.06. Two populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> from eastern Pacific and Hawaii regions, inspite of their isolation by long distance, showed a low genetic distance of 0.03 (Rosenblatt and Waples, 1986). The major reason for such low value of (D) inspite of transpacific distance, as the authors themselves suspect, is due to very small sample size, it being only a total of six specimens. Hence, heterozygosity was not estimated as reported. The other reason is the low level polymorphism detected in <u>M. cephalus</u>, it being only 4 out of 36 loci (Rosenblatt and Waples, 1986). Considering the unusually small sample size, its results cannot be compared with that of the present investigation. The only clear comparison is the detection of 4 loci in muscle protein in both investigations.

The average value of genetic distance (D) obtained for M. cephalus populations in the present investigation was 0.157 which is much higher than that reported by Rosenblatt and Waples, (1986) for trans Pacific M. cephalus populations as discussed above. The higher level of polymorphism and heterozygosity detected in M. cephalus of the present investigation suggests that the genetic strategy of Pacific and Indian M. cephalus may be highly different and, hence, the values of genetic distance in these two populations can also be of different order. This reasoning appears to hold good in the light of recent report of lack of genetic differentiation among nine populations of M. cephalus collected from, a distance of about 2000 km from east and west coast of Florida Peninsula. However, the only lacuna that stands against a reasonable comparison with that of the present result is that the enzyme systems tested by them are different from that of the present investigation (Campton and Mahmoudi, 1991). The above report suggests that the taxonomic status of the species known as M. cephalus through out the world may be different and hence a world wide biochemical genetic comparison of the species is essential.

In population characteristics, such as species distribution and migratory behaviour during breeding and spawning periods etc. the euryhaline species, like <u>M. cephalus</u>, <u>Lates calcarifer</u> and <u>Chanos chanos</u> are comparable. It is interesting to know that out of eight populations of <u>L. calcarifer</u> tested from different rivers of Northern Australia, seven were genetically discrete stocks (Shaklee and Salini, 1985; Salini and Shaklee, 1988). Though genetic distance values were not computed in their studies, other basic genetic differences in terms of gene frequencies, polymorphic loci, heterozygosity etc. were sufficient to reveal the heterogeneity of the stocks.

In the light of the above discussion regarding the probable causes of two populations of a species of wide distribution differentiating into genetically discrete stocks, it is natural to search for explanations for observing atypical values of genetic distance among M. cephalus populations tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa. Geographically the above three populations can be considered as two different groups, populations of Cochin being from West Coast (Arabian Sea) and the other two being from East Coast (Bay of Bengal) of India. These two groups are separated by the Southern region of the Indian Peninsula. The only course of their mixing is by way of migration of adults or distribution of eggs from West Coast to East Coast or vice versa. The Peninsular geographical barrier existing between the East and West coast can really prevent such course of mixing, unless adults migrate towards a single spawning ground as is well known in the case of Atlantic eel (Jamieson and Turner, 1980). The available informations on the spawning activity of M. cephalus of the above three regions do not support such an unusual spawning behaviour. These reports confirm quite independent regional spawning beha-The peak spawning season for M. cephalus in Pulicat Lake, Madras viour. was October to December (Rangaswamy, 1972b) September to December in Chilka Lake (Jhingran and Natarajan, 1969) September - December in Kayamkulam and Vembanad Lakes (John, 1955; Luther, 1973; Kurian, 1975). These authors also report that these spawners make seaward migration during the However, further details such as how far they migrate spawning season. and whether they have a common breeding ground etc. are not studied or

known. The observation of specimens with ripe and running ova conditions and collection of eggs and larvae from respective regions immediately after spawning suggests they are not having a common breeding ground. The actual range of breeding migration of <u>M. cephalus</u> populations in these three regions can be known only by well planned tagging and recovery programme. Such studies conducted elsewhere showed that tagged <u>M. cephalus</u> was caught from the same area months after the release while some were caught at a considerable distance. Some breeders return to the river they left, possibly indicating spawning was close by (Thompson, 1966). Again, there are contradicting conclusions made after such tagging and electrophoretic studies in M. cephalus (Campton and Mahmoudi, 1991).

A strong basis for suggesting that M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are genetically different stocks is the occurrence of regionwise fixed loci in the present investigation. These are EST in Madras, PRO (E) I in Cochin and Orissa, PRO (E) II in Cochin, PRO (E) IV in Madras and Orissa and PRO (M) I and IV in Cochin and Orissa. The fixed alleles at PRO (M) IV being different between Cochin and Orissa have become the stronger evidence of their being genetically isolated (TBL. 21). Thus mixing of these populations for possible gene flow may be ruled out. Rosenblatt and Waples (1986) suggested that the presence of two fixed electrophoretic differences is roughly equivalent to a D value of 0.06 indicating lack of gene flow. In their studies one fixed difference was found between populations of M. cephalus from Hawaii and E. Pacific. Thus the significant differences in genetic identity (I) and genetic distance (D) values detected between M. cephalus populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa must be a reflection of some form of their reproductive isolation and certain amount of genetic divergence.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The following important conclusions are drawn from the results of the present investigation on the biochemical genetics of <u>M. cephalus</u>.

- 1. The biochemical genetic variability of <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> populations tested from Cochin, Madras and Orissa is higher than that of many other species of fishes. The above conclusion is mainly based on atypical value of 0.67 polymorphic loci and 0.36 heterozygosity estimated for the species (TBL. 20, 24).
- 2. Significant differences shown in the allele frequencies at majority of 21 loci tested in populations from Cochin, Madras and Orissa suggest that these populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> are genetically different stocks (TBL. 21).
- The range of genetic identity (I) values of 0.859 to 0.921 and distance
 (D) values of 0.947 to 0.2325 suggests that populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are undergoing certain amount of genetic divergence (TBL. 26).
- 4. These detailed biochemical genetic informations gathered for the first time for <u>M</u>. cephalus of India can become a strong basis for further similar investigation for the purpose of fisheries management and modern aquaculture practices of the species.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. A detailed investigation on the biochemical genetics of <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> populations from east and west coast of India using larger number of specimens in each sample is urgent to confirm the genetic stock discretness of the populations tested in the present investigation as well as other local and distant populations not tested so far.
- 2. As populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> of Cochin, Madras and Orissa appeared to be genetically very different, appropriate management regulations are to be formulated for conserving their genetic resources and also to augment their production.
- 3. A world-wide standard biochemical genetic comparison of populations of the species known as <u>M. cephalus</u> is essential to discover and measure the genetic status of different geographical regions.

8. SUMMARY

- 1. The thesis deals with the results of an investigation on the "BIO-CHEMICAL GENETICS OF MUGIL CEPHALUS" from Cochin, Madras and Orissa. It is presented under the following major headings: Introduction, Review of Literature, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussions, Conclusions, Recommendations, Summary and References.
- 2. The introduction gives a brief account of historical and modern back ground on the stock concept in fisheries research and management, followed by the importance and potential role of biochemical genetics in the identification of natural units of fisheries management. It also explains the necessity of investigating the biochemical genetics of M. cephalus.
- 3. In the review of literature published reports relevant to biochemical genetics with special reference to that of general proteins and enzyme systems of fish populations were considered.
- 4. A detailed account of the source of experimental specimens, mode of collection, transportation, sample extraction, gel preparation/gel electrophoresis, buffer systems, staining procedures of proteins/enzymes, standardization of experiments, interpretation of electrophoretic data using basic formulae etc. are given in the materials and methods section.
- 5. Separate data collected on:
 - 1. standardization of experiments,
 - 2. species specific identity of M. cephalus,
 - 3. its ontogenetic variations,
 - comparative zymogram patterns of 2 general proteins and 8 enzyme systems from Cochin, Madras and Orissa populations of <u>M. cephalus</u>,
 - 5. allele frequencies,

- 6. average polymorphic loci,
- 7. average number of alleles,
- 8. average heterozygosity,
- 9. observed and expected genotype frequencies present at 17 polymorphic loci from Cochin, Madras and Orissa populations and
- 10. average genetic identity (I) and genetic distance (D) present at 20 loci from Cochin, Madras and Orissa populations of <u>M</u>. <u>cephalus</u> etc. are explained in the section results using seventy seven figures, thirty one plates and twenty six tables.
- 6. During the course of discussions, the following original important findings were projected as a basis for the present objective conclusion on the biochemical genetics of M. cephalus.
 - 1. For the first time species specific biochemical genetic identity of <u>M. cephalus</u>, <u>L. parsia</u> and <u>V. cunnesius</u> has been clearly established applying zymogram patterns of fifteen enzyme systems and two general protein systems.
 - 2. Precautions were taken to avoid possible size dependent ontogenetic variations while estimating data on genetic variations.
 - 3. This is for the first time the biochemical genetics of populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa were studied, analysed and reported. Analysis of 21 loci in selected tissues of <u>M. cephalus</u> showed 17 polymorphic and 4 non-polymorphic loci (TBL. 21). A detailed analysis revealed that there exists a very high degree of biochemical genetic variability in the species as expressed by average values of 0.67 polymorphic loci, 1.77 alleles per locus and 0.36 heterozygosity (TBL. 20, 22, 24).
 - 4. Allele frequencies for each of 21 loci were estimated from the observed genotype frequencies of sample populations from
Cochin, Madras and Orissa. Allele frequencies at 14 out of 21 loci were significantly different among three populations. These differences were reflected either in the form of frequency of the same allele or different alleles or fixation of either of the alleles in one or other population (TBL. 21). These significant differences at allelic frequencies of several loci suggest these three populations are genetically different.

- 5. Expected genotype distributions according to Hardy-Weinberg Law deviated significantly at nine out of 17 loci. These deviations were caused mainly by the occurrence of excess of heterozygotes. Excess of homozygotes also occurred in three loci at Cochin. Possible reasons for excess of heterozygotes/homozygotes have been discussed.
- 6. The range of genetic identity and distance values computed between populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa were 0.859 to 0.921 (I) and 0.095 to 0.233 (D) respectively. The averages of these values for the species were 0.891 (I) and 0.157 (D) respectively. These values suggest that populations of <u>M. cephalus</u> from Cochin, Madras and Orissa are experiencing some form of reproductive isolation and undergo certain genetic divergence (TBL. 26).
- 7. Four important conclusions were drawn on the basis of the results of the present investigation.
- 8. Three recommendations were also made on the basis of evaluation of the results.

9. REFERENCES

Ĭ

- Allendorf, F.W., N. Ryman, A. Stennek and G. Stahl, 1976. Genetic variation in scandinavian brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) evidence of distinct sympatric populations. Hereditas, 83 (1): 73-82.
- Allendorf, F.W. and S.R. Phelps, 1981. Isozymes and the preservation of genetic variation in salmonid fishes. In: N. Ryman (Ed.). Fish Gene Pools. Ecol. Bull., (Stockholm) 34: 37-52.
- Allendorf, F.W. and N. Ryman, 1987. Genetic management of hatchery stocks.
 In: N. Ryman and F.M. Utter (Eds.). Population Genetics and Fishery Management. Washington Sea Grant Program, University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA, pp. 141-159.
- Allendorf, F.W., N. Ryman and F.M. Utter, 1987. Genetics and fishery management. In: N. Ryman and F.M. Utter (Eds.). Population Genetics and Fishery Management. Washington Sea Grant Program, University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA, pp. 1-19.
- Altukhov, Yu. P., 1981. The stock concept from the viewpoint of population genetics. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 38: 1523-1538.
- Anon, 1960. Proc. Joint. Scient. Meeting of ICNAF, ICES and FAO on "Fishing effort, the effect of fishing on resources and the selectivity of fishing". Lisbon 27 May 3 June 1957. Spec. Publs. Int. Commn NW Atlant. Fish. 1: (2) 45 pp.
- Aspinwall, N., 1973. Inheritance of Alpha-Glycerophosphate dehydrogenase in the pink salmon, <u>Oncorhynchus</u> gorbuscha (Walbaum). Genetics, 73: 639-643.
- Avise, J.C. and M.H. Smith, 1974. Biochemical genetics of sunfish.I. Geographic variation and subspecific intergradation in the bluegill, <u>Lepomis</u> macrochirus. Evolution, 28: 42-56.
- Avise, J.C., D.O. Straney and M.H. Smith, 1977. Biochemical genetics of Sunfish.IV. Relationships of Centrarchid genera. Copeia, 2: 250-258.

- Ayala, F.J., M.L. Tracey, L.G. Barr, J.F. McDonald and S. Perez-Solar, 1974. Genetic variation in natural population of five Drosophila species and the hypothesis of the selective neutrality of protein polymorphism. Genetics, 77: 342-384.
- Ayala, F.J., 1975. Genetic differentiation during the speciation process.
 In: T. Dobzhansky, M.K. Hecht and W.C. Streere (Eds.). Evolutionary Biology. Plenum Press, New York, London, 8: 1-78.
- Ayala, F.J., and J.W. Valentine, 1977. Genetic variation and resources stability in marine invertebrates in NATO conference series. Series IV: B. Battaglia and J.A. Beardmore (Ed.): Marine Sciences, Vol.2. Marine Organisms: Genetics, Ecology and Evolution.
- Ayala, F.J. and J.A. Kiger, Jr., 1980. In: Modern Genetics. The Benjamin/ Cummings Publishing Company, Inc. 2727 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, California - 94025. 844 pp.
- Barrett, I. and A.A. Williams, 1967. Soluble lens proteins of some scombroid fishes. Copeia, 2: 468-471.
- Basasibwaki, P., 1975. Comparative electrophoretic patterns of Lactase dehydrogenase and Malate dehydrogenase in five lake Victoria Cichlid species. The African Journal of Tropical Hydrobiology and Fisheries, Special Issue 3, 4(1): 21-26.
- Basiao, Z.U. and N. Taniguchi, 1984. An investigation of enzyme and other protein polymorphisms in Japanese stocks of the tilapias <u>Oreochromis</u> niloticus and Tilapia zillii. Aquaculture, 38: 335-345.
- Beadle, G.W. and E.L. Tatum, 1941. In: G.W. Beadle and M. Beadle, 1969. The language of life. An introduction to the science of genetics for everyone. Panther Science.
- Berg, W.J. and G.A.E. Gall, 1988. Gene flow and genetic differentiation among California coastal rainbow trout populations. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 45: 122-131.

- Bhattacharya, A. and J.R.B. Alfred, 1982. Electrophoretic variation of soluble protein fractions in tissues of different size groups of <u>Channa stewartii</u> and Danio dangila. Matsya, 8: 23-32.
- Bhosle, N.B., 1977. Intraspecific variation in the soluble nuclear eye lens proteins of the mullet, <u>Mugil cephalus</u> (L.). Mahasagar - Bulletin of the National Institute of Oceanography, 10 (1 & 2): 23-33.
- Bier, M., 1967. Electrophoresis. Theory, Method and Application. Vol.II. Academic Press, New York, London.
- Brewer, G.J., 1970. In: Introduction to Izozyme Techniques. Academic Press, New York and London. 186 pp.
- Busack, C.A., G.H. Thorgaard, M.P. Bannon and G.A.E. Gall, 1980. An electrophoretic, karyotypic and meristic characterization of the Eagle Lake trout, Salmo gairdneri aquilarum. Copeia, 3: 418-424.
- Bye, V.J. and A.G. Ponniah, 1983. In: Application of Genetics in Aquaculture. CMFRI SPL. Publ., No.13, 90 pp.
- Campton, D.E. and F.M. Utter, 1987. Genetic structure of anadromous cutthroat trout (Salmo clarki clarki) populations in the Puget Sound area: evidence for restricted gene flow. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 573-582.
- Campton, D.E. and B. Mahmoudi, 1991. Allozyme variation and population structure of striped mullet (<u>Mugil cephalus</u>) in Florida. Copeia, 2: 485-492.
- Carl, L.M. amd M.C. Healey, 1984. Differences in enzyme frequency and body morphology among three juvenile like history types of chinook salmon (Oncorhyncus tshawytscha) in the Nanaimo River, British Columbia. Can. J. Fish Aquat. Sci., 41: 1070-1077.

- Chakraborty, S.K., 1990. Electrophoretic study on muscle and eye lens proteins of three sciaenids. Indian J. Fish., 37(2): 93-98.
- Christiansen, F.B. and O. Frydenberg, 1974. Geographical patterns of four polymorphisms in <u>Zoarces viviparus</u> as evidence of selection. Genetics, 77: 765-770.

Connell, J.J., 1953. Biochem. J., 54: 119-126.

- Cowie, W.P., 1968. Identification of fish species by the thin slab polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of the muscle myogens. J. Sci. Fd. Agric., 19: 226-229.
- Crozier, W.W. and I.J.J. Moffett, 1990. Inheritance of allozymes in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Aquaculture, 88: 253-262.
- Cruz, T.A., J.P. Thorpe and R.S.V. Pullin, 1982. Enzyme electrophoresis in <u>Tilapia</u> <u>zillii</u>: a pattern for determining biochemical genetic markers for use in tilapia stock identification. Aquaculture, 29: 311-329.
- Currens, K.P., C.B. Schreck and H.W. Li, 1990. Allozyme and morphological divergence of rainbow trout (<u>Oncorhynchus mykiss</u>) above and below waterfalls in the Deschutes River, Oregon. Copeia, 3: 730-746.
- Daly, J.C. and B.J. Richardson, 1980. Allozyme variation between populations of baitfish species <u>Stolephorus heterolobus</u> and <u>St. devisi</u> (Pisces: Engraulidae) and <u>Spratelloides</u> gracilis (Pisces: Dussumieriidae) from Papua New Guinea waters. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 31: 701-711.
- Das, P. and A.G. Jhingran (Eds.), 1989. In: Fish Genetics in India. Proceedings of the Symposium on Conservation and Management of Fish Genetic Resources of India, held on 11-13 April, 1986. Today and Tomorrow's Printers and Publishers, 24B/5 Deshbandhu Gupta Road, Karol Bagh, New Delhi. 266 pp.

- Das, P., P.C. Mahanta and D. Kapoor, 1989. Conservation of marine fish genetic resources present status and action needed. In: K. Alagar-swami, K. Alagaraja, M.S. Muthu, K.J. Mathew and N. Gopinatha Menon (Eds.). National Symposium on Research and Development in Marine Fisheries. CMFRI Bulletin No.44, pp. 159-162.
- Davis, B.J., 1964. Disc electrophoresis II. Methods and application to human serum proteins. Annals. New York. Acad. Sci., 121: 404-429.
- Dehring, T.R., A.F. Brown, C.H. Daugherty and S.R. Phelps, 1981. Survey of the genetic variation among eastern Lake Superior lake trout (Salvelinus namaycush). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 1738-1746.
- De Matthaeis, E., G. Allegrucci, A. Cocoone, D. Cesaroni, M. Cobabli Sbordoni and V. Sbordoni, 1983. Genetic differentiation between <u>Penaeus</u> <u>kerathurus and P. japonicus</u> (Crustaceas, Decapoda). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 12: 191-197.
- Dhulkhed, M.H. and S.N. Rao, 1976. Electrophoretic studies on serum proteins of oil sardine (Sardinella longiceps) and mackerel (Rastrelliger kanagurta). Fish Technol., 13(1): 16-19.
- Dietz, A.A., T. Lubrano and H.M. Rubinstein, 1972. In: Standard Methods in Clinical Chemistry, Academic Press, London. 1: 323.
- Dobzhansky, Th., 1967. Evolution genetics and man. Science Editions. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. New York.
- Dobzhansky, Th., 1970. Genetics of the Evolutionary Process. Columbia University Press, New York and London.
- Eckroat, L.R. and J.E. Wright, 1969. Genetic analysis of soluble lens protein polymorphism in brook trout, Salvelinus fontinalis. Copeia, 3: 466-473.

- Farnsworth, M.W., 1978. In: Genetics. Harper and Row, Publishers, Inc. New York, Hagerstown, San Francisco, London. 626 pp.
- Fevolden, S.E. and T. Haug, 1988. Genetic population structure of Atlantic halibut, Hippoglossus hippoglossus. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 45: 2-7.
- Frydenberg, O. and V. Simonsen, 1973. Genetics of Zoarces populations.V. Amount of protein polymorphism and degree of genic heterozygosity. Hereditas, 75: 221.
- Fuller, B. and L.J. Lester, 1980. Correlations of allozymic variation with habitat parameters using the grass shrimp. <u>Palaemonetes puqio</u>. Evolution, 34: 1099-1104.
- Gharrett, A.J., S.M. Shirley and G.R. Tromble, 1987. Genetic relationships among populations of Alaskan Chinook salmon (<u>Oncorhynchus tshawytscha</u>). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 765-774.
- ***
- Gorman, G.C., Y.J. Kim and R. Rubinoff, 1976. Genetic relationships of three species of Bathygobius from the Atlantic and Pacific sides of Panama. Copeia, 361-364.
- ***
- Gorman, G.C. and Y.J. Kim, 1977. Genotypic evolution in the face of phenotypic conservativeness: Abudefduf (Pomacentridae) from the Atlantic and Pacific sides of Panama. Copeia, 4: 694-697.
- Grant, W.S., G.B. Milner, P. Krasnowski and F.M. Utter, 1980. Use of biochemical genetic variants for identification of sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) stocks in Cook Inlet, Alaska. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 37: 1236-1247.
- Grant, W.S., 1984. Biochemical population genetics of Atlantic herring, <u>Clupea</u> harengus. Copeia, 2: 357-364.
- Grants, W.S. and F.M. Utter, 1984. Biochemical population genetics of Pacific herring (Clupea pallasi). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 41: 856-864.

- Grant, W.S., 1986. Biochemical genetic divergence between Atlantic, <u>Clupea</u> harengus, and Pacific, C. pallasi, herring, Copeia., 3: 714-719.
- Grant, W.S. 1987. Genetic divergence between congeneric Atlantic and Pacific Ocean fishes. In: N. Ryman and F.M. Utter (Eds.). Population Genetics and Fishery Management. Washington Sea Grant Program, Univ. of Washington Press. Seattle and London. pp. 225-246.
- Grant, W.S., C.I. Zhang, T. Kobayashi and G. Stahl, 1987. Lack of genetic stock discretion in Pacific Cod (<u>Gadus macrocephalus</u>). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44: 490-498.
- Guyomard, R., 1981. Electrophoretic variation in four French populations of domesticated rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Can. J. Genet. Cytol., 23: 33-47.
- Guyomard, R., C. Grevisse, F.X. Oury et P. Davaine, 1984. Evolution de la variabilite genetique inter et intra-population de populations de Salmonides issues de memes pools geniques. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 41: 1024-1029.
- Gyllensten, U., N. Ryman and G. Stahl, 1985. Monomorphism of allozymes in perch (Perca fluviatilis L.). Hereditas, 102: 57-61.
- Harris, H., 1966. Enzyme polymorphisms in man. Proc. Royal Soc. B. 164: 298-310.
- Harris, H., D.A. Hopkinson and Y.H. Edwards, 1977. Polymorphism and subunit structure of enzymes: A contribution to the neutralist selectionist controversy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 74: 698.
- Hedgecock, D. and F.J. Ayala, 1974. Evolutionary divergence in the genus Taricha (Salamandridae). Copeia, 1974: 738.
- Hedgecock, D., 1977. Biochemical genetic markers for broodstock identification in aquaculture. Proc. World Maricult. Soc., 8: 523-531.

- Hedgecock, D., K. Nelson, J. Simons and R. Sheleser, 1977. Genetic similarity of American and European species of the lobster <u>Homarus</u>. Biol. Bull. 152: 41-50.
- Hedgecock, D., 1979. Biochemical genetic variation and evidence of specification in <u>Chthamalus barnacles</u> of the tropical eastern Pacific. Mar. Biol. 54: 207-214.
- Hedgecock, D., D.H. Stelmach, K. Nelson, M.E. Linder gelser and S.R. Malecha, 1979. Genetic divergence and biogeography of natural population of <u>Macrobrachium rosenbergii</u>. Proc. Annv. Meet-world. Maric. Soc., 10: 873-879.
- Hedgecock, D., M.L. Tracey and K. Nelson, 1982. Genetics. In: D.E. Bliss (Ed.). The Biology of Crustacea. Embrology, Morphology and Genetics. Academic Press. New York. Vol.2.
- Heincke, F., 1898. Naturgeschichte des Herings, Teil 1, Abh. dt. Seefisch Ver., Band 2, C XXXVI, 128 pp. text, 223 pp., tables.
- Hernandez-Martich, J.D. and M.H. Smith, 1990. Patterns of genetic variation in eastern mosquitofish (<u>Gambusia holbrooki</u> Girard) from the Piedmont and coastal plain of three drainages. Copeia, 3: 619-630.
- Hershberger, W.K., 1992. Genetic variability in rainbow trout populations. Aquaculture, 100 (1-3): 51-71.
- Herzberg, A. and R. Pasteur, 1975. The identification of grey mullet by disc electrophoresis. Aquaculture, 5: 99-106.
- Hines, R. and A. Yashouv, 1970. Preliminary studies on muscle protein polymorphism occurring within the genus Tilapia. Bamidgeh, 22: 69-71.
- Hongskul, V., 1968. Serum protein polymorphism in grey mullet (<u>Mugil cephalus</u> Linn.). Proc. Indo-Pacific Fish Coun., 13(11): 107-112.

- Hopkinson, D.A., Y.H. Edwards and H. Harris, 1976. The distributions of subunit numbers and subunit sizes of enzymes: A study of the products of 100 human gene loci. Ann. Hum. Genet., 39: 383.
- Hori, S.H., S. Yonezawa, Y. Mochizuki, Y. Sado and T. Kamada, 1975. Evolutionary aspects of animal glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase isozymes.
 In: C.L. Markert (Ed.). Isozymes. Genetic and Evolution, Academic Press, San Francisco, 4: 839-852.
- Hunter, R.L. and C.L. Markert, 1957. Histochemical demonstration of enzymes separated by zone electrophoresis in starch gels. Science, N.Y. 125: 1294-1295.
- Ihsseh, P.E., H.E. Booke J.M. Casselman, J.M. McGlade, N.R. Payne and F.M. Utter, 1981. Stock identification: materials and methods. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 38(12): 1838-1855.
- Imhof, M., R. Leary and H.E. Booke, 1980. Population or stock structure of lake whitefish, <u>Coregonus clupeaformis</u>, in northern Lake Michigan as assessed by isozyme electrophoresis. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 37: 783-793.
- Jamieson, A., 1974a. Genetic tags for marine fish stocks. 91-99 pp. In: F.R. Harden Jones (Ed.). Sea Fisheries Research London. Elek Science, 510 pp.
- Jamieson, A., 1974b. Protein types of Atlantic cod stocks on the North American banks (In press).
- Jamieson, A. and R.J. Turner, 1980. Muscle protein differences in two eels <u>Anguilla anguilla</u> (Linnaeus) and <u>Anguilla rostrata</u> (Le Seuer). Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 13: 41-45.
- Jhingran, V.G. and A.V. Natarajan, 1969. A study of the fisheries and fish population of the Chilka lake during the period 1957-65. J. Inland. Fish. Soc. India, 1: 49-126.

- Jhingran, A.G., 1984. In: The Fish Genetic Resources of India. Bureau of Fish Genetic Resources, I.C.A.R., New Delhi. 82 pp.
- Jhingran, V.G., 1991. In: Fish and Fisheries of India. Revised edition. Hindustan Publishing Corporation (India), 6, U.B. Jawahar Nagar, New Delhi. 727 pp.
- John, M.C. 1955. The grey mullets of Kayamkulam Lake, India, and their fishery. Copeia, 3: 225-230.
- Johnson, A.G., F.M. Utter and H.O. Hodgins, 1970. Electrophoretic variants of L-alpha-glycerophosphate dehydrogenase in Pacific ocean perch (Sebastodes alutus). J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 27: 943-945.
- Johnson, A.G., F.M. Utter and H.O. Hodgins, 1974. Electrophoretic comparison of five species of pandalid shrimp from the north-eastern Pacific ocean. Fish. Bull., 72: 799-803.
- Johnson, M.S., 1975. Biochemical systematics of the atherinid genus Menidia. Copeia, 4: 662-691.
- Jorstad, K.E., D.P.E. King and G. Naevdal, 1991. Population structure of Atlantic herring Clupea harengus L. J. Fish. Biol., 39: 43-52.
- Kannupandi, T., 1980. Protein patterns during ontogeny of the Xanthid erab, Rhithropanopeus harrisi. Indian J. Mar. Sci., 9: 127-131.
- Kasinathan, R., B.N. Desai and S.N. Durivedi, 1972. Morphometry and electrophoretic studies of <u>Cynoglossus bilineatus</u> (Lac) from Bombay waters.
 J. Indian Fish. Ass., 2: 110-115.
- Koehn, R.K. and D.I. Rasmussen, 1967. Polymorphic and monomorphic serum esterase heterogeneity in catostomid fish populations. Biochem. Genet., 1: 131-144.
- Koehn, R.K., 1970. Functional and evolutionary dynamics of polymorphic esterases in Catostomid fishes. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc., 99(1): 219-288.

- Koehn, R.K. and G.C. Williams, 1978. Genetic differentiation without isolation in the American eel, <u>Anguilla rostrata</u>. II. Temporal stability of Geographic patterns. Evolution, 32(3): 624-637.
- Koljonen, M.L., 1986. The enzyme gene variation of ten Finnish rainbow trout strains and the relation between growth rate and mean heterozygosity. Aquaculture, 57: 253-260.
- Kornfield, I.L. and R.K. Koehn, 1975. Genetic variation and specification in new world Cichlids. Evolution, 29(3): 427-437.
- Krieg, F. and R. Guyomard, 1985. Population genetics of French brown trout (<u>Salmo trutta</u> L): large geographical differentiation of wild populations and high similarity of domesticated stocks. Genet. Sel. Evol., 17(2): 225-242.
- Kurian, C.V., 1975. Mullet and mullet fisheries of India. Aquaculture, 5: 114-115.
- Kurian, A., 1977. Effect of gel concentration on the resolution of the muscle myogen of the Bombay duck in PAGE electrophoresis. I.J. Fish., 24(1-2): 248-249.
- Latner, A.L. and A.W. Skillen, 1968. Isoenzymes in Biology and Medicine. Academic Press. London and New York.
- Lavery, S. and J.B. Shaklee, 1989. Population Genetics of two tropical sharks, <u>Carcharhinus tilstoni and C. sorrah</u>, in northern Australia. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 40: 541-557.
- Lavery, S. and D. Staples, 1990. Use of allozyme electrophoresis for identifying two species of penaeid prawn postlarvae, 1990. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 41: 259-266.
- Lester, L.J. 1979. Population genetics of penaeid shrimp from the Gulf of Mexico. J. Hered., 70: 175-180.

- Lester, L.J., 1983. Developing a selective breeding program for penaeid shrimp mariculture. Aquaculture, 33: 41-50.
- Lewontin, R.C. and Hubby, J.L. 1966. A molecular approach to the study of genic heterozygosity in natural population of <u>Drosophila pseudoobscura</u>. Gs., 54: 595-609.
- de Ligny, W. 1969. Serological and biochemical studies on fish populations. Oceanogr. and Mar. Biol., 7: 411-513.
- de Ligny, W. (Ed.), 1971. ICES Special Meeting on the Biochemical and Serological Identification of Fish Stocks, Dublin 27-28 September 1969.
 Rapp. P.-V. Reun. Cons. int. Explor. Mer., 161: 179 pp.
- de Ligny, W. 1972. Blood groups and biochemical polymorphisms in fish.
 pp. 55-65. In: C. Kovacs and M. Papp (Eds.). XIIth Europ. Conf.
 Anim. Blood Groups and Biochem. Polymorph., Budapest, 1970. The Hague, Dr. W. Junk, 686 pp.
- Lush, I.E., 1966. The Biochemical Genetic Vertebrates Except Man. North Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam. 119 pp.
- Luther, G., 1967. The grey mullets. In: Cent. Mar. Fish. Res. Inst. 20th Anniv. Souv., pp. 70-74.
- Luther, G., 1973. The grey mullet fishery resources of India: Proc. Symp. Living Resour. Seas around India, Special Publication, CMFRI, 455-460.
- Luther, G., 1975. New characters for consideration in the taxonomic appraisal for grey mullets. Aquaculture, 5(1): 107.
- Macaranas, J. and Y. Fujio, 1990. Strain differences in cultured fish-isozymes and performance traits as indicators. Aquaculture, 85: 69-82.
- MacDonald, C.M., 1988. Genetic variation, breeding structure and taxonomic status of the gummy shark <u>Mustelus antarcticus</u> in Southern Australian waters. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 39: 641-648.

Mackie, I.M., 1968. Species identification of cooked fish by disc ectrophoresis Analyst. 9: 458-460.

- Mackie, I.M. and B.W. Jones, 1969. The use of polyacrylamide disc electrophoresis of muscle myogen in identifying closely related species in the genus <u>Merluccius</u>. Paper for publication No.T/69/15/2 C.M. 1969.
 "The Biochemical and Serological identification of fish stocks". No.2.
- Mahobia, G.P., 1987. Studies on Indian Cichlids. Ph.D. Thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, Cochin, Kerala, India.
- Mangaly, K.G., 1974. Electrophoretic and biochemical studies on European hake, <u>Merluccius</u> <u>merluccius</u> (L.). Ph.D. Thesis, University of East Anglia, U.K.
- Mangaly, G. and A. Jamieson, 1978. Genetic tags applied to the European hake, <u>Merluccius</u> <u>merluccius</u> (L.). Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet., 9: 39-48.
- Manohar, S.V. and N.K. Velankar, 1973. Separation of muscle proteins of various marine fishes of Bombay by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.J. Indian Fish. Association, 1(2): 8-14.
- Markert, C.L. and F. Moller, 1959. Multiple forms of enzymes: tissue ontogenetic and species specific patterns. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., U.S. 45: 753-763.
- Marnell, L.F., R.J. Behnke and F.W. Allendorf, 1987. Genetic identification of cutthroat trout, <u>Salmo clarki</u>, in Glacier National Park, Montana. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 1830-1839.
- Marr, J.C., 1957. The problems of defining and recognising subpopulations of fishes. In: contributions to the study of subpopulations of fishes.
 1-6 (Cord. J.C. Marr), Spec. Scient. Rep. U.S. Fish. Wildl. Serv., (208), 1-6.

- Marr, J.C. and M. Sprague, 1963. The use of blood groups characteristic in studying populations of fish. Spec. Publs int. common NW Atlant. Fish, 4: 308-313.
- Mary, M., 1985. Electrophoretic studies on <u>Mugil cephalus</u> and <u>Liza parsia</u>.
 M.Sc. Dissertation, Cochin University of Science and Technology., Cochin, Kerala, India.
- McAndrew, B.J. and K.C. Majumdar, 1983. Tilapia stock identification using electrophoretic markers. Aquaculture, 30: 249-261.
- Menezes, M.R., 1976a. Electrophoretic studies of eye lens and serum proteins of <u>Sardinella fimbriata</u> (Valenciennes) and <u>Sardinella longiceps</u> Valenciennes. Mahasagar, 8(3&4): 117-121.
- Menezes, M.R., 1976b. Electrophoretic studies of serum and eye lens proteins of two species of flat fishes. Mahasagar, 8(3&4): 151-155.
- Menezes, M.R., 1986. An electrophoretic study of the soluble lens proteins from the Indian mackerel, <u>Rastrelliger kanagurta</u> (CUV). Mahasagar, 19(1): 69-71.
- Menezes, M.R., S. Naik and M. Martins, 1990. Genetic and morphological variations in the Indian mackerel <u>Rastrelliger</u> <u>kanagurta</u> (Cuvier 1817) from the Goa region. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. (Anim. Sci.), 99(6): 457-465.
- Moller, D., 1971. Concepts used in the biochemical and serological identification of fish stocks. In: W. de Ligny (Ed.). Special Meeting on the Biochemical and Serological Identification of Fish Stocks. Rapp. P.-V. Reun. Cons. int. Explor. Mer., 161: pp. 7-9.
- Mulley, J.C. and B.D.H. Latter, 1980. Genetic variation and evolutionary relationships within a group of thirteen species of Penaeid prawn. Evolution, 34(5): 904-916.

- Mulley, J.C. and B.D.H. Latter, 1981. Geographic differentiation of eastern Australian Penaeid prawn population. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 32: 889-895.
- Muzinic, R. and J.C. Marr., 1960. Populations identification. Rep. Sect.1. In FAO, Proc. World Sci. Meet. Biology sardines and Relat species. Vol.1.
- Natarajan, V., T. Kannupandi, A.L. Paulpandian and R. Natarajan, 1975.
 Electrophoretic studies on muscle proteins of some Gobioids of Porto Novo. Bull. Dept. Mar. Sci. Univ. Cochin, 7(3): 583-589.
- Nei, M., 1972. Genetic distance between populations. Am. Nat., 106(999): 283-292.
- Nei, M., 1975. Molecular population genetics and evolution. North Holland Publ. Co., Amsterdam. 288 pp.
- Nelson, K. and D. Hedgecock, 1980. Enzyme polymorphism and adaptive strategy in the decapod crustacea. Am. Nat., 116(2): 238-280.
- Oren, O.H. (Ed.), 1981. In: Aquaculture of Grey Mullets. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, IBP No.26, 507 pp.
- Ornstein, L. and B.J. Davis, 1964. Disc electrophoresis, Distillation production industries, Eastman, Kodak Co., New York.
- Parag, B.K. 1984. Genetic variation in the fish <u>Liza parsia</u> (Hamilton Buchanan).
 M.Sc. Dissertation, Cochin University of Science and Technology, Cochin, Kerala, India.
- Pauling, L., H.A. Itano, S.J. Sniger and I.C., Welis, 1949. Sickle cell anemia, a molecular disease. S. 110: 543-548.
- Peterson, G.L. and A.C. Smith, 1969. Intraspecific variation in the soluble nuclear eye lens proteins of sandbar shark, <u>Carcharhinus milberti</u> (Muller and Henle). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 31: 679-684.

- Peterson, G.L. and Z.H. Shehadeh, 1971. Subpopulations of the Hawaiian striped mullet <u>Mugil cephalus</u>: analysis of variations of nuclear eyelens protein electropherograms and nuclear eye-lens weights. Mar. Biol., 11: 52-60.
- Philip Samuel, P., 1987. Biochemical genetics of selected commercially important penaeid prawns. Ph.D. Thesis, Cochin University of Science and Technology, Cochin, Kerala, India.
- Ponniah, A.G., 1988. A study on biochemical genetics on <u>Crassostrea</u> <u>madrasensis</u> of Cochin. In: S. Mahadevan, K.A. Narasimham, K. Satyanarayana Rao, K.M.S. Ameer Hamsa and P. Muthiah (Eds.). National Seminar on Shellfish Resources and Farming. CMFRI Bulletin No.42, pp. 189-192.
- Ponnaiah, A.G., 1989. Functional relationship between biochemical genetic polymorphism and physiological variation in aquatic animals. In: P. Das and A.G. Jhingran (Eds.). Fish Genetics in India. Proceedings of the Symposium on Conservation and Management of Fish Genetic Resources of India, held on 11-13 April, 1986. Today and Tomorrow's Printers and Publishers, 24 B/5, Deshbandhu Gupta Road, Karolbagh, New Delhi. 266 pp.
- Present, T.M.C., 1987. Genetic differentiation of disjunct Gulf of California and Pacific Outer Coast populations of <u>Hypsoblennius jenkinsi</u>. Copeia, 4: 1010-1024.
- Quinn, T.P., C.C. Wood, L. Margolis, B.E. Riddell and K.D. Hyatt, 1987. Homing in wild sockeye salmon (<u>Oncorhynchus nerka</u>) populations as inferred from differences in parasite prevalence and allozyme allele frequencies. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 1963-1971.
- Rangaswamy, C.P., 1972a. Observations on the growth of <u>Mugil</u> cephalus Linnaeus in the Ennur and Adyar estuaries. Curr. Sci., 41(15): 567-569.

- Rangaswamy, C.P., 1972b. Maturity and spawning <u>Mugil cephalus</u> Linnaeus of Lake Pulicat. In: R. Natarajan (Ed.). Recent Researches in Estuarine Biology. Hindustan Publishing Corporation (I), Delhi (India). pp. 47-60.
- Rangaswamy, C.P., 1974. Estimation of total mortality rates of <u>Mugil cephalus</u> Linnaeus in Pulicat Lake. Indian J. Fish., 21(2): 588-590.
- Rangaswamy, C.P., 1976. Length-weight relationship in the grey mullet, Mugil cephalus Linnaeus. Matsya, 2: 19-22.
- Rangaswamy, C.P., 1978. On the appearance of certain diagnostic characters in fry of Mugil cephalus Linnaeus. Matsya, 4: 11-14.
- Rao, S.N. and M.H. Dhulkhed, 1976. Electrophoretic characteristics of oil sardine (Sardinella longiceps) and mackerel (Rastrelliger kanagurta) eye lens protein. Fish Technol., 13(1): 13-15.
- Rao, A.P.K., 1981. Electrophoretic studies in some South Indian Mugilidae.
 A biochemical approach to toxonomy. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Madras, Madras, Tamil Nadu, India.
- Reddy, P.S.R., V. Natarajan, Al. Paulpandian and R. Natarajan, 1975. Studies on the isoenzymes in the mullets of Porto Novo. Bull. Dept. Mar. Sci. Univ. Cochin, 7(4): 819-825.
- Reddy, P.S.R., 1977. Bio-systematic studies in mullets (Family mugilidae) of Porto Novo (Tamilnadu, S. India). Ph.D. Thesis. Annamalai University.
- Redfield, J.A. and J.P. Salini, 1980. Techniques of starch gel electrophoresis of penaeid prawn enzymes (<u>Penaeus</u> spp. and <u>Metapenaeus</u> spp.) CSIRO Division of Fisheries and Oceanography. Report, 116.

- Redfield, J.A., D. Hedgecock, K. Nelson and J.P. Salini, 1980. Low heterozygosity in tropical marine crustaceans of Australia and the trophic stability hypothesis. Mar. Biol. Lett., 1: 303-313.
- Richardson, B.J., 1982a. Geographical distribution of electrophoretically detected protein variation in Australian commercial fishes. II. Jackass <u>Morwong Cheilodactylus macropterus</u> Bloch and Schneider. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 33: 927-931.
- Richardson, B.J., 1982b. Geographical distribution of electrophoretically detected protein variation in Australian commercial fishes III. Western King prawn <u>Penaeus latisulcatus Kishinouye</u>. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 33: 933-937.
- Rosenblatt, R.H. and R.S. Waples, 1986. A genetic comparison of allopatric populations of shore fish species from the Eastern and Central Pacific Ocean: Dispersal of Vicariance?. Copeia, 2: 275-284.
- Ryman, N., F.M. Utter, (Ed.), 1987. In: Population Genetics and Fishery Management. Washington Sea Grant Program, University of Washington Press, Seattle and London.
- Salini, J. and J.B. Shaklee, 1988. Genetic structure of Barramundi (<u>Lates</u> <u>calcarifer</u>) stocks from Northern Australia. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 39: 317-329.
- Sbordoni, V., E. De Matthaeis, M. Cobolli Sbordoni, G.La Rosa and M. Mattoccia, 1986. Bottleneck effects and the depression of genetic variability in hatchery stocks of <u>Penaeus japonicus</u> (Crustacea, Decapoda) Aquaculture, 57: 239-251.
- Schmidt, J., 1909. The distribution of the pelagic fry and the spawning regions of the Gadoids in the North Atlantic from Iceland to Spain. Based chiefly on Danish investigations. Special part B4. Cons. int. Exp. Mer., 10: 1-229.

- Scholl, A. and S. Holzberg, 1972. Zone electrophoretic studies on Lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes in South American Cichlids (Teleostei, Percomorphil). Experientia, 24(4): 489-491.
- Seeb, J.E., L.W. Seeb, D.W. Oates and F.M. Utter, 1987. Genetic variation and postglacial dispersal of populations of northern pike (<u>Esox lucius</u>) in North America. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 556-561.
- Seeb, L.W. and D.R. Gunderson, 1988. Genetic variation and population structure of Pacific Ocean perch (Sebastes alutus). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 45: 78-88.
- Selander, R.K., S.Y. Yang, R.C. Lewontin and W.E. Johnson, 1970. Genetic variation in the horseshoe crab (Limulus polyphemus), a phylogenetic 'Relic'. Evolution, 24: 402-414.
- Senkivich, N.K. and N.I. Kulikova, 1970. Intraspecific differentiation of serum proteins in the blood of Black Sea mullet. J. Ichthyol., 10: 538-544.
- Shaklee, J.B. and J.P. Salini, 1983. Studies suggest multiple stocks of Australian barramundi. Aust. Fish., 42(2).
- Shaklee, J.B. and J.P. Salini, 1985. Genetic variation and population subdivision in Australian barramundi, <u>Lates calcarifer</u> (Block). Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 36: 203-218.
- Shami, S.A. and J.A. Beardmore, 1978. Genetic studies of enzyme variation in the guppy, Poecilia reticulata (Peters). Genetica, 48(1): 67-73.
- Shaw, C.R., 1965. Electrophoretic variation in enzymes. Science, 149: 936-943.
- Shaw, C.R. and A.L. Koen, 1968. Starch gel zone electrophoresis of enzymes, in chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques. J. Smith (Ed.). Second edition. Interscience, New York. 2: 325-364.

- Shaw, C.R. and R. Prasad, 1970. Starch gel electrophoresis. Enzymes a compilation of recipes. Biochem. Genet., 4: 297-320.
- Siciliano, M.J. and R. Shaw, 1976. Separation and visualization of enzymes of gels. In: I. Smith (Ed.). Chromatographic and Electrophoretic Techniques, 4th Edition, Heinemann Medical Books London. 2: 185-209.
- Sick, K., 1961. Haemoglobin polymorphism in fishes. Nature, London. 192: 894-896.
- Siebenaller, J.F., 1978. Genetic variability in deep sea fishes of the genus <u>Sebastolobus</u> (Scorpaenidae). B. Battaglia and J. Beardmore (Eds.). Marine Organisms, Plenum Publishing Corporation. pp. 95-122.
- Skaala, O. and K.E. Jorstad, 1987. Fine-spotted brown trout (<u>Salmo trutta</u>): its phenotypic description and biochemical genetic variation. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 1775-1779.
- Smith, A.C., 1962. The electrophoretic characteristics of albacore, bluefin tuna and kelp bass eye lens proteins. California Fish and Game, 48: 199-201.
- Smith, A.C., 1965. Intraspecific eye lens protein differences in the yellowfin tuna, Thunnus albacares. California Fish and Game, 51: 163-167.
- Smith, A.C., 1966a. Electrophoretic studies of eye lens proteins from marine fishes. Doctoral dissertation. University of California, Irvine. Dissertation Abstract, 28(12).
- Smith, A.C., 1966b. Electrophoretic studies of soluble protein from lens nuclei of bluefin tuna, <u>Thunnus thynnus</u>, from California and Australia. American Zoology, 6: 577.
- Smith, A.C. and R.A. Goldstein, 1967. Variation in protein composition of the eye lens nucleus in ocean whitefish, <u>Caulolatilus princeps</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 23: 533-539.

- Smith, I., (Ed.), 1960/1968. In: Chromatographic and Electrophoretic Techniques, 2nd edition. Heinmann Medical Books Ltd., London, 2: 524 pp.
- Smith, A.C., 1969. Protein variation in the eye lens nucleus of mackerel scad, Decapterus pinnuatus. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 1161-1168.
- Smith, A.C., 1970. Electrophoretic, solubility and thermostability differences in proteins of eye lens nuclei from two closely related fish species, the yellow fin tuna and the big eye tuna. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 33: 1-14.
- Smith, A.C., 1971. The soluble proteins in eye lens nuclei of Albacore, Blue fin Tuna and Bonito. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 39B: 719-724.
- Smith, P.J. and A. Jamieson, 1978. Enzyme polymorphisms in the Atlantic mackerel, Scomber scombrus L. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 60B: 487-489.
- Smith, P.J., R.I.C.C.. Francis and L.J. Paul, 1978. Genetic variation and population structure in the New Zealand snapper. N.Z. Journal of Mar. Freshwater Res., 12(4): 343-350.
- Smith, P.J., 1979. Esterase gene frequency and temperate relationships in the New Zealand snapper Chrysophrys auratus. Mar. Biol., 53: 305-310.
- Smith, P.J. and A. Jamieson, 1980. Protein variation in the Atlantic mackerel Scomber scombrus. Anim. Blood Grps. biochem. Genet., 11: 207-214.
- Smith, P.J., J.L. Mckoy and P.J. Machin 1980. Genetic variation in the rock lobsters <u>Jasus</u> edwardsii and Jasus novaehollandiae. N.Z. Journal of Mar. Freshwater Res., 14(1): 55-63.
- Smith, P.J. and D.A. Robertson, 1981. Genetic evidence for two species of sprat (Sprattus) in New Zealand waters. Mar. Biol., 62: 227-233.
- Smith, P.J., R.I.C.C. Francis and A. Jamieson, 1981a. An excess of homozygotes at a serum esterase locus in the Atlantic mackerel <u>Scomber</u> scombrus. Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet., 12: 171-180.

- Smith, P.J., G.J. Patchell and P.G. Benson, 1981b. Genetic tags in the New Zealand hoki <u>Macruronus novaezelandiae</u>. Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet., 12: 37-45.
- Smith, P.J., 1990. Protein electrophoretic for identification of Australian fish stocks. Aust. J. Mar. Freshwater Res., 41: 823-833.
- Smithies, O., 1955. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variation in the serum proteins of normal human adults. Biochem. J. 61: 629-641.
- Sing, S.M. and E. Zouros, 1975. Genetic variation associated with growth rate in the American oyster (<u>Crassostrea virginica</u>). Evolution, 32(2): 342-355.
- Sing, S.M. and R.H. Green, 1984. Excess of allozyme homozygosity in marine molluses and its posible biological significance. Malacologia, 25: 569-581.
- Somero, G.N. and M. Soule, 1974. Genetic variation in marine fishes as a test of the niche- variation hypothesis. Nature, 249: 670-672.
- Stahl, G., 1987. Genetic population structure of Atlantic salmon. In: N.Ryman and F.M. Utter (Eds.). Population Genetics and Fisheries Management. University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA, pp. 121-140.
- Stoneking, M., D.J. Wagner and A.C. Hildebrand, 1981. Genetic evidence suggesting subspecific differences between northern and southern populations of brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis). Copeia, 4: 810-819.
- Strickberger, M.W., 1968. Genetics. The Macmillan Company, New York. 867 pp.
- Sulya, L.L., B.E. Box and G. Gunter, 1961. Plasma proteins in the blood of fish from the Gulf of Mexico. Am. J. Physiol., 200: 152-154.

- Sumantadinata, K. and N. Taniguchi, 1990. Comparison of electrophoretic allele frequencies and genetic variability of common carp stocks from Indonesia and Japan. Aquaculture, 88: 263-271.
- Takeo, K., 1970. Studies on the Aldolase isozymes by the polyacrylamide gel disc electrophoresis. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 32: 543-553.
- Taniguchi, N. and Sakata, K. 1977. Interspecific and intraspecific variations of muscle protein in the Panamese crucian carp. 2. Starch gel electrophoresis. Jap. J. Ichthyol., 24(1): 1-11.
- Taniguchi, N., K. Sumantadinata and S. Iyama, 1983. Genetic change in the first and second generations of hatchery stock of black seabream. Aquaculture, 35: 309-320.
- Thomas, M.M., 1981. Preliminary results of electrophoretic studies on marine prawns. Indian J. Fish., 28(1&2): 292-294.
- Thompson, J.M., 1966. The grey mullet. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev., 4: 301-335.
- Thompson, D., 1985. Genetic identification of trout strains. Aquaculture, 46: 341-351.
- Thorpe, J.P., 1982. The molecular clock hypothesis: biochemical evolution, genetic differentiation, and systematics. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 13: 139-168.
- Tracey, M.L., N.F. Bellet and C.D. Gravem, 1975a. Excess allozyme homozygosity and breeding population structure in the mussel <u>Mytilus</u> californianus. Mar. Biol., 32: 303-311.
- Tracey, M.L., K. Nelson, D. Hedgecock, R.A. Shleser and M.L. Pressick, 1975b. Biochemical genetics of lobsters: Genetic variation and the structure of American Lobster (<u>Homarus americanus</u>) Populations. J. Fish. Res. Board Can., 32: 2091-2101.

- Trudeau, T.N., 1978. Electrophoretic protein variation in <u>Macrobrachium chione</u> and its implications in genetic studies. Proc. Annu. Meet. World Marc. Soc., 9: 139-145.
- Tsuyuki, H. and E. Roberts, 1963. Species differences of some members of Salmonidae based on their muscle myogen patterns. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 20(1): 101-104.
- Tsuyuki, H., E. Roberts and W.E. Vanstone, 1965a. Comparative zone electropherograms of muscle myogens and blood Hemoglobins of marine and freshwater vertebrates and their application to biochemical systematics. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 22(1): 203-213.
- Tsuyuki, H., E. Roberts, W.E. Vanstone and J.R. Markert, 1965b. The species specificity and constancy of muscle myogen and hemoglobin electropherograms of Oncorhynchus. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 22(1): 215-217.
- Tsuyuki, H. and E. Roberts, 1966. Interspecies relationships within the genus Oncorhynchus based on biochemical systematics. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 23(1): 101-107.
- Tsuyuki, H., E. Roberts, R.H. Kerr and A.P. Ronald, 1966a. Micro starch gel electrophoresis. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 23(6): 929-933.
- Tsuyuki, H., J.F. Uthe, E. Roberts and L.W. Clarke, 1966b. Comparative electropherograms of <u>Coregonus clupeaformis</u>, <u>Salvelinus namaycush</u>, <u>S. alpinus</u>, <u>S. malma</u> and <u>S. fontinalis</u> from the family Salmonidae. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 23(10): 1599-1606.
- Tsuyuki, H., E. Roberts, R.H. Lowes, W. Hadaway and S.J. Westrheim, 1968. Contribution of protein electrophoresis to rockfish (Scorpaenidae) systematics. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada, 25(11): 2477-2501.
- Utter, F.M., 1969. "Biochemical polymorphism in the Pacific hake (<u>Merluccius</u> <u>productus</u>): a esterase polymorphism in vitreous fluids, b lactate dehydrogenase isozymes, c transferrin variants". Ph.D. thesis, University of California, Davis, 60 pp.

- Utter, F.M., C.J. Stormont and H.O. Hodgins, 1970. Esterase polymorphism in vitreous fluid of Pacific hake <u>Merluccius productus</u>. Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet., 1: 69-82.
- Utter, F.M., 1981. Biological criteria for definition of species and distinct intraspecific populations of anadromous salmonids under the U.S. Endangered Species Act of 1973. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 38(12): 1626-1635.
- Utter, F.M., 1987. Protein electrophoresis and stock identification in fishes.
 In: H.E. Kumpf., R.N. Vaught, C.B., Grimes, A.G. Johnson and E.L. Nakamura (Eds.). Proceedings of the Stock Identification Workshop.
 NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS SEFC 199. Nov. 5-7, 1985.
 Panama City Beach, Florida. pp. 63-104.
- Utter, F.M., P. Aebersold and G. Winans, 1987. Interpreting genetic variation detected by electrophoresis. In: N. Ryman and F.M. Utter (Eds.).
 Population Genetics and Fishery Management. Washington Sea Grant Program, University of Washington Press, Seattle and London, pp. 21-45.
- ***
- Vawter, A.T., R.H. Rosenblatt and G.C. Gorman, 1980. Genetic divergence among fishes of the eastern Pacific and Caribbean : support for the molecular clock. Evolution, 34: 705-711.
- Verma, P.S. and V.K. Agarwal, 1978. In: Genetics, S. Chand and Co. Ltd., Ram Nagar, New Delhi. 580 pp.
- Verspoor, E., 1988. Reduced genetic variability in first generation hatchery populations of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 45: 1686-1690.
- Ward, R.D., 1977. Relationship between enzyme heterozygosity and quaternary structure. Biochem. Genet., 15: 123.

- Ward, R.D. and R.A. Galleguillos, 1977. Protein variation in the plaice the dab and the flounder and their genetic relationships. In: B. Battaglia and J.A. Beardmore (Eds.). Marine Organisms. Genetics, Ecology and Evolution, NATO Conference Series. IV. Marine Science, Plenum, New York, 2: 71-93.
- Ward, R.D., 1978. Subunit size of enzymes and genetic heterozygosity in vertebrates. Biochem. Genet., 16 (7/8): 799-810.
- Wehrhahn, C.F. and R. Powell, 1987. Electrophoretic variation, regional differences, and gene flow in the Coho salmon (<u>Oncorhynchus kisutch</u>) of southern British Columbia. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 44: 822-831.
- Wilkins, N.P., 1972. Biochemical genetics of the Atlantic salmon, <u>Salmo</u> <u>salar</u> L. l, A review of recent studies. II, the significance of the recent studies and their application in population identification. J. Fish. Biol. 4(4): 487-504.
- Williams, G.C., R.K. Koehn and J.B. Mitton, 1973. Genetic differentiation without isolation in the American eel, <u>Anguilla rostrata</u>. Evolution, 27: 192-204.
- Wilson, A.C. and N.O. Kaplan, 1964. Enzyme structure and its relation to taxonomy. pp. 321-346. In: Charles A. Leone (Ed.). Taxonomic Biochemistry and Serology. 728 pp.
- Winans, G.A., 1980. Geographic variation in the milkfish <u>Chanos</u> chanos. I. Biochemical evidence. Evolution, 34(3): 558-574.
- Wishard, L.N., J.E. Seeb and F.M. Utter, 1980. Biochemical genetic characteristic of native trout populations of Owyhee County, Idaho. Final Report, Bureau of land management, Boise district Office, Pacific Fisheries Research, 509, East 12th // 10, Olympia, Washington, 98501.

- Yamauchi, T. and E. Goldberg, 1973. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase from brook, lake and splake trout: An isozymic and immunological study. Biochem. Genet., 10: 121.
- Zouros, E. and D.W. Foltz, 1984. Possible explanations of heterozygote deficiency in bivalve molluses. Malacologia, 25 : 583-591.

*** - Not referred original.